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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising
from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Neo
Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief:

1. the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; and

2. there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading.
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Financial Summary

B =

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results A N AKREBED T2 GEEEUAREER

and of the assets and liabilities of the Group: BEME:
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

—E--f ZZZ%F T NEF 2\ ZT—tF%

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TEL AL TET FEL

Turnover LEm 615,174 464,908 817,141 2,529,051 1,214,772
Cost of sales HEKA (498,290) (393,607) (743,785)  (2,340,730) (981,079)
Gross profit EH 116,884 71,301 73,356 188,321 233,693
(Loss)/profit from operation mEEE (BB /& (14,555) (122,923) (118,971) (118,771) 71,611
Finance costs BERK (46,909) (17,069) 8,317) (7,726) (3,884)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELET (B1R) /R H (61,464) (139,992) (122,288) (126,497 67,727
Income tax (expense)/credit FiEH (B%) /#E (9,892 12,421 6,645 (498) (14,667)
Net (loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) /BFF8 (71,356) (127,571) (115,643) (126,995) 53,060

> = =
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEENBE
As at 31 December
R+=RA=+-8

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

—E--f ZZ-TF CT-NF ZZ-)\& ZT—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER AT AL AT A

Non-current assets ERBEE 4,023,382 3,151,823 2,226,406 1,823,027 1,190,488
Current assets MEEE 415,850 285,417 331,617 495210 1,314,976
Current liabilities MENEE (2,527,313)  (2,050,774)  (1,291,505) (938,956) (792,892)

Net current (iabilities)/assets R (AfE) JEEFE (2,111,463) (1,765,357 (959,888) (443,748) 522,084
Non-current liabilities EREBBE (853,631) (285,444 (79,372) (53,667) (65,830)

Net assets BEFE 1,058,288 1,101,022 1,187,146 1,325,614 1,646,742
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present to the shareholders of the Company the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
operations mainly are the provision of data centre services and
trading of telecommunication products.

PROVISION OF DATA CENTRE SERVICES

The Group provides data centre services to its customers in
mainland China through self-developed data centres and server
cabinets leased from third parties.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group operated three data
centres with an aggregate of 4,680 server cabinets in service.
The Group also operated an aggregate of approximately 4,503
server cabinets that were leased from third parties. In addition,
the Group had a further three new self-developed data centres
with an aggregate of 27,189 server cabinets under construction.

A summary of the Group’s self-developed data centres by data
centre as of 31 December 2021 is set out below.

AAEBURKRTFEFEEEERRQF ([K
AFADEF(TEE) e ([EEgRAR
AIRREZARR MEMB AR (GHE [ RE
mDEE-_FT-_—F+_A=1+—HLFE
GEEEE S

Bl B8 & 73 A

ARE-F-—FE+-A=+—BILFE-
ARE 2 EEEDERRREBET L BE

LEBEEMEM-

RABUR S O R

AEEEBERBETFONBFEF=THEN
AR EERE P BEALEPRERES O
AR5 -

BE_ZT-_—F+-A=+—H Xx&EEZ
B AL A H£4,6808 A F 8RR
BB AEBMINEIESHELP45036 85 =
FHEENARSBEE LN AEBE SIN=
BHEERBEEEFR L & H£527,1894 f
AR 23 M

HE_Z-_—F+A=+—H R8EE+
DEIDMAEBEZBIEROMEHEIIMT -

Number of server cabinets
AREHESE

Available for Under Server cabinets
service construction Total % of total

(Note 1)
frl B 2R 8 4
Name of data centre HERLEE ERH rE @y FEENELt

(FEE1)
Guangzhou Lotus Hil Data Centre BMERLEEHL 1,499 - 1,499 4.7
Guangzhou (Nanxiang) Cloud Data Centre M (R ) EZEH L 2,871 - 2,871 9.0

Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega BEEARAHES L

Data Centre (Note 2) (HfEE2) - 23,100 23,100 72.5
Shanghai Baoshan Data Centre EEELEESL 310 942 1,252 39
Shenzhen Guanlan Flagship Data Centre  FIEBIEEHEH L - 3,147 3,147 9.9
Total st 4,680 27,189 31,869 100.0

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA



Notes

1. This is an estimate and is subject to change upon completion of
the construction.

2. During the year under review, the Group entered into sale and
lease agreements with KDCR Guangdong Co., Ltd* (& & &%
(E®) AR AF) (‘KDCR”) pursuant to which KDCR purchased
the Group’s one (with 3,912 server cabinets installed) (the
“Subject Assets”) of the six data centre structures located in
Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre and KDCR agreed
to lease the Subject Assets to the Group for its operation. As the
ownership of the Subject Assets have been transferred to KDCR,
the 3,912 server cabinets are not included herein.

The Group’s profitability is largely determined by the utilisation
of its self-developed data centres. As of 31 December 2021,
based on the number of server cabinets available for service,
the utilisation rates of Guangzhou Lotus Hill Data Centre,
Guangzhou (Nanxiang) Cloud Data Centre, and Shanghai
Baoshan Data Centre were approximately 76.5% (2020: 60%),
50.1% (2020: 83.6%) and 35.5% (2020: 0%), respectively.

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s
customers had delayed to house their servers and data storage
in the abovementioned data centres in service. Notwithstanding
there was no significant impact on the value of the Group’s self-
developed data centres, the Group’s profitability for the year
under review was negatively affected and the construction work
on the data centres under development has slowed down.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

B E
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

During the year under review, revenue from the provision of data
centre services was approximately HK$604.7 million (2020:
HK$324.7million), representing an increase of approximately
HK$280.0 million or 86.2% as compared to the same period
in last year. The increase was mainly attributable to the
commencement of operation of Bluesea Intelligence Valley
Mega Data Centre and Shanghai Baoshan Data Centre and the
increase in number of server cabinets available for service in
Guangzhou (Nanxiang) Cloud Data Centre which contributed
additional revenue to the Group, and the revenue is analysed as
follows:

REBEFE REZEPLORBEERZED
604.7TEERBIL(ZE_FTF:324.7TA 8B
L) BEFRHE R A280.08 B8 Tk
86.2%  ZEETEHARNE SEABREE
PLRESBLUBERLHAREE BAR
BEMN () Z&E O m a6 B e m ke
HEHEEN BAEE WS IELEINER
WADHTET

2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Self-developed data centres BEEEH L 493,665 153,861
Server cabinets leased from third parties ME=ZHHEEMN RS EIE 111,067 170,824
Total BEt 604,732 324,685

With the increasing number of server cabinets in the Group’s
self-developed data centres, the Group has gradually relocated
servers of certain customers from leased server cabinets to
its self-developed data centres in the same region in order to
increase profitability. As the server cabinets available for service
are not fully utilised and the construction of approximately
24,000 server cabinets is expected to complete in the next
two years, financial performance of the Group is expected to
improve substantially.

TRADING OF TELECOMMUNICATION
PRODUCTS

Due to the cessation of the Group’s trading of mobile device
business in Hong Kong since the first quarter of 2020 and the
change of the Group’s business focus to the provision of data
centre services, revenue from the trading of telecommunication
products for the year under review was approximately HK$0.5
million (2020: HK$115.8 million), representing a decrease of
99.6% year-on-year.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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OTHERS

Others mainly consist of provision of system integration services
and leasing of properties (2020: Others mainly consisted of the
provision of system integration services, the provision of bus
services and leasing of properties); the revenue, results and
assets of which are individually immaterial to the Group.

During the year under review, revenue from others was
approximately HK$9.9 million (2020: HK$24.5 million),
representing a decrease of 59.6% year-on-year which was
mainly due to the decrease in provision of system integration
services income and provision of bus services income.

SALE AND LEASE TRANSACTION

On 26 July 2021, Guangdong Bluesea Data Development
Company Limited* (ERENEHIEZER BR A F) (“Bluesea
Data”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and KDCR entered into sale and lease agreements pursuant to
which () KDCR would purchase from Bluesea Data a premises
located at the Group’s Bluesea Intelligence Valley in Heshan,
Guangdong Province and the facilities and equipment that are
built and installed therein (collectively, the “Subject Assets”) in
an aggregate consideration of RMB700 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$840 million) (inclusive of VAT); and (i) KDCR
agreed to lease the Subject Assets to Bluesea Data for its
operation (the “KDCR Lease”) at the initial monthly payment
of approximately RMB5.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$6.3 million) (inclusive of VAT and subject to adjustment) (the
“Sale and Lease Transaction”).

The Directors are of the view that the Sale and Lease
Transaction provides the Group with an opportunity to realise
a capital gain of considerable size and to provide immediate
cash for the Group’s business development while the Group will
remain as lessee of the Subject Assets and services provider to
maintain sustainable profit.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

The Sale and Lease Transaction was completed on
16 December 2021 and resulted a gain of approximately
HK$158.6 million (representing the consideration received
from KDCR less cost of the Subject Assets and the relevant
transaction cost), of which HK$33.3 million has been recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the remaining
HK$125.3 million has been set off against the right-of-use asset
in accordance with the relevant accounting standard.

DISPOSAL OF THE ENTIRE INTEREST IN A
SUBSIDIARY

On 10 March 2022, (i) Shenzhen Pengyu Data Technology
Co., Lta* ORI EIE BB R A F) (the “Purchaser”);
(i) GDS (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd.* (B# ( -/&8)#&
EAHRAE)(“GDS (Shanghai)”); (i) EDSUZ (HK) Limited
(“EDSUZ"); (iv) Guangzhou Nowtop Technology Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Nowtop”), an indirect non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company; (v) Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Company Limited (‘Bluesea Mobile”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (vi) Mr. Wang Kun (the
legal representative, a director and a substantial shareholder of
Guangzhou Nowtop); and (vii) Shenzhen Zituo Yungi Technology
Company Limited* CFRIITTEHRZERHZBR A A]) (‘Shenzhen
Zituo”), an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company which owns Shenzhen Guanlan Flagship Data Centre,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale and
Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which Guangzhou Nowtop
conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser conditionally
agreed to purchase the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Nowtop at a total consideration of approximately RMB475.5
million (equivalent to approximately HK$589.6 million) (subject
to adjustment) (the “Disposal”). Bluesea Mobile and Mr. Wang
agreed to provide warranties and undertakings in relation to
Shenzhen Zituo under the Sale and Purchase Agreement and
EDSUZ and GDS (Shanghai) agreed to guarantee the payment
obligations of the Purchaser under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement.

The Directors are of the view that the Disposal provides
the Group with an opportunity to realise a capital gain of
considerable size to provide immediate cash for the Group’s
business development, particularly the remaining portion of
Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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As at the date of this report, the Disposal has not been
completed. The Disposal is expected to contribute a gain of
HK$259.6 million (subject to consideration adjustment and audit
upon completion) to the Group.

PROSPECTS

Year 2022 started with some significant events that may impact
the Chinese economy, such as the resurgence of domestic
COVID-19 cases and geopolitical tension that would inflate
energy prices. Growth of the Chinese economy is expected to
slow down in 2022.

Nevertheless, the outlook of the Group remains positive. With
the rapid growth in data traffic, accelerating trend of digitisation
and PRC government policies that support the growth of
digital economy, the demand for high quality data centres will
continuously increase at least over the next five years.

In 2021, we have seen the operations of two new data centres
being commenced, namely Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega
Data Centre in Heshan, Guangdong province and Shanghai
Baoshan Data Centre. In particular, Bluesea Intelligence Valley
Mega Data Centre will provide over 23,000 server cabinets with
excellent infrastructures upon completion of its construction.
The launch of these data centres will increase the capacity of
the Group in terms of number of self-developed server cabinets
by 5 times (compared to the number of the Group’s server
cabinets in 2021) which will provide our customers ample room
for growth.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

BT R3A

2021 2020

—B=-—fF —_TE_FF

Revenue (HK$’'000) e (FH&T) 615,174 464,908

Net loss (HK$’000) EiEFERE (T48T) (71,356) (127,571)
Loss attributable to owners of KAREE ARG

the Company (HK$’'000) BB (F487T) (62,667) (110,344)

Basic loss earnings per share (HK Cents) SREAXRBEZF BI) (0.66) (1.16)

For the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$615.2 million (2020: HK$464.9 million),
representing a increase of approximately HK$150.3 million or
32.3% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2020. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the commencement of
operation of Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data Centre and
Shanghai Baoshan Data Centre and the increase in number of
server cabinets available for service in Guangzhou (Nanxiang)
Cloud Data Centre which counteracted the impact of the
decrease in revenue from the trading of mobile device business
in mainland China.

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$62.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: HK$110.3 million), representing
an decrease of approximately HK$47.6 million or 43.2%
year-on-year. The decrease in loss for the year is mainly due
to the net effect of: (1) increase in revenue from the provision
of data centre services, (2) no impairment loss on intangible
asset in respect of the trading of telecommunication products
business in mainland China for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: HK$33.4 million); (3) the increase in finance costs
of approximately HK$29.8 million compared to the year ended
31 December 2020; and (4) increase in gain arising from the
Sale and Lease Transaction of approximately HK$33.3 million
(2020: HK$Nil).

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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Other Financial Information

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

Hit Bt &

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=+—HLEFE

2021 2020
—EB=—F —B_FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTEx FHET

EBITDA (a) BRI EEHERIFIE @) 100,939 (36,443)
EBITDA margin (o) BRI EZHEAFEE D) 16.4% (7.8%)

Note:

(@) EBITDA is defined as profit or loss for the year excluding net
interest income or expenses, income tax expense or credit,

depreciation and amortization.

(b) EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing EBITDA by revenue.

GEE

@ BBITESHNFEET R B RAR
W% FEBATRES TEREHNE
POFIB A5 R -

(o)  EBHTER R E R IR BRI E R A
BB AW T E -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

FINANCIAL POSITION RS AR

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interest-bearing HR-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—H AEEHE
borrowings of approximately HK$1,841.8 million (2020: = BERITERD1,8418EEA L (T -F
HK$1,601.1 million), which are analysed as follows: F:1,6011BEET) HTWT:

14

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHET
Bank loans IRITEN
Short-term bank borrowing, RHRITER
unsecured and guaranteed EIEA B ER - 3,576
Portion of bank loans, SRITEFZILS -
secured and guaranteed BHEMRRBER
— repayable within one year —HER—FAEE 98,205 79,922
— repayable after one year which contain — AR —FREE
a repayment on demand clause (BERENR
& B IR 915,079 1,035,672
Portion of bank loans, RITERED
unsecured and guaranteed EEALREER
— repayable within one year —BR—FREE 5,388 7,807
— repayable after one year which contain — AR —FREE
a repayment on demand clause (BEE®REX
& & 155K - 5,244
Portion of bank loans, RITEREL D
secured and unguaranteed BEA R EER
- repayable within one year —BAR—FAEE 48,782 =
— repayable after one year which —BAR—FREE
contain a repayment (BEREX
on demand clause &8 & 155K 201,383 182,361
Total bank loans RITE KRB 1,268,837 1,314,582
Other loans HEX
Portion of other loans, HMERE D -
secured and guaranteed BERRBER
— repayable within one year —BR—FRNEE 70,083 27,486
— repayable after one year which contain —BR—FRER
a repayment on demand clause (BEIREN
& & 155K 285,437 119,055
Portion of other loans, HiEREHD -
unsecured and unguaranteed R R EER
— repayable within one year —EAR—FAEE 94,993 38,935
— repayable after one year which — AR —FREE
contain a repayment (BEREX
on demand clause EE G 122,450 101,064
Total other loans Hh & KB 5 572,963 286,540
Total borrowings B4R 1,841,800 1,601,122

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA



The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements and the maturities of the Group’s
borrowings at the end of the financial year (i.e. ignoring the
effect of any repayment on demand clause) are shown below:

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

BRAFBRRER BHAABEERBHEA
SEERREMBFERIBER (A2E
EAREREEGRNOFZE)EHMT

2021 2020
—B-—F —_E_EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&T FAET
Amounts of bank loans that are repayable: B T I AR (& 12 &Y
RITER SR
— within 1 year —1F R 152,375 91,305
— between 1 and 2 years —1E2%F 167,131 134,274
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 623,516 543,733
— beyond 5 years —5F A k£ 325,815 545,270
Total bank borrowings RITIE KRR 1,268,837 1,314,582
Amounts of other loans that are repayable: B T 7| HiR(EE K
HEMERE:
— within 1 year —1F R 165,076 66,421
— between 1 and 2 years — 1524 113,110 60,555
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 209,268 159,564
— beyond 5 years —5F A E 85,509 =
Total other loans HMEREE 572,963 286,540
Total borrowings fER4a%E 1,841,800 1,601,122

The borrowings are denominated in Renminbi and bear interest
at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$415.9 million (2020: HK$285.4 million),
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$20.2 million (2020: HK$31.1 million), accounts receivable,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and other
financial assets of approximately HK$387.4 million (2020:
HK$251.9 million); and current liabilities of approximately
HK$2,527.3 million (2020: HK$2,050.8 million). The Group’s
current ratio had been increased from approximately 0.14 times
as at 31 December 2020 to approximately 0.16 times as at
31 December 2021.

The Group had total assets of approximately HK$4,439.2 million
(2020: HK$3,437.2 million) and total liabilities of approximately
HK$3,380.9 million (2020: HK$2,336.2 million), representing
a gearing ratio (expressed as total liabilities to total assets) of
approximately 76.2% as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 68.0%).

fERAANREFHELIRFBF KT S -

R-EBE-_—EFE+-_A=+—R0 KX&EEBZHK
BEENRMSIEEBL(ZZE_ZF:
285 4B BB L) BIERESKREEEDY
202BEEB T (ZE_EF 311888 L)
JEUGRIE - AT FRIE R & N E (b fE W R IE
MHMERMEEANITIAEEET(ZE-F
F:251.98&E7T)  UERBBER2,527.3
HBAET(ZE T4 :2,050.8H887T) °
REEZ R REH_ZE-_TF+ - A
=+ —HZH04EENE_TE-_—F+=
A=+—HZ#%0.16fF-

REBZEEREBEY B4439288E T (=
T _FTF 343728 B L) LABHEEY
A3,3809B 8B T (ZE 27 :2,336.28
BET) R -_FE-_—F+-_A=+—82
EEBGBELR (HEERBERUNEELEBE)YD
B76.2% (ZZE-_ZTHF:68.0%) °
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management
policy and actively manages its liquidity position with sufficient
standby banking facilities to cope with daily operation and any
demands for capital for future development. As at 31 December
2021, total available banking facilities of the Group of
approximately HK$2,513.1 million, which were mainly granted
by (i) China Construction Bank Corporation (“CCB”); (i) Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC”); (i) China
Merchants Bank Company Limited (“CMB”); and (iv) Xiamen
International Bank (“XMBANK”) are detailed below.

REE-—EHEFTEENESERBBERRER
ERERBESMAR WEABEHNRITHER
BEREE  UWENATFEEREMARRERD
BB K- RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 'K
SEMAARITRERENAS5131EER
T EZR)FPRERBITIRMOBRAF ([
BERETH  (WPEIEETROHABRA
AI([HPEIBRTL) () BERTEROBR
el ([EERT])  Riv) BEFTEERRT (B
PIERIT IR BT o

Banking Facilities

RITAE

Unutilised
Amount as at
Total 31 December

Name of Bank Purpose of Banking Facilities Expiry Date Amount 2021
S

—E-—F

+=A

=t+-8

RITEME RITMENAR EHH HEE APDAEHE

HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEATT

CCB Construction of Bluesea Intelligence August 2028 1,493.9 1,024.3
Valley Mega Data Centre
PEERIRT BRESEABARBERL —ZE-NENA
ICBC Construction of Bluesea Intelligence Between June 2032 and 579.2 219.2
Valley Mega Data Centre December 2032
FETIERT BREEEA/ABREERDL —T=-FXAZE
ZE=F+Z HHE
CMB Construction of Shenzhen Guanlan  June 2026 250.2 =
Flagship Data Centre
BERAT BERRYIBREREES O ZTEZAREARA
XMBANK Construction of Bluesea October 2024 183.7 -
Intelligence Valley Mega
Data Centre
EPIERTT BRFEEABAEES L —TZWE+A
Others General working capital May 2022 6.1 0.7
HAh —MREEESD —ZE-__FHA
2,513.1 1,244.2
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Due to the repayment on demand clause of the banking
facilities, which is a general term of banking facilities granted by
the aforesaid banks, the long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$1,116.5 million drawn from the aforesaid banking facilities
are classified as current liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2021.

COMMITMENTS

Details of commitments of the Group were set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, bank loans of approximately
HK$1,263.4 million (2020: HK$1,115.6 million) were secured
by certain properties, plant and equipment of the Group with
net book value of approximately HK$980.0 million (2020:
HK$1,077.1 million).

As at 31 December 2021, other loans of approximately
HK$355.5 million (2020: HK$146.5 million) were secured by
certain properties, plant and equipment of the Group with
net book value of approximately HK$463.9 million (2020:
HK$128.0 million) and accounts receivable with carrying value of
approximately HK$37.5 million (2020: HK$30.4 million).

Except for the aforesaid, there were no material charges on the
Group’s assets as at 31 December 2021.

Chairman’s Statement
FREHESE

HRBITRENEEREERER(EA LM
BITHRHBRITRHEN —MIEERR) - B LR
TRERDMNRHERTERO1,11658EE
TR -_ZE-—F+-_B=+—B&EHEAUH®%
MREADBAERDEE-

HPE

AEEEBEZFBIENGE B HERRME
36 °

R-_E-_—FE+_A=+—H KEFWE
AMERKAREE-

B E R

R-B-—FE+-A=+—8 BITEFKH
126348 8B T (ZE_FF 1115688
BIL) AR E B E T ARE FE 4 A980.08
EET(ZE-_ZTF1,07718EBT)NY
¥ BB REEEER

R-B-—F+-_A=+—B HMEKLY
355.5HEA L (ZE_ZTF 146.588ET)
TIAAEEE TFHREFELNA463.98EE T
TE-TE280BBAT)NDE -BE
MERBARERELATSBEEBT(-E
ZEF 3048 8B L) WEWARRIEE IR -

frLatESN R_F—_—F+=-_A=+—8"
AEEYEEREERM -
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Reference is made to the “Legal Proceedings” section of
the Chairman’s Statements of the Company dated 27 March
2018, 21 March 2019, 12 May 2020 and 24 March 2021,
respectively, in relation to the legal proceedings brought by
NEO Intelligence Holdings Limited (“NEO Intelligence”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, against Messrs.
CHAN Hung Kwong, CHAN Yu Chiu and CHAN Yue Kuen and
Giant Crown Industries Limited (“Giant Crown”) (collectively, the
"Respondents”).

The substantive hearing of the arbitration (Arbitration No. HKIAC/
PA18006) (the “Arbitration”) was completed on 17 April 2020.
On 23 March 2021, the Arbitral Tribunal issued a partial award
(the “Partial Award”) that NEO Intelligence had established its
case of liability against the Respondents on the equity transfer
memorandum of understanding entered into between NEO
Intelligence and the Respondents on 15 June 2015, especially
the rights to use of the block of building situated at &M & & &
FIEATE T 35 1445% AR under the certificate of land ownership
“ BB i 75 55300582555 (“Block A”).

With respect to the claims filed with The People’s Court of
Panyu District, Guangzhou (the “Panyu Court”) by both & & &f
BB R AR AR (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development
Company*) (‘Bluesea Mobile”) and E/MNEEETEXHFR
‘A Al (Guangzhou Gangju Electronics Industries Limited*) (in
insolvency administration), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Giant
Crown currently under restructuring, in relation to the dispute
under the Arbitration (the “PRC Action”), the Panyu Court
has combined the two cases for trial during the first hearing
and will resume the proceedings upon the completion of the
restructuring of Gangju. While Bluesea Mobile has submitted
all the documents requested by the insolvency administrator of
Gangju, the order of property preservation for Block A granted
by the Panyu Court remains effective. Bluesea Mobile can
therefore continue to use Block A without interference until the
judgement of the PRC Action has been handed down.

Based on the Partial Award and the Group’s PRC legal
adviser’s opinion that Bluesea Mobile enjoys a high chance of
success in the PRC Action, the Directors consider that the legal
proceedings do not have any material impact on the operations
of Guangzhou Lotus Hill Data Centre and the Group.

*for identification purpose only
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE AND
TREASURY POLICIES

Most of the Group’s cash balances and transactions are either
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties
or negative impacts on its operations as a result of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates. The Directors considered that no
hedging of exchange risk is required and accordingly, there
were no financial instruments being used for hedging purposes
during the year ended 31 December 2021. Nevertheless, the
management will continue to monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure and will take prudent measures as and
when appropriate.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 243
staff (2020: 242). The total remuneration, including that of the
Directors, for the year under review is approximately HK$55.1
million (2020: HK$44.3 million). The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performances, experience and the
prevailing industry practice. Employee remuneration, excluding
Directors’ emoluments, is reviewed annually. In addition to the
basic salaries, employees are also entitled to benefits including
bonus and mandatory provident fund. On 19 December 2012,
the Company had adopted a share option scheme under which
full time employees, including Directors, of the Company and
its subsidiaries, might be granted options to subscribe for the
Company’s ordinary shares.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my appreciation to the Company’s shareholders and
customers for their utmost support, and to the management and
staff for their dedication and contribution to the Group during
the year.

LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 April 2022
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Biographies of Directors

EERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan (“Dr. Lie”), aged 58, was appointed as a
non-executive Director on 31 May 2017 and redesignated as an
executive Director on 1 April 2020. Dr. Lie is also the Chairman
of the Board. He obtained a Master's degree of Business
Administration from the University of Western Sydney in 2001.
He also received Honorary Doctorate degree of Management
from Lincoln University in 2016.

Dr. Lie’s personal investments cover real estate, hotel, tourism,
finance, high technology and new energy industries, with
operations in both China and Hong Kong. Dr. Lie is a member of
the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, an executive
committee of EHRAE L %EE A€ (Guangdong Federation
of Industry & Commerce*), the honorary president of Hong
Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors, an executive
vice president of Jt RERM®F M E (Guangdong Corporation
Chamber of Commerce in Beijing*) and an executive vice
president of Asian College of Knowledge Management.

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 60, was
appointed as an executive Director on 21 June 2013 and
the chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer on
20 March 2014. He was re-designated as the deputy chairman
of the Board on 31 May 2017. He is also a member of the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Cheung graduated from the Department of
Thermal Engineering of Tsinghua University and the Sun Yat-sen
Business School with a bachelor’s degree in engineering and a
master’s degree in business administration, respectively.

Mr. Cheung was engaged in trade between Mainland and Hong
Kong in his early years. Mr. Cheung served as the managing
director of CL China Group Limited and the general manager of
Coastland Development (Int'l) Co., Limited, both are engaged
in investment in securities and real estate. Prior to that, he had
served as deputy manager in Strategic Development Department
of Guangdong Investment Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 270), from January 1998 to April
20083. He was also a director of Guangdong Tannery Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1058), from
February 2001 to September 2002.

*

for identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. TAO Wei (“Mr. Tao”), aged 43, was appointed as an
executive Director on 22 June 2017. He graduated from the
Department of Automation Engineering of Nanchang University
with a bachelor’s degree in industrial automation in 1999.
He was certified as a registered system engineer by National
Automation System Engineer Accreditation Office of Chinese
Automation Association in 2007. He was recognised as a senior
project manager by the Office of Computer Information System
Integration Qualification Certification of Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology in 2008.

Mr. Tao is a supervisor of RIITTMAEIZE KR GR A 7
(Shenzhen Hechuang Huateng Technology Company Limited®).
He served as a deputy general manager of REIEEER A
B8] (Inspur Group Guangdong Company*) from April 2015 to
September 2016, where he was in charge of business of cloud
computing, big data and software and system integration.

Mr. WU Di (“Mr. Wu”), aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director on 10 July 2020. He graduated from the Guizhou
University with a bachelor’s degree in computer software in
1998. Mr. Wu has been an executive director of & MK TF)T
HR 32 30 (b B 2 5 BR /A 7] (Guizhou Tianxia Xijiang Tourism Culture
Development Company Limited*) since May 2009. He worked
in Guiyang branch of China Telecom Corporation Limited
from August 1998 to March 2008 where he was in charge of
marketing.

*

for identification purpose only
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Biographies of Directors

EERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zihua (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 47, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 20 September
2016. He is also the chairman of each of the audit committee,
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. He holds a graduate diploma of chartered accounting
from the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and
New Zealand, a degree of Bachelor of Economics in accounting
from Guangdong University of Technology and a Master of
Taxation from the University of New South Wales, Australia. He
is a fellow member of the CPA Australia and a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is also a
Justice of the Peace for New South Wales in Australia.

Mr. Zhang is currently a partner of Accentor Associates
Pty Limited (“Accentor”). Before joining Accentor, he was
a partner of Addsum Accountants Pty Ltd until 13 March
2020 and he has worked in public practice at KPMG and
PricewaterhouseCoopers in Australia, China and Europe for
over 17 years. He participated in a wide range of auditing, initial
public offering and due diligence projects to a wide portfolio
of private and multinational companies operating in Australia,
Europe, mainland China, and Hong Kong.

Ms. Xl Lina, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 16 May 2014. She is also a member
of each of the audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. She graduated with
a bachelor’s degree in economics and international trade from
Zhejiang University of Finance and Economics and holds a
master of science in banking and international finance from
the City University, London. She has extensive experience in
economics and futures market.

*

for identification purpose only

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

BYIFATTES

iR ¥ E*(ZHANG Zihua) 5t &£ ([FREE]) -
47 R ZE—RNFNLAZ+AEZEAS
VHRTEE - BNAARAEZEZES 1R
HLEERFNEESRBCER -KIEA
BANERFAFFTSAMAG 2FTE
HAXNR BERIEAEGHBEEEIRES
BLEURBAMNTEER T AEERATBE
ETEL -HARNEHMAGELEREE
khBazfMesrmpece 8 RAMIER
FEMETEMAE e B RARSTE
FRIAE & 8 o 1 I8 AR N T B R AT N
ZKFHto

RAELBRREESHENELHA (MEE]) K
BEA-RMAEERN RAREBEGME
BRZAE¥AN BEE-T-_TF=A+=H
L HERRAMNE PEEBMNOEFHE
FHEVERA R T EACGERF M EH AR
FENTF-RE2EZEPORAN T BN
TEALREERE ZLARBEBRRARZE
% BRARBERERAET(E-

EEWLZL 395 R_T—WFRA T
AEZEARBUFNTEE - HIFALERA
EZZET REZESRFINZEESEE
2B -HEEMNMITIMEKNEB W ESBRRE
KREREHEBELTEN REGRIUA T AE
RITHEERSHMELSE2M - FREERRE
MEHEREEELS -

Y OEHREE



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 May 2015. He is also
a member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds
a doctoral degree in business management He is the senior
advisor of BREmMEI AR (Institute of Guangdong
South China Science and Technmogy Capital*) and was
appointed as the extramural tutor of the master programme
of professional accounting of the South China University of
Technology in November 2015. He was also appointed as
a member of the Advisory Board of the Faculty of Business
of City University of Macau in January 2017. Mr. Huang
obtained the Independent Director Qualification awarded by
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in January 2015 and obtained
the Board Secretary Qualification awarded by the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in April 2015. Mr. Huang was certified with
(1) the Securities Certificate Level Il in 2005, (2) the Securities
Institutions Senior Management Personnel Qualification in
2003, (3) the Securities Investment Fund Qualification and
Securities and Futures Qualification in 2002, (4) the Securities
Investment Analysis Qualification in 2001, (5) the Securities
Trading Brokerage Qualification and Securities Issuance and
Underwriting Qualification in 2000, and (6) the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange Initial National Debt and Futures Qualification in
1994. He obtained the Intermediate Economist Title awarded by
National Ministry of Personnel in 1994. Mr. Huang is currently the
chairman of the board and the managing director of Guangdong
Shunna Electric Co., Ltd (formerly named Guangdong Macro
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000533)), in which he was also the vice chairman
from August 2013 to July 2016 and the managing director from
November 2017 to April 2021.

*

for identification purpose only
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to
244,

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) by way of cash or shares. Any distribution of
dividends shall be in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the following factors:

the Group'’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the other members of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on
equity and financial covenants to which the Group is
subject;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (Continued)

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

° liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general business conditions and strategies; and
° other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s
discretion and there is no assurance that a dividend will be
proposed or declared in any specific periods. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis or as required.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no charitable
donations were made by the Group (2020: HK$114,480).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

OVERVIEW

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 6 to 19 of
this annual report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with
relevant laws and regulations and relationships with employees
are also discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 57 to 87.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a summary of some of the principal risks and
uncertainties that are considered to be of most significance to
the Group at this time. They may adversely impact the Group’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects if they are not managed effectively. The following risks
and uncertainties are not comprehensive. There may be other
risks and uncertainties that are not known to the Group or may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

1. Our substantial debt could adversely affect our cash flows
and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital.

2. If we are not able to generate sufficient operating cash
flows or obtain external financing, our ability to fund
incremental expansion plans may be limited.

3. Any failure of our physical infrastructure or negative impact
on our ability to meet our obligations to our customers or
damage to customer infrastructure within our data centres
could lead to significant costs and service disruptions
that could reduce our revenue and harm our business
reputation and financial condition.

4. We depend on third parties to provide internet connectivity
to our data centres; if connectivity is interrupted or
terminated, our results of operations and cash flow could
be materially and adversely affected.

5. Our business could be harmed by prolonged power
outages, shortages or capacity constraints.

6. We are continuing to invest in our expansion efforts but
may not have sufficient customer demand in the future to
realize expected returns on these investments.

7.  Change in government regulations may adversely affect
our business.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant
assets of the Group. The Group aims to continue establishing
a caring environment to employees and emphasis the personal
development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with our customers
and suppliers. The Group aims to continue providing quality
services and consumption experiences to our customers and
establishing cooperation strategy with our suppliers.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company did not have
distributable reserves available for distribution to shareholders of
the Company (31 December 2020: Nil). Under the Companies
Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of
the Company is distributable to the Shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in form of
fully paid bonus shares.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 31 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased.
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as followed:

PURCHASES
- the largest supplier 14% (2020: 29%)

- five largest suppliers combined 55% (2020: 62%)

SALES

- the largest customer 24% (2020: 25%)
- five largest customers combined 55% (2020: 59%)

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong)
when the Report of the Board of the Directors prepared by the
Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of
the Directors in the securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) which were notified
to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions by directors, to
be notified to the Company and the Exchange, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Report of the Directors

EEEHE

N \4‘— Nl \\y\/A é
; &/KE (%)

s
EBiS

B
Jli
N
—
5

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SECURITIES OF RAEARRZZHR
THE COMPANY
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity shares held shareholding
FRER BARKR
EEnE 56 RO EE BatE
Dr. LIE Haiquan Beneficial owner 2,260,288,000 23.74%
5 gREE L En#EEA
Interest in controlled corporations
(Note) 2,091,928,357 21.97%
RESlaE 2R (M)
Note: B 5

2,055,887,357 shares and 36,036,000 shares are held by Winner
Mind Investments Limited (‘Winner Mind”) and Golden Ocean Assets
Management Limited respectively; both companies are wholly-owned
by Dr. LIE Haiquan. Thus, he was deemed to be interested in these
2,091,9283,357 shares pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors did not have any other
interests or short positions in the securities of the Company as
at 31 December 2021.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 19 December 2012, the Company adopted a new share
option scheme (the “New Scheme”) as the share option
scheme adopted on 22 July 2002 (the “Old Scheme”) expired
on 21 July 2012. The purpose of the share option schemes is
to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the share option schemes include Directors of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, independent non-executive
Directors and employees of the Group, and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. Upon the expiration of the Old
Scheme, share options granted under the Old Scheme remained
outstanding until they lapse in accordance with the terms of
the Old Scheme. All the share options granted under the Old
Scheme lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The maximum number of shares available for issue under the
New Scheme was refreshed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 29 May 2018, pursuant to which the
Directors were authorised to grant options carrying rights to
subscribe for up to a maximum number of 952,218,434 Shares,
which represented 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of that meeting. Subsequent to that
meeting and during the year ended 31 December 2021, no
share options were granted under the New Scheme. All the
share options granted under the New Scheme lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as those disclosed in the sections headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this Directors’ Report and also note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements, no other equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ Interests
and Short Positions in Securities” and “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other corporate granted to any Directors, their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. LIE Haiquan

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai
Mr. TAO Wei

Mr. Wu Di

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zihua
Ms. Xl Lina
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong

Pursuant to Article 87(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that the chairman of the Board
and/or the managing director of the Company shall not, whilst
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or
be taken into account in determining the number of Directors
to retire in each year. Accordingly, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai and
Mr. ZHANG Zihua shall retire from office and be eligible for
re-election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company are set out
on pages 20 to 23 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly
subsisted at the year-end or at any time during the year.

Neo Telemedia Limited F B EEEBERA A

EEEE
ARREEZRBEFBHN A FHREFE20E23
Eo

BEERBED
MEGNRRBFEFAS LEE2EFHARN

AIRFI AR —FARKIEMBANEE OF
ERERIN 2REEH -

EENRG RHSAH IR

BB MR M A B E S ARAES
BN AN R B Sk KA B A R TR LR
RIRAFREEIMKHEHFE RN EEER
MEBEAZRS THERAHTEERNKE
EREBEAER -



INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
THE SFO

So far is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2021, other
than the interests of Directors as disclosed above, shareholders
who had interests or short positions in the securities of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who were deemed to be directly and indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company, or which
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:
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Winner Mind (Note 1) Beneficial owner 2,055,887,357 21.59%
Winner Mind ( H§5£1) EnEBA
Mr. YAN Wai Ping Beneficial owner 504,832,000 5.30%
WL EnEAA
Interest of spouse (Note 2) 106,702,000 1.12%
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Note: Bt 5

(1) Winner Mind is wholly-owned by Dr. LIE Haiquan, an executive
Director.

2) Mr. Yan is interested in 106,702,000 shares held by his spouse,
Ms. WONG Pui Yan.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has an interest in a
business which competes or may compete with the business of
the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company had entered into a consultancy service agreement
with Honford Limited (the “Consultancy Service Agreement”)
for the provision of consultancy services to the Company for
which a total fee of HK$858,000 was paid during the year
ended 31 December 2021. As Honford Limited is wholly-owned
by Ms. TO Siu Mui, the spouse of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, an
executive Director. As such, Honford Limited is connected
person of the Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

Since the above transaction is conducted on normal commercial
terms and the applicable percentage ratios thereof are less than
0.1%, the Consultancy Service Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions, except compensation of
key management personnel, disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected
transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Corporate governance report of the Company is set out on
pages 38 to 56 of the annual report.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

E\

EENBFRF 2 Em

er
%

BMEEEHAIMAREZEZETHEACE
& 5.GEM LT AR RI) 70 B2 AN 6% [ S 75 48
FHAEBNBRF RGP R R

FE R 5

ARFEFREFRARFE AR R REMH
AR 7% 7] LR A AR 7% W5 A (1S FA IR IS
B WERBE_T-_—F+A=1+—
B 1 2 1 % & 858,000 7T - R I &
CERAFANTEFTREREEZRBM
PRt 2EHRB AL RIEGEM EH R
A Y BEERDB/AARMEAL

AR ERR S HIRIE S EGTETERES
AEDHRER0A% WA ARG B LA
EHTHGET 2 R HER BB T GEM £ 5 A
FOEETHRB A5 FEEZLB LR
BHOERRTE ©

B%IEMEE/\E\%?@W\ IS SN=N bR E )
AE424% R 2 B A TR B HBRGEM LR Al
%ZOEIETZ%@x%



SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”). The term of appointment of
HLB as auditor of the Company shall expire at the conclusion
of the AGM. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM for the
reappointment of HLB as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LIE Haiquan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 April 2022

Report of the Directors
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EEERWE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (version up to 31 December 2021)
(the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasis a
quality board, transparency and accountability to shareholders.
In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the
Code for the year ended 31 December 2021, with the exception
for the following deviations:

Under code provision A.4.1, non-executive Directors should
be appointed for specific term. There is no specific term of
appointment of the non-executive Directors; however, they are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Code.
Accordingly, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to deal with the requirement in respect of the
appointment terms of non-executive Directors as required under
the Code.

Under code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for Directors setting out the key terms
and conditions of their appointment. Except for Dr. LIE Haiquan
and Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors
shall be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Articles. In addition, the Directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors” and
“Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing
their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the
Directors are required to comply with the requirements under
statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and
other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

Under code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board
should attend the annual general meeting. Dr. LIE Haiquan,
the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2021 (the
“AGM”") due to his other engagement. Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tali,
deputy chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company who took the chair of the AGM, together with
other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were of
sufficient calibre for answering questions at the AGM.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board will adopt the new Corporate Governance Code
(version with effect from 1 January 2022), the requirements
under which shall apply to the Company’s corporate governance
report for the year ending 31 December 2022.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company also had made
specific enquiry of all Directors and the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard of dealings
and its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, which shall give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group and of the financial
performance and cash flows of the Group for that year.
Details of the basis of preparation of financial statements are
set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Board is also responsible for formulating the Group’s
long term strategy, determining and approving the Group’s
significant transactions and supervising the management to
ensure thorough implementation of the Group’s policies and
effective performance of their duties. Other decisions are to be
delegated to management. As at 31 December 2021, the Board
comprised seven Directors, including four executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The executive
Directors are Dr. LIE Haiguan, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, Mr. TAO
Wei and Mr. WU Di. The independent non-executive Directors
are Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. Xl Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong.
Biographies of the existing Directors are set out on pages 20 to
23.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, eleven Board
meetings were held. Details of the attendance of the Directors

are as follows:

EED (4

REBE-_Z-_—F+_A=Z+—RHUILFER
BRTHt-REFEGHR-EFLHREFBW
T

Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
EEgE BEEHFEE
Executive Directors BITES
Dr. LIE Haiquan 5 g+ 7/9
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERLA 9/9
Mr. TAO Wei b1 S 4 9/9
Mr. WU Di R g 8/9
Independent Non-executive Directors BYBTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ik FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t £ 8/9
Ms. XI Lina EEPLZ+ 7/9
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong ELERE 9/9

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The
Board held a board meeting for each quarter to discuss and
approve the Group’s results. The then board members attended

the meetings.

*for identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 to the Company.
The Company has also continuously updated Directors on
the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

The individual training record of each Director received for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is summarized below:

EXERERE

EF 27

REBTRIZTAGXEALSK 2BERY
ASNFKEEXRRR BEREEMEMNB R
Kee NEREEAGBEREMRIARE
MIERTHEESIELER -

MBEEEVE2NKHEEEER LRAR
ARHERENBE_TE_—F+_A=+—
BB RFERAEIZEI 28k AR AN
N REFRTEEEGEM LR AR EAE
REEMERNBERZIEN BRIFET
REBRTHRRIFEEERER

BE-F-—#+-A=+-ALEE &
# A A BRI

Attending or
participating

in seminars/
workshops
reading materials
relevant to roles,
functions, and
duties of a listed
company director

HESRZ M

Mg MmEe

MEEELTARA

BEEAG BHER

Name of Directors EENS BEMAR

Executive Directors HITES

Dr. LIE Haiquan P GRS v

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai REFILAE v/

Mr. TAO Wei P&k~ v

Mr. WU Di R v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYBTES

Mr. ZHANG Zihua 9k FE* (ZHANG Zihua) & 4 v

Ms. Xl Lina Bt v

Mr. HUANG Zhixiong EEBELEE v

*
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EEERWE

GENERAL MEETING

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one general meeting,
being the AGM, was held.

BRAE

REE-_TE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE"
AARERIT—ABRERE (AREREFKX

&) o

Directors’
Name of the Directors Attendance
EEHA BEEHEXR
Executive Directors HITESE
Dr. LIE Haiquan P BT 01
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERILA 11
Mr. TAO Wei fRiE kL 0/1
Mr. WU Di RS E 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYBTES
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ik FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t £ 1/1
Ms. Xl Lina Bt 11
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong EEHELEE 1/1

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, uses annual general
meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them
and encourage their participation. The executive Directors
and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee attended the AGM
to answer questions and collect views of shareholders.

Under code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. Dr. LIE Haiguan, the
Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend AGM due to his
other engagement. Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, deputy chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company who took
the chair of the AGM, together with other members of the Board
who attended the AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering
questions at the AGM.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in discharging of its duties, the Board is
supported by three board committees. Each committee has
its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
committee members are empowered to make decisions on
matters within the terms of reference of each committee.

1. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are (a) to review the Group’s annual
reports, interim reports and quarterly reports; (b) to discuss
and review with the auditor of the Company on the scope
and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua, Ms. XI
Lina and Mr. HUANG Zhixiong. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. ZHANG Zihua, who possesses extensive
experience in finance and accounting.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year
to review the Group’s unaudited and audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
unaudited quarterly and interim results for the year ended
31 December 2021, which is of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosure have been made. The Audit Committee also
reviewed the internal control systems of the Company and
considered the engagement of professionals in relation
to the internal control and environmental, social and
governance reporting requirements under the GEM Listing
Rules.

*
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

*

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) 1. ERXZEE (@)
Details of the members’ attendance of the Audit EZZEgLRNKNENEHFBHOT
Committee meetings are as follows:

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
REHA REHER
Mr. ZHANG Zihua iR FEE* (ZHANG Zihua) 7t 4 5/5
Ms. Xl Lina EEPLZ+ 4/5
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong EEELEE 5/5

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules with written terms of reference. Its
primary duties are (a) to make recommendation to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and (c) to determine the remuneration
packages on individual executive Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as chairman), Mr. CHEUNG
Sing Tai and Ms. Xl Lina as members.

for identification purpose only
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

2.

*

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting to review the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management.

Details of the members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings are as follows:

EXERERE

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
MEHKHE B HER
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai REERAEA 1/
Ms. Xl Lina Bt 11
Mr. ZHANG Zihua ok T~ (ZHANG Zihua) 7t & 1/1

The executive Directors are considered to be senior
management of the Company. The emoluments payable
to them are determined by the Remuneration Committee
based on their qualifications, experience and the prevailing
market conditions. Details of the remuneration of the
Directors are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee
on 28 March 2013 with written terms of reference in
accordance with requirements of the Exchange. The
Nomination Committee shall comprise at least three
members with a majority of independent non-executive
Directors, and the Chairman of the Board or an
independent non-executive Director should take up the
role of chairman of the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHANG Zihua (as
chairman) and Ms. X| Lina. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee is currently made available on the
websites of the Exchange and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

3. NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued) 3. REZEE @)

Terms of reference adopted by the Nomination Committee REZEGHRMBEGEFSTRIA
are aligned with the code provisions set out in the Code. TR ZHRTE -
The functions of the Nomination Committee are to review REAZEBGZHEARINEBRESS
and monitor the structure, size and composition of the B -BRERMEK MESERLME
Board and make recommendations on any proposed MENEEUAEEAEBRE -WEs
changes to the Board to complement of the Group’s BRAERTESENE MBIk
strategy; to identify qualified individuals to become WTESZ2BYM RRETHEFZ
members of the Board; to assess the independence FEERES (FRREFRITHER)
of independent non-executive Directors; and to make METTENESSREER
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive.
The Board adopted on 30 August 2013 a board diversity EFeRN T —=—F/\A=-+HERE
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) and delegated certain LR (EEESTBE])
duties under the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The I IBZ RETHETREZRTRES
Nomination Committee and the Board had also reviewed ZEg - REZEGREFENIN_Z
on 24 March 2021 the structure of the Board and is of 7—¢ ATt HERTEES R
the opinion the Board consisted of members with different B UYRBESTHRTEMR  FiL - X
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ERBEE S &R FELER B
ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge, Mz EHEK EFAEZTEZ L
which met the requirements under the terms of the Board NG ZHRTE »
Diversity Policy.
During the year under review, the Nomination Committee OEFEN RBEZEFERIT K
held one meeting to (1) review the Board composition, (2) QE% BT EZTSZHK QB8
review the independence of the independent non-executive NIMITEE 2B M QEREMTE
Directors, (3) consider the re-election of retiring Directors. B EEEE-
Details of the members’ attendance of the Nomination REZESCENKENBEFBENT:
Committee meeting are as follows:

Members’
Name of the Members Attendance
REHE REHFEE
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai REREAE 1/1
Ms. Xl Lina EBRML 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Zihua 3R 7 EE* (ZHANG Zihua) 5t £ 1/

*for identification purpose only Y EHEE
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$71,356,000
(2020: net loss of approximately HK$127,571,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$2,111,463,000 (2020: HK$1,765,357,000).
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to maintain
itself as a going concern in the coming year by taking into
consideration that:

(i) the cash flow projections can be achieved that the
Group would have sufficient working capital to finance its
operation and to meet its financial obligations when they
fall due within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period;

(i)  the net assets of the Group of approximately
HK$1,058,288,000 (2020: HK$1,101,022,000) as at
31 December 2021, the Group should be able to secure
additional loan facilities, if necessary;
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,116,462,000 (2020: HK$1,223,277,000) as at
31 December 2021 that are repayable more than one
year after the end of the reporting period pursuant to the
repayment schedule included in the loan agreements, with
a repayment on demand clause, have been classified as
current liability as at 31 December 2021 in accordance
with Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
(“HK-Int 5”). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and the security provided to the banks, the
Directors believe that the banks will not exercise its
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that the bank loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements;

other loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$407,887,000 (2020: HK$220,119,000) as at 31
December 2021 that are repayable more than one year
after the end of the reporting period pursuant to the
repayment schedule included in the loan agreements, with
a repayment on demand clause, have been classified as
current liability as at 31 December 2021 in accordance
with HK-Int 5. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and the security provided to the lenders, the
Directors believe that the lenders will not exercise its
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that the other loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements;

as at 31 December 2021, there were unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$1,244,246,000 (2020:
HK$674,501,000) which are expiring between 2026 and
2032;
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Dr. Lie, the substantial shareholder of the Company, has
committed to provide continuous financial support to the
Group to enable the Group to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due in the next twelve months
from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021; and

On 10 March 2022, the Group entered into sale and
purchase agreement with independent third parties
to sell its entire equity interest in Shenzhen Zituo at a
total consideration of approximately RMB475,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$589,600,000) (the
“Disposal”). The Directors are of the view that the
Disposal provides the Group with an opportunity to realise
a capital gain of considerable size to provide immediate
cash for the Group’s business development. The Disposal
is expected to be completed on or before 31 July 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made
all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The corporate governance functions were performed by the
Board.

The corporate governance functions are to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance to comply with the Code and other legal or
regulatory requirements, to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director, to review and monitor the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors, and to review the Company’s disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
held one meeting for reviewing the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the Company’s
compliance with the Code for the year ended 31 December
2020 and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The responsibility statement of external auditor of the
Company, HLB, about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 88 to 96. During the year, auditor’s
remuneration for audit services was HK$830,000 and non-audit
services 2021 was HK$168,000. Save as disclosed above,
there was no other significant non-audit services assignment
undertaken by the external auditor during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. YUEN Poi Lam William (“Mr. Yuen”), the representative of
Proficient Skill Limited, was appointed as the named Company
Secretary of the Company. His primary corporate contact person
at the Company is Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, the chief executive
officer of the Company.

In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Yuen
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communications between the shareholders and the Board.
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each
year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each
general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company according to the provisions as set out in the
Articles and The Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands. The procedures shareholders can use to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are set out in the document
entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director”, which is currently available on the
Company’s website.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO
THE BOARD

To ensure effective communications between the Board and
the shareholders and the investment community at large, the
Company’s information is communicated to the shareholders
and the investment community mainly through the Company’s
financial reports (quarterly reports, interim reports and annual
reports), and its corporate communications and other corporate
publications on the Company’s website and the Exchange'’s
website. Shareholders and the investment community may
at any time make a request for the Company’s information
to the extent such information is publicly available. Any such
questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting
forward a proposal at a general meeting shall be:

(@ any number of members holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
as at the date of the requisition carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company’s expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution
or circulating any necessary statement, at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:i—

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed
with the necessary procedures.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company’s general meeting is a
valuation forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee together with the
external auditor are present to answer shareholders’ questions.
The annual report together with annual general meeting circular
is distributed to all the shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the annual general meeting.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the key
risk areas, including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary
or appropriate, to the Audit Committee for consideration. The
identified key risk areas and the appropriate risk mitigation
strategies were reviewed and commented by the Board at its
meeting annually.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review
of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with
a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates
any material issues to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group appointed
BT Corporate Governance Limited (‘BTCGL”) to independently
perform internal control review and assess the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control as recommended by BTCGL to
enhance the internal control systems of the Group and mitigate
risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the
findings and recommendations of BTCGL which are being
remediated by the Group as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control system
effective and adequate.

OUR ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
FRAMEWORK

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2016. While the Board has the overall
responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal controls
are maintained, management is responsible for designing and
implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of
risks facing by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments.
Our risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the
Board and management to manage the risks of the Group
effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit
Committee that oversees risk management and internal audit
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate
governance structure with operational management and
controls performed by operations management, coupled with
risk management monitoring carried out by the finance and
compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk
register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group.
The risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee,
and management with a profile of its major risks and records
management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The
risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if
applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all
risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware of
and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they
can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

Our risk management activities are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk
management framework will be evaluated at least annually, and
periodic management meeting is held to update the progress
of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed to ensure
that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate
goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls
and risk management annually and further enhance the Group’s
internal control and risk management systems as appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

OUR RISK CONTROL MECHANISM (Continued)

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group.
The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit
function and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint external independent professionals to
perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet
its needs. Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at
least annually the need for an internal audit function.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently
and consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the
Directors and employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company keeps
Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update
appropriate guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with
regulatory requirements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance (‘ESG”) Report. The content contained herein
focuses on providing an overview of the environmental, social
and governance performance of its major operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Reporting Year”). This also facilitates the Group to conduct
thorough performance review and evaluation to enhance its
overall performance results in the future. The Reporting Year
coincides with our financial year.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In preparing the
Report, the Group has adopted the international standards and
emission factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG
issued by the Stock Exchange for computing the relevant key
performance indicators (‘KPIs”), and there is no change from
previous year in the way the ESG Report has been prepared.
The application of materiality is detailed in the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” of this ESG report.

The report summarizes our ESG performance of our three major
business units, namely, EM T EHEHET B R A F (Guangzhou
Nowtop Technology Company Limited) (‘Guangzhou Nowtop”),
EREEESHEREBER AT (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Co. Ltd.) (“Bluesea Mobile”) and the Company,
for the Reporting Year.

FEEDBACK

For details of our ESG performance, corporate governance as
well as financial performance, please visit our website at http://
www.neo-telemedia.com and refer to our Annual Reports. We
treasure your feedback and comments on our sustainability
performance, please send your feedback and enquiries to us at
info@neo-telemedia.com.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ESG MANAGEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges
that quality management of environmental and societal proves
and activities is of great importance to promoting sustainable
economic growth. The ESG Report summarizes the strategy,
practice, and vision of the Group in respect of the issues related
to ESG, and conveys a clear message of the Group’s devotion
to sustainability. To address the global concern about climate
change that affects not only the environmental systems but also
our daily lives, the Group has considered the climate-related
issues and incorporated them into its risk management system
to enhance its resilience and adaptive capacity to potential
climate change impacts. All potential risks that may have impact
on the Group’s businesses will be covered and evaluated in the
annual risk assessment.

The Group has established a governance structure to enhance
its management of ESG issues. The Board has an overall
responsibility for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks
and opportunities, establishing and adopting the ESG-related
strategies and targets of the Group, reviewing the Group’s
performance annual against the ESG-related targets, and
revising the ESG-related strategies as appropriate if significant
variance from the ESG-related target is identified. The Group
has set up an ESG Working Group which comprises members
from middle to senior management and supports the Board in
implementing ESG-related strategies and targets, conducting
materiality assessments of ESG issues, and promoting the
implementation of measures in relation to ESG issues identified.
By the delegation of authority of the Board, the ESG Working
Group assists in collecting ESG data from different functional
departments of the Group, monitoring the implementation of the
measures in relation to ESG issues identified, and investigating
any deviations from the ESG-related strategies and targets and
liaising with relevant functional departments of the Group to take
prompt rectification actions in relation to such deviations.
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Based on the set goals and targets, the Board will continue to ZEFEGEERIERTENLBIEKRIAE
review the Group’s progress in relation to ESG issues in orderto BEAMRE HE@NEAETENER  UEYT
build a more sustainable business and bring greater benefits for B AJFERRNER T AR EL S@HE KT E
the society as a whole. 2 B R & o

e The Board is responsible for the overall devision-making, oversees
the formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

ESSRERERK BERE  HERELRRRNTE  EERML -

ESG Working Group e The ESFS Working Group is responsible for assisting.the Bgard in
B HeR A managing and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.
e B HBREALIMAEAEHYESTERBIES -
T HEREABE o

e Functional departments are responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.

TR BE AR P B AP B B TR LS R R R A o

Functional Department

IDENTIFICATION OF AND ENGAGEMENT WITH #17 #& & Bl f1 2 B2
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group actively strives to understand and engage our  ZN%= E RS Hh T MR F FIR0 510 & MM
stakeholders to ensure continuous improvement. We strongly — 1F1£ 2 » A REAR 5 48 0 25 © 3 FIBR {2 » A
believe that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the ~ EJ#5 10 & 1€ 76 m Bk B Y T 35 AR 4 43 TR FI 275
success of our business in the challenging market. R T EEEEETEEEMNER -
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The major ESG concerns of its stakeholders and the means
through which the Group engages with such stakeholders are

detailed below:

Stakeholders
BHE

HKEx

BB

Government

BUF

Suppliers

HER

Shareholders/Investors

BRREE

Media & Public
HEL AR

Customers

5P

Probable issues of concern
] gE BE X BV R 2B

Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

B EARAL R TR IR A -

Compliance with laws and regulations,
prevention of tax evasion, and social
welfare.
BFEBER WILAB IR EL SR
o

Payment schedule, stable demand.

o 5RET 8

MEE®H K-

Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, and
investment returns.

EBERHE  EHR
& B3 -

R A Je 3R DA B3

Corporate governance, environmental
protection, and human right.

CEER RERRAE-

Product quality, delivery times,
reasonable prices, service value, labour
protection and work safety.

E%EE RIGEERE A RER RBE
B BIRERIERZZ

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

ﬁ@%migﬁﬁiﬁA&%%@E&$ﬁ
BEARER () E 2 EMTT AR T X FFi

Communication and responses

BmBEREE

Meetings, training, roadshows, workshops,
programs, website updates and
announcements.
EE R
#—’[&/—\d: o

CTHEYS GHE ABUEE

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

EHRFEF BFER ERXWmHERE
&R o

Site visits.

EER -

Organizing and participating in seminars,
interviews, shareholders’ meetings, issuing
of financial reports and/or operation
reports for investors, media and analysts.
@%&/AHJAQE RERKRE R R
BEE HERSWMAABMBERSE R
HEERE -

Issue of newsletters on the Company’s
website.

PRANR R A8 vk A B AR o

Site visits, and after-sales services.

B ERRERRSE -
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Stakeholders Probable issues of concern

BiE ARER X E

Employees Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and
development, work hours, and working
environment.

EE M RAET B WM BT EER T
TERFfA ;R THEIRIR -

Community Community environment, employment
and community development, and social
welfare.

= HEIRE - ERETEEERTSEH -

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group has identified ESG issues that may have potential
impacts on its sustainable development from various sources,
including issues identified and included in the Group’s previous
ESG report and internal policies, and some reflected by industry
trends, the areas of ESG concerns raised by the Group’s
stakeholders as set out above, and the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board’s Materiality Map'. Such ESG issues have
been analysed with reference to an array of factors, including the
Group’s overall strategy, development, and goals and targets.
The Group has conducted a materiality assessment to rate
the identified ESG issues that are pertinent to its business and
stakeholders, and their respective levels of impact. The Group
has adopted relevant measures to cope with these factors, and
therefore, the Group believes that these factors do not have a
material impact on the financial and operational performance of
the Group.

T Sustainability Accounting Standards Board’s Materiality Map,
https://materiality.sasb.org/

RE -HERERHE

Communication and responses

BEREE

Union activities, trainings, interviews for
employees, employee handbooks, internal
memos, employee suggestion boxes.

PR IEE H BESETE®
BREETFM FENFHETERRIE
BERM-

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities, community welfare subsidies and
charitable donations.

Bt RES EERTIEE HREF
AR EERE-

EEMFME

RNEBEHZ ERIRFB AT g H AT B %

RELBEXENRE HEREREE B
FE#HNTAAREEEMNERE HER
ERBMERABHENEE  MBHRENIT
X8 LXEASERNERDORE.
e RkEREIEBUARKESFERNEZE
gNEEZNEL - FRRE e kER

HE2Z -RIARETHN BEAKE
WEEER ER BERER - XEEDE
TEZMRTME UEE A EE R R
MEBRBENRE HEREAFEURASE
ENEEREETIR ANEED RIUVERH

%ﬁmﬂ’é;ﬁi%?*llﬁt AEERBZFA
EHAKRENPBREERRABEATE -

v OKBEFTEAMEZEENEZ R
https.//matenallty.sasb.org/
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RE HERERRSE

The results of the materiality assessment on the identified ESG
issues are set out in the table below:

Environmental Aspect Greenhouse Gas Emission
Energy Consumption
Social Aspect Employment
Employment Turnover
Health and Safety
Development and Training

SECTION A: ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group continuously strives to insist on its current
eco-friendly measures to reduce the carbon and emission
footprints in its daily operations. The Group will continue to
further develop its eco-friendly measures and provide positive
impacts to the environment in the future. For the Reporting Year,
the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance issues
with regard to the relevant environmental laws and regulations.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

ERARE HEREREENER NG
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EMISSIONS

Air emissions, including nitrogen oxides (“NO”"), sulphur
oxides (“SOy”) and particulate matter (“PM”), are the key air
pollutants which are mainly produced by the usage of stationary
combustion source and automobile fuel. As the principal
activities of the Group are the provision of data centre services
and sale of telecommunication products, there was no material
gaseous fuel consumption involved in the business operation.
Hence, air emissions produced by the Group is minimal.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions are the key culprits of global
warming, significantly threatening the climate system and leading
to climate changes. To fulfill its corporate social responsibilities,
the Group strives to reduce any negative impacts of the
greenhouse gas emissions.

Although the Group does not carry out business operation
leading to emissions of greenhouse gases directly, some indirect
emission sources, including consumption of electricity, disposal
of paper waste and air business travel by its employees, could
still be identified during the Group’s operation. During the
Reporting Year, the greenhouse gas emissions amounted to
20,752 tonnes (2020: 22,916 tonnes), with a decrease of 9%
compared to last year. Same as last year, the greenhouse gas
emissions of the Group were mainly due to indirect energy
consumption', which accounted for more than 99% of the
Group’s total carbon emissions. During the Reporting Year,
the total greenhouse gas emission intensity amounted to
approximately 137 tonnes per employee® (2020: 179 tonnes).
Compared to last year, the greenhouse gas emissions intensity
of the Group has decreased by 24% during the Reporting Year
due to the change in carbon emission factor in the PRC.

1 The carbon emission factor in Hong Kong was set at 0.37kg
CO,e/kWh according to the latest data published by CLP
Holdings Limited. The carbon emission factor in the PRC was set
at 0.6101 according to the latest data published by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment, PRC.

2 As at 31 December 2021, there were a total of 152 employees
(2020: 128 employees) from Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Nowtop
and the Company.

RE -HERERHE

BBk

BERENBERASLY (TESELY]) WA
e (TREew]) RERY ([BRY)) =
TENERSAY TEEBERBEEME
BEAEMHMELE ARAKENEEER
RREBEPORBLEEEMER KX
BEBEY TP REARBREDERE - Ft - K
SEELNERFERERD -

HN}

REHER

REHNERRERNFEHRRE BE
ZRIERAGLEHRIRE L - BREITEE
SR AKEBNRLRERBIRY
{ETEJEE%;

SHE
/m

BEAEETTHAREIEERBEZE N
MER BAEEREERAETERARES &
BEMARESRERELIN BN RAER
RENDBHOMABER -RBEFE RAERE
PEPE /20,7520 (ZZ =F4F : 22,9168 ) -
BEFRIO% -BEAFHR AEEMNAE
RENREZREMBEERER - HAEE
TRPER B EI9% A L - MBEFE BREREE
e ERmENRERSRAES? 137 (=
ToTF A7) cBAFHL  AKBERE
REERBEERREFERD24% AR
PR R E TR EES -

1 RIEFREBIERER AR EHNRINEIE &
BRPEREFRERITTR_ALRES
TR -RIEPEARRIRR IR MORITTH
& R BB E T % E A0.6101 ©

2 RZTEZ—F+A=+—08 " #
BE(ZZE=-ZF: 128%1@%)35
- EMEWREAR
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BIE®
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AEENBEEZRE N —EREFEZHERE
EHREREEKE BHEEZEANTEAEE
HE780% E120% ©

The Group aims at maintaining the emissions intensity at a
stable level in the coming reporting year, i.e. within 80% to
120% of this year’s intensity as a short-term target.

2021 GHG 2020 GHG
Business Units produced (%) produced (%) Variance
—E-—F ZEEF
BERE hmE RS
HEHEN BERR 2 (%) HEE (%) )
Bluesea Mobile ENE%E 18,088 tonnes 19,178 tonnes
18,088 19,1781i8 | 6%
Guangzhou Nowtop EMER 2,657 tonnes 3,729 tonnes
2,657 3,729 | 29%
Neo Telemedia WER 8 tonnes 9 tonnes
8M el | 16%
Grand total et 20,752 22,916
tonnes tonnes
20,7520 22,9168 | 9%
Intensity per employee BEEEZE 137 179
tonnes tonnes
137§ 179MF | 24%

GHG Emissions Intensity (tonnes per employee)
BREREHREE (BEESEM)

600 539
500 468
400
300
200
100 2% 53 . .
x —
Bluesea Mobile Guangzhou Nowtop Neo Telemedia
REBE BEMEHR FERE

m2021 ZEZ—F m2020 ZZEZEF
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However, we still strive to improve our measures so as to
further reduce the carbon and greenhouse gas footprints in
the coming years. We noticed that electricity consumption was
the greatest culprit of its greenhouse gas emissions during the
Reporting Year. Thus, during the Reporting Year, the Group has
established a company policy over the usage of lighting in the
office for raising the awareness of energy conservation among
its employees. We also encourage all employees to treasure
electricity by consistently investing in energy-efficient facilities
used in data centres. In order to whittle down the paper usage
as well, we encourage our employee to reuse single-side-printed
paper as well as to use electronic documents instead of printed
documents in daily operations and communications. We believe
that our initiatives on environmental protection are for our better
environmental sustainability.

Environmental Investment in data centres

The Group owns two data centres in Guangzhou and three
major data centre is under construction. To reduce the electricity
consumption in the data centres, the Group invested in several
energy-efficient facilities. We believe that it is not only investing
our investments in data centres are for business purpose, but
also investing for a better environment in the future. Those
energy-efficient facilities included an air-conditioning system,
which could automatically adjust its speed according to
the room temperature, and save over 15% of energy when
comparing to the traditional air-conditioning system. A cooling
tower with an efficient water pump for cooling hot computer
components was also installed. Alike the air-conditioning
system, the cooling tower could also automatically adjust its
speed according to its usage.

For the Reporting Year, we have reduced our greenhouse
gas emissions by 9%. To build the sustainable community
with our stakeholders, not only should we maintain or even
further enhance our services provided by data centres to our
customers in the future, but we would also continuously invest
in energy-efficient facilities for contributing to the reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions (For more details, please see the
section of Electricity Consumption).

RE-HERERRSE

AT BN DA Z B AR RREFE
—ZROMIBRERB R - HFVEEER B
NHERARBEFERERBIRNRAFE
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BMAORE RSB EREEEERE®m E
MERAAEARLEERIRPERET XN
RATENX - LAV E  RPEIRBRENE
BEAEMNRRERSENAFELEER

HBRPONRERE

AEEREMEEMEZES O R =EAR
EREERL RREBETLHNRES
SERAZEBRERME RFBEEHLETE
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ERTREFRENRE -ZFHEREE
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Waste Management

The principal operating activities of the Group refer to the sale
of telecommunication products and services, which does not
produce any hazardous waste, such as chemical wastes and
clinical wastes.

Besides, for the sake of reducing the number of equipment
disposals, we perform regular maintenance of equipment
located in the data centres and the head office so as to reduce
non-hazardous waste.

During the Reporting Year, the only significant non-hazardous
waste identified in the Group’s operations was the paper waste
which amounted to approximately 518 kg (2020: 450 kg), with
an intensity of 3.4 kg (2020: 4 kg) per employee. In this regard,
reducing the use of paper-printing and creating a paperless
working environment are our primary goals. We constantly
encourage our staff to use double-sided printing, and paper that
was printed on one side and did not contain any confidential
information was collected for reuse purpose. Usage of electronic
documents are encouraged to replace printed documents.
Through adopting these steps, the Group, for the next reporting
year, hopes to maintain the non-hazardous waste intensity at
90% to 115% of the current level, given that there is no addition
of other types of non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group aims to be an environmentally sustainable enterprise
to contribute to environmental protection.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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Electricity Consumption

RE - HERERRE

Electricity Consumption per Total Electricity Consumption

Employee (MWh)
BREEHREE KRE)
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Nowtop

FgBE BMER MERE
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m2021 —F=-—F H2020=Z-2F

During the Reporting Year, the total electricity consumption of
the Group amounted to 34,011 MWh (2020: 28,484 MWh),
with an increase of approximately 19% compared to last year.
The electricity consumption intensity increased from 223 MWh
per employee last year to 224 MWh per employee during the
Reporting Year. The Group has strived for achieving energy-
saving in data centres by utilizing natural resources to reduce
energy consumption and using eco-friendly electrical appliances.

(MWh)
wEsEE (KR
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1| oo
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To save and preserve energy for operation of the data centres,
the Group continuously invested in several energy-efficient
facilities, including air-conditioning system, cooling tower with
water pump and other forms of equipment, located in the data
centres in Guangzhou. Air-conditioning system, with Grade 2
Energy Label, could adjust its cooling power automatically for
a steady temperature. The cooling water pump with Grade 2
Energy Label, could adjust its speed automatically to transfer
cool water into the air-conditioner, which could maintain
the room temperature at a constant and appropriate level.
Besides, the Group advocates the usage of LED lighting in the
data centres for energy saving purpose. In the light of these
energy-saving means, the Group believes that continuous usage
of these facilities could better monitor energy consumption
along with its business expansion in the future.

In addition, we also implemented several resource-saving
measures in the office to minimize the use of electricity. We have
fully utilized natural lighting at office in order to minimize the
use of electrical lighting so as to save energy. Strict guidelines
on usage of lighting are announced to our employees to
raise their awareness of energy conservation. Besides, usage
of energy-efficient appliances with Grade 1 Energy Label
was encouraged at office. We would keep improving our
effectiveness of electrical energy conservation as well as the
efficiency of electrical energy consumption in the coming years.
By these means, the Group aims at keeping next reporting
year’s consumption intensity at 90% to 115% at the current
levels.

Paper Usage

Paper usage is always one of the critical concerns in the
consumption of natural resources since logging is involved in the
production of paper which affects the environment both directly
and indirectly. Paperless work environment has been promoted
and encouraged within the Group. We encourage our employees
to use electronic documents to replace printed documents, and
to collect and reuse paper that was printed on one side and did
not contain confidential information for double-sided printing
purpose. The usage of paper was approximately 518 kg during
the Reporting Year (2020: 450 kg), with a significant increase
of approximately 15% compared to last year due to the rising
demand for contract papers and bidding documents. The paper
usage intensity during the Reporting Year was recorded as 3.4
kg per employee (2020: 4 kg).
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Water Consumption & Packaging Materials

As the Group’s operations mainly focus on providing services,
both water consumption and packaging material consumption
of the Group are not seen as having material impacts on the
environment. Nonetheless, we still remind our employees to
reduce the water consumption through posting notices in the
office. In addition, since we sourced water from governmental
bodies, there was no water-sourcing issue identified during the
Reporting Year.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group believes that corporate development should not
come at the expense of the environment. Therefore, we have
been adopting environmental-friendly practice in various
aspects. For example, we invested in several energy-efficient
facilities located in our data centres, and have been adopting
paperless work environment to reduce paper wastage.

RE-HERERRSE
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CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk annually
while conducting the risk assessment. We have considered the
potential climate-related risks in respect of the recommendations
of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure, which
are the physical risks such as extreme weather conditions and
transition risks such as regulatory change on environmental

matters, and summarised as below:

RIRE{t

RETRERIGR AEESTFEHLH
FIRIEAEERR BMERRIREEYFE
MR TIEENEZEE R AT RIZAERER -
HEAEBRM (H 00 %m KRR 5N) A RiBE
7Bz (1Jﬂﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁkfﬁgﬁft) BRaan T -

Short
(current  Medium Long
Potential reporting (1-3 (4-10
Risk Type Risks Financial Impact period) years) years) Mitigation Strategy
B (X 48 (0E REGUEZE
EREER ) BENBEE ®EH) 3F) 10%) BEER
Physical Risks e Extreme weather ¢ Reduced revenue v v e Located our offices in cities
conditions such from business where the occurrences
as flooding and and supply chain extreme weather conditions are
typhoon disruptions relatively rare
e Sustained elevated ¢ Increased cost e FEstablished adverse weather
temperature related to the rising condition policy
need for cooling e Adopted energy conservation
measures
BERAR o BHRRAMA (Gl o EERAMEGESE v v o BEOANBAZTZRAEERD
KRB ) By FEBmA MR T
o BEMR o HAHEIEME o FEFFREMABE
B BB AR IE A o RAEEER
Transition Risks ¢ Changes in ¢ Higher operating 4 v/ e Qur Group has reduced energy
environmental- costs to adopt new consumption by implementing
related regulations practices energy conservation measures
BERR o REHBERNE o KAMEGZ v v oo REEDRBEMEEERR
it ERAEM PERER
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SECTION B: SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT

We believe that continued business success relies on the full
contribution and support of our talented employees. We treasure
our employees and treat them as the most valuable assets
of our Group, based on their continuous commitment and
contribution for helping us to achieve our corporate goals and
continuously lead us to attain different levels of achievements.

We advocate a harmonious and friendly work environment for
our employees. We have established a set of formal human
resources policies and procedures, which provides guidance on
the day-to-day operations, including staff recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, performance
appraisal, salary, bonus, leave and other benefits.

Our Employees

As at 31 December 2021, there were a total of 152 employees
(2020: 128 employees) in Bluesea Mobile, Guangzhou Nowtop
and the Company. The number of male to female employees
maintained a healthy ratio of 2.5:1. The Group believes that
maintaining a diverse and inclusive workforce in the coming
future with respect and care given to its employees is very
critical for running a sustainable and successful business.

RE-HERERRSE
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Year ended
31 December
2021
BZE
—E-—F
+=A
=+-—H
ItFE
Total e
Total workforce EEBE 152
Breakdowns by gender ZERIE
Female 4 43
Male St 109
Breakdowns by age BFERE D
<25 <25 45
25-29 25-29 35
30-39 30-39 50
40-49 40-49 12
>50 >50 10
Breakdowns by employee type ZREEBAE S
Full time i 152
Part time i 0
Breakdowns by geographical location i@ E 5
Hong Kong BA 7
The PRC Fh 144
Australia Dy | 1
Total @t
Overall turnover e MR xR 67%
Turnover rate by gender ek lE A= O b
Female gl 67%
Male B4 67%
Turnover rate by age BEREDATAE
25 <25 69%
25-29 25-29 94%
30-39 30-39 48%
40-49 40-49 100%
>50 >50 20%
Turnover rate by geographical location i@ 2l Bk R
Hong Kong B 29%
The PRC H 69%
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We constantly value our employees and advocate team spirit
among our employees. To further strengthen the bonding of our
employees, team-building activities were held so as to enable
our employees and management to connect with each other.
With our consistent efforts in maintaining our team relationship,
we believe that we are able to maintain our team and retain our
talented employees.

Employee Benefits

We consider our employees as the key to sustainable business
growth. Thus, we offer a comprehensive benefit package,
including mandatory retirement fund, insurance and annual
leave to attract and retain employees. Employees are entitled
to compensation on equal opportunities based on their job
performance. We also award employees with a year-end bonus
according to the employees’ and the Group’s performance.
Besides, employees’ performance appraisal is conducted on an
annual basis for determining the extent of salary increase and
the award of promotion as incentive to reward staff commitment
and contribution.

In addition, for the employees working in Guangzhou, they were
enrolled in Social Security Scheme and Housing Provident Fund
with reference to the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

The Group strictly abides with the Employment Ordinance, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong Kong,
and Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, Regulations
on Management of Housing Provident Fund in the PRC, and
other relevant laws and regulations which cover all employment
protection and benefits.
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Harmonious Workspace

We strive to provide a harmonious working environment
sharing equal opportunities among all of our employees. We
have established a formal equal opportunity policy to provide
guidance to our employees on compliance with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487), and Family Status Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 527), etc. so as to build a workplace free
from any harassment and discrimination. Our equal opportunity
policy applies to staff recruitment, training and development,
recognition and reward, and termination and dismissal. We
respect our employees regardless of their age, race, gender,
national origin, religion, physical condition, medical condition,
marital status and/or sexual orientation. Our employees are also
required to take all necessary actions to ensure that colleagues
would not be discriminated. For those employees acting
improperly or breaching of contract terms and code of conduct
will be terminated in order to protect the interests of the Group
and other employees. Compensations are provided when
applicable.

Work-life Balance of Employee

We strive to encourage work-life balance for our employees by
providing them with five-day work week, with 7.5 working hours
per day and 5 to 25 days of annual leave according to their
job positions and length of services. Overtime compensation is
offered to employees at 1.5 to 2 times of the staff basic salary.
In addition, employees are also entitled to special leaves to meet
their family’s needs, such as marriage leave, funeral leave and
maternity leave, etc.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

We are committed to building up a safe and healthy workplace
for our employees. A set of formal safety procedures has been
included in the staff handbook to give guidance to employees
and improve their responsiveness to emergencies. Employees
must report to the supervisors or department heads in a timely
manner in case of occurrence of an accident. The department
heads are responsible for ensuring that appropriate policies,
procedures and safeguard measures are implemented in
practice. For any injuries, the department heads are responsible
for providing aids, investigating and reporting the cases
immediately.
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Fire extinguishers are placed in the office and several escape
signs are placed on the wall and under the ceiling for guiding
people to leave the scene of the accident in case an accident
occurs. For safety consideration, we also install manual fire
alarm system in office. Any employee could press the manual
fire alarm button to alert all employees to the emergency which
has occurred. Notice reminding employees to be careful when
getting close to the main switch is posted on the main switch
box. Additionally, CCTVs are installed in the corners of the
office so as to ensure safety protection of assets and personal
security.

Moreover, the Group recognizes the preparedness to
emergency. There were regular fire drills held in the data centres
for our employees to be familiar with the evacuation procedures
when emergencies occur. A detailed report will be prepared to
review the results of the fire drills so as to help our employees
notice the weaknesses and improve in the next fire drill.

The Group subscribes medical insurance for all of its employees
against any clinical, dental, hospital and surgery costs. The labor
insurance and housing provident fund are closely monitored and
adjusted according to the headcounts of employees. The Group
also engaged professional third party for providing its employees
with regular health check scheme.

In addition, in the midst of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
has formulated the “Pandemic Prevention Manual”, which sets
out the early warning system for the pandemic and the safety
measures to address it. The Group has implemented a series of
precautionary measures to ensure the safety of our employees,
including but not limited to, regular office cleaning and sanitizing,
provision of hand sanitizers and face masks.

During the last three reporting years, no work-related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury were recorded by the Group.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Empowering employees is one of our priority. We provide a
wide range of training to our employees during the Reporting
Year. Not only do we aim at equipping our employees with the
requisite skills and knowledge, but we also target at shaping
our employees into future leaders. During the Reporting Year,
the Group provided approximately 1,124 hours (2020: 397
hours) of trainings, including induction trainings and technical
skills trainings. Alongside the internal trainings, the Group also
provides subsidies to its employees for their external trainings
and seminars. The Group will continuously encourage all its

R R

MEEEBENREMANEEEE L — &M
REEFEARBREEZBEINI -BMTE
BMORBREEBRHEVBENFELMGE NE
EBEEBENRKNEEE NREFE
NEERHL 124/ ( ZF = T4 : 397/)
B ) R 3 B I8 AR S I R B AT B B 55 3l o
Br A SN REE IR E R B R4 A
ETHIEFI RS S  ANEE K EETE
PREETHEREEERUREFRELRR
B EER-

employees to pursue continuous professional development so
as to facilitate their growth along the career path in the future.

Year ended
31 December
2021
Total
BZE
—E-—F
+=A
=+-—H
IEFEHAT
Percentage of employee trained XIMEEBE DL 91%
Percentage of employee trained by gender EHRBESHZIEEB DL
Female 4 25%
Male St 75%
Percentage of employee trained by EEEHFESHNZIEER DL
employee category
Management EREE 2%
Mid-level employee FERES 18%
Junior employee U EE 80%
Average training hours completed per EHRE N EBREER
employee by gender 52K B 19 52 51 B R
Female i 3.65
Male Bk 5.88
Average training hours completed per REEBHFESHNERES
employee by employee category ST AR R S 35 52 9 B R
Management EIRE 1.31
Mid-level employee FEREE 3.96
Junior employee R E 6.10
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LABOR STANDARDS

We fully comply with the labor laws and relevant legislations
that prohibit child labor and forced labor. We do not employ
any person below the age of eighteen. Each applicant needs to
present his/her personal identity document to the Group during
the recruitment process so as to prevent the employment of
child labor by the Group. In addition, we strive to ensure that
no employee is forced to work against his/her will, or work as
forced labor. No violent measures or actions through deliberate
creation of difficulties, threatening and physical punishment, etc.
shall be taken by anyone to force an employee to work. Through
the whistle-blowing mechanism, employees are able to voice out
injustice they face. For any reported cases, the Management will
investigate into the case immediately, and take further follow-up
actions if necessary. During the Reporting Year, no material
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations in relation
to labor standards was noted.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To express our vision on becoming a leading operator in the
big data and mobile Wi-Fi services as well as next-generation
internet (NGI) integrated services and solutions market, the
Group is dedicated to build a sustainable long-term relationship
with its suppliers. The Group also recognizes that appropriate
and rigorous management of its suppliers could influence
its suppliers positively in order to help achieve its corporate
mission.
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The Group implements proper management on its supply chain.
In this regard, approved supplier list has been maintained and
suppliers’ performances are assessed annually. By this means,
the responsible employees of the Group conduct regular
checks on data centres to ensure that the services provided
to our customers are speedy, secure and highly effective. In
this regard, regular checks on data centres also ensure that
the equipment and instruments supplied are well-functioning
with high quality. For those suppliers which failed to meet the
requirements set by the Group, they would be removed from
the approved supplier list. In addition, during the process of
performance of supplier-selection process, the financial and
operational background (including recognized qualifications
and licenses) of the suppliers, relevant price level, as well as
the terms and conditions of customers’ requirements are all
taken into consideration. The Group continues to implement
appropriate management measures on the supply chain so as
to maintain high quality services provided to its customers to
achieve the corporate mission.

As at 31 December 2021, there were 8 (2020: 20) approved
suppliers located in the PRC.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group is committed to providing convenient, speedy,
secure, available, highly effective and professional internet
access services, channels, content services and interactive
communication services to its customers. To maintain the
high standards of quality and reliability of the services, regular
checks on data centres are conducted. Meanwhile, periodic
maintenance of the equipment and instruments of data centres
is performed. In addition, the Customer Service Department
provides 24/7 service so as to handle and respond to
customers’ complaints and enquiries promptly. Various channels
have been set up for customers to express their comments and
recommendations.

Additionally, the Group is committed to protecting the personal
information of its customers during the process of delivery of
its services. Newly recruited employees are required to sign
the non-disclosure agreement to ensure confidentiality of the
Group’s business strategies and customers’ data protection.
Only those authorized personnel are able to access the systems
for obtaining customers’ information. Unauthorised access of
the Group’s information system is strictly prohibited. Confidential
information is also under strict monitor to prevent any direct
or indirect information leakage to external parties through any
means. Discarded and obsolete equipment of data centres is
stored and monitored by the responsible employees without
improper disposal.

Besides, directors and employees should avoid any conflicts of
interest. Employees are required to make declaration, through
reporting to management, that they uphold the Group’s value
principle without being influenced by their private interest/goal,
when any actual or potential conflicts of interest arise.

During the Reporting Year, no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations related to product responsibility
was noted.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

To ensure an ethical business environment, a set of formal Code
of Conduct (“CoC”) has been established and is circulated to
all of our employees. Our CoC is in line with the anti-corruption
policy published by Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption (“ICAC”) and the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) in Hong Kong. Our employees are
required to comply strictly with applicable laws, including but
not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance. All forms
of bribery and corruption are strictly prohibited. Employees
should not solicit or accept any advantages for themselves.
Only promotional gifts or souvenirs as well as gifts given on the
occasion of festivals with a maximum limit of HK$500 in value
can be accepted by our employees. However, the relevant
employees should still report the case through a standard
written form to the Group and seek direction on how the gifts
or souvenirs concerned should be handled. Moreover, we
also advocate the awareness of anti-corruption among our
customers and suppliers. Anti-corruption agreements were
signed with our customers and suppliers in order to upload our
core values. The Group values and welcomes its employees to
report any suspected malpractices through various channels, i.e.
emails, website, in person. The management will take immediate
action to investigate on the issue and take follow-up actions if
necessary.

In the year ended 31 December 2021, as our business nature is
unlikely to be susceptible to corruption, we have not held anti-
corruption training. However, we will organize relevant training
when needed.

During the Reporting Year, no concluded legal cases regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
were noted.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group had not organized any community and charity
activities during the Year due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
which was to ensure the safety of both our employees and
the community. The Group will continue to explore more social
welfare actions in the future after the COVID-19 situation
improves and restrictions are lifted.
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RE -HERERHE

[ |
The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and R4 FE > ANEE W A BT A BT HE
regulations that has a significant impact on the Group relating - BE - EHRHELZ2 L TEA ERET
to emissions, employment, health and safety, labor standards, M&REFHEEREZRBEUARERBRKE KX
product responsibility and anti-corruption during the Reporting 27428 #1537 o
Year.
ESG REPORTING GUIDE & REFERENCE RE -tegkEamEEsl &
=5
A. Environmental Reference in this report
A IRE RAEREWRLE
A1. Emissions Chapter
Al. BB E=4:0]
Information on: Environmental
BABERLRERBHNR MKRIHOEES EEREEEEYD R
BWEEER:
(@ the policies; and
@ BX: X
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
b) BFHETABEAZENHEBEZEZLRAMNNE-
KPI' A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Emissions
BB BUIE R A AT E S R AR R BUE ek

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
FRERIEEAM 2EE (SE1) RetRHE#E (FHE2) )R EREIEMN
E(UNEE) R (ER)BE (NMABES SN BERMTHE) -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRETIESEAMIMELESTEEYMESE (UEHE) & (ER)
BE(WABESEMN BERMTH) -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRETIEEMAMELBEEEZEYESE (LAME.# )R (@A)
BE(WABESEN BERETE
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
B B2 4B IR 1R A1.5%1 )
FREVR) BB o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
BRETIESAMHLEEAERESTEEYNT L REELS
BT I R PTG R ©

MRS BENE B RN AERIE L RIEM

Greenhouse Gas
(“‘GHG”) Emissions

BE R

(Not applicable)
(T™@EA)

Waste Management
REE 18
Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”") Emissions
BERBEPER

Waste Management

RE 1 E 18
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A2. Use of Resources Chapter

A2. ERER E=4: 1]
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and Use of Resources
other raw materials.

BERERER (BIFER KREARME) AR - BIRGE A
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Electricity Consumption

electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit

of production volume, per facility).

@ﬁi&hﬂw1hﬁﬂﬁ YEEE R SEEER (NE - Reloh) FEE
BRE (ATETERSAE) REE (WASEEEM FHERMEA

st
= o
7t

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of (Not applicable)

production volume, per facility).

BRERIERA2EFKEREE (MABESEN FHERMET (T#EMA)

#) o

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps Electricity Consumption

taken to achieve them.

R AERIE A ST U B R AR B R R R ESE L H#E

B R P EREREY 2P B8

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Water Consumption & Packaging
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. Materials
BREBIEEA2 4 KEER KR R A EAEE  UREAR KEERSBEME

IR R B HE B S PG BCR

KPI KA2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Water Consumption & Packaging
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Materials
BARETIEEKASHKMATABERMBNEE (UEHE) R (0 KEERBEME
BR)BEESBUES-

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources Chapter

A3. BRERARER E=4: 0]
Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the The Environment and Natural
environment and natural resources. Resources
BEBTAHRBERRABRENERZENBE - RERRAAEIR
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environment and Natural
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to manage Resources
them.
BRETIERASIHAEB EHHRERRARERNEATER RIERRABR
ERREEFAZENTH-
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Climate Change
RIRB1L

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.
WMEEITAHRERRAERENERZENBEK -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
BREMIERMABERE RN AR EHBETAEETENERR
REAEE REKNEBREREENTH -

Social

HE

Employment

EfE

Information on:

BT R E B8

FR U AR LA Be B A 155 38 F 4@ A /Y -

(@  the policies; and

@ BX: &

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

b)) BTEHETABEARZENRBERZNAROINER-

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,

full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
BRERIEEBIRIER  ERED (MRBH D)  Fiednl Rk
WEEoEE AR

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BB RIEIE B 212 1L Bl - FHe A Rl Kt [= &l 5

MEEMAE-

B TERBCBE FEKE 2l

RE -HERERHE

Chapter

E=4: 1]

Climate Change
RIRE(E
Climate Change

RIRE

Reference in this Report

RAERERL
Chapter

E-4: 1]
Employment
=

Our Employees

#fFImEER

Our Employees

#FIeEER
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B2.
B2.

B3.
B3.

Health and Safety
BREEZZ
Information on:
FARMZE2TIHERERREEEREBEMRLEN:
(@) the policies; and
@ BR: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
b) BFHBEBTABEATENHEBEELRAMNNEF-
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each
of the past three years including the reporting year.
FREMIEEBIBRT=F (BREERFE) FFEIIEEEM
THAS R E.
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
R EMIEEB2 2R TIBEATIEA S -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
RS AR R IR B2 3 I PR ER AV BB R 2 BR B e 2 48 Bt - DA KB A
TRERF*-

Development and training

BRRIE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work.
EHRRAEERITIEBRENAE R EEEE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management,
etc.).
BRERIEEBI RN REERRN (NaREEERTPREEE
F)EoXIMEEED L -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

A RIEIEB3.21R MBI K fE BRI &5
T o

FHEETRZIINF
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Labour standards

L TR

Information on:

BN ILE T KR Hl%5

(@) the policies; and

@ BHE: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labor.

b) BFHBEBTABEAZENHEBEEZRAMNNEF-

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.

BARE DR IR B4 U AT IS B IV B hE AR 2 B T Noa %155 T

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when

discovered.

B4R IR 1R B4.2HH )

FBo

AT HY:

M EIRERITREERE @ISR RE

Supply chain management

HEEERE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERHEENRERESRERBE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

RARE SR EBS IR EE D HEREE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

RS AE 1R Bo.2f il A IS B e eV 1E 61
BWHEREE A RBRRITRERT -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

B 52 48 R 1R B5.3H it A B 5k | 4 FE B (R IR R A 3R 3R Rt & R
REB R A RAEREBMITRER T A

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

B 37 48 R H5 1% BS. At ML 7E BRE B R S (2 (2 % AR R EE am SR 75
BRI LA RAEAMITRER A

RENITERED

RE -HERERHE

Chapter
=41}

Labor Standards

& T AR

Labor Standards

& T AR
Labor Standards

4 T8
Chapter

=41}

Supply Chain Management
e R

Supply Chain Management
HEEEIR

Supply Chain Management

g g 2

Supply Chain Management

e R E 1R

Supply Chain Management

HrEsEE g
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B6. Product responsibility
B6. EmEE

Information on:
BHFMRHERMBREHERERZY BE RERIMMBEEUR
AR

(@  the policies; and

@ BX: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.

b) BFHBTABEAZENHEBEEZERRAMNNE-

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to

recalls for safety and health reasons.

BREMNIEZEB.IEEREEXERBHEPRAL

HEWRME DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints

received and how they are dealt with.

SRR EBo BN Em MRS VIRFE B AR EE % -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.

BB AE 1R Bo. .S i B M v I ARIB AR E R B A 1B A

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

AR E NI IZBe AR MM E SR FBENEROWREF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy

policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

RS R EBo.SH M E B E B EHRIE AL BUR - LA RAB@HIT

RERFT L

R {2 3% /i

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HERERBRE

Chapter
=41}

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EmE T

Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility

EmAE
Product Responsibility

EmEAR
Product Responsibility

EmE T



B7.
B7.

B8.
B8.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Anti-corruption

RES

Information on:

BN ILERER  $R - HEF RO B

(@) the policies; and

@ BR: R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

b) BFHBEBTABEAZENHEBEEZRAMNNEF-

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees during the

reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

FREMIEEB7T IR ERPAHFITANEEEREIEEL

BT RRGNEE RFRBER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures, how they are

implemented and monitored.

RS AE R R BT 2R By S i - A KA IT REE R A

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors

and staff.

FREREEB7 A EE N B TREMREISHEI -

Community investment

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where we operate and to ensure that our activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.
BRLMEBE2ERTHREEMELRFEENBRREMNERES
GERMENRABOR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
BRERIEEBSAE T EREE (WHE RREH
B-X{t -85F)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

AR EEIEIEB8.2TE &

FEREBMBAER (NEERXEH) -

RE -HERERHE

Chapter
=41}

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES
Anti-corruption

RES
Chapter

E-3: 0]

Community Investment
HERE

Community Investment
HERE

Community Investment

HEE
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Independent Auditors’ Report
¥ 3L 1% BUED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NEO TELEMEDIA LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to
244, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net
loss of approximately HK$71,356,000 during the year ended
31 December 2021 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$2,111,463,000. As stated in Note 3, these events or
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note
3, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
“Material Uncertainly Related to Going Concern” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.

%8 3L 1% BB R &

B ER

BACREBTESAHMASEMN (FEE
FHEAD ([FEBBFER])ETES KM
EZSENTAENEEESELRRSE [BRE
R Eet R e M RRAENEE] — 8P
1R — SR - IRIBF B GFHEDQ& HE MK
(BxertamaEsa) ([F/))  HFAS
VR EEE YDREITTARMNEMBER
BEE-RMBE RPIMESNETBREER
REEEWREMOT RIRHER -

HAFF A8 4 2 FH A 0 & K TN AR BA
PSES
BPRBIBRAMBRERMAS EF 5
~ BEEREBEE_ZE-_—F+=-A=1+-—
B IEFE NE 4 BB F 88 4971,356,00078 7T *
BEHZ%B BE£ERHEAGEEARDEE
#92,111,463,0007% 7T - a0 fit 51 3AT it - 72 &
ek ERMESMEH 2 EthEE BN
GHEERTHPERZSgEH EE£EFE
KWEZERENZHERER - U EFEREME
EERRIEEREBER -

FASEET R 1A

BRETSASRBERMANERHE RS
BARHGAMBBRRNETRAEENSER-
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RTHABARER] —#ptFBN BFIEETE
THIF it EEE BE MRS PEBNER
ErER
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Independent Auditors’ Report
% 3L 1% B ED

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

AT EIE (@)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNAEEERESNEE

Impairment assessments on goodwill and intangible assets

BERBREE ZRENA

Refer to notes 3, 19, 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

BLRGRE M EHRKRMFES 19 2021 ©

The Group has goodwill and intangible assets with net
carrying amounts of approximately HK$116,047,000
and HK$81,803,000 respectively which are allocated
to the cash-generating-units of provision of data
centre services and trading of telecommunication
products (“CGUs”) as at 31 December 2021.
Management performed impairment assessment
of CGUs and concluded that no impairment loss
was provided on the goodwill and intangible
assets respectively. This conclusion was based
on recoverable amount that required management
judgment with respect to the discount rate and
underlying cash flows in particular future revenue
growth and capital expenditure. Independent external
valuation reports were obtained in order to support
management’s estimates.
RZEZ—F+-A=+—0H0' EBfEIREER
HEBEPORELEEECEEMIRSELSML ([R
SEEBEN|)CAEREREENREFES AL
#3116,047,0007% 7T 581,803,000/ 7T ° ‘E 1 [E B ¥ IR
TEEBMETREN G WFHER BERER
BEWED RIFHRRERE - th&&R AR T IRE £
BEL AFEEEEMTRELEEREREEL
FIE CERRRPSERREARAEZ I FER
B2 st EEVS B INBEERSE -

Our procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment included:

B EREREMEETIREFEE:

° Evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

o FHMEBIMINEME(ERD 2 BEN  BE H R FEIL

° Assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based
on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

o HRBEMEMBTEZRILDARMOME
BERAAERAZ A EREERR 2B

° Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

e RERMEBEBRITRZRBEIBEERES
AEREER R

° Checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.
o HMIEREMMAR ABE R RAEE-

We found the management’s impairment assessment
on goodwill and intangible assets were supported by
the available evidence.
BPRREEEUREBRENEEZRENGEA
FREBEXE-

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Independent Auditors’ Report
%8 37 1% LD

AT EIE (&)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNESFNAEEERESNEE

Impairment assessments for the expected credit losses of accounts receivable, deposits and other

receivables

EWERS RERAtERRE2RBEEBRBEFG

Refer to notes 3, 6, 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

FLRGE AU ERRMIES 6 28K%24 °

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had gross
accounts receivable of approximately HK$165,430,000
and provision for impairment of approximately
HK$22,770,000 and gross deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$200,270,000
and provision for impairment of approximately
HK$18,543,000 respectively.
WZE-Z—F+_A=+—H- EKESHEEK
AR 7K 48 88 4165,430,0007% 7T I L B # 5 £922,770,000
7B 7T M AR & [ H At 8 WK TR 48 88 49200,270,00078 JT
KR 1B #5145 4918,543,000/8 7T ©

Management performed periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the accounts receivable, deposits and
other receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile
of different counterparties, ageing of the receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation
of outstanding balances, and on-going relationships
with the relevant counterparties. Management also
considered forward-looking information that may impact
the counterparties’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses for the impairment assessments.
ERERBEINAHFTNERER  BURFIERNRE -
MAERAERE BELERR HHRBRRERS
HRERSBREEBHFINREXIBEREZER
HE MR RS KA th B IR IA A AT e B 14 ORI E
BENREUHETEHTL -EEETERARTE
HFAEERESLMRETNATELEER  UEER
B EHEREEEE-

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment for expected credit losses of the accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables as at
31 December 2021 included:

BMAHEBEENR _ZE_—F+_A=+—HEK
R Re REHMEBWFIEELEREE BRI GE
TZREFBEERE:

° Understanding and evaluating the key controls
that the Group has implemented to manage and
monitor its credit risk, and validating the control
effectiveness on a sample basis;

e  THWYHM EEEATREKEZHEERR
i & it A B 45 12 1) 4 b O F A W SR AR R ) B AR
1

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the accounts receivable, deposits and other
receivables as at 31 December 2021 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;

s HMEBBRER_TZ_—F+_A=+—BE@Y
B sEN R EWARK - R e R E A BN ERIER
BRECIE N R F A8 IR MIRITIRP A E W

° Inquiring of management for the past due status
of each of the material accounts receivable,
deposits and other receivables as at year
end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
performing public search of selected customers,
understanding on-going business relationship
with the counterparties based on trade records
and operation record, checking historical and
subsequent settlement records of and other
correspondence with the counterparties; and

s MERETHFUENFAEBENZTERNBBENR
R & R b FEURIE & B 8 HA AR R 3F A 2 8 5F
BEEEEENRE NWHEFTEFPFHABAH
A RBBEXFTHEREERRF TRERFH
MREEKAR RERBEFHINELRHRE
HEETBERHEAMER X
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Independent Auditors’ Report
% 3L 1% B ED

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

AT EIE (@)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNENAEEERESNEE

We focused on this area due to the impairment
assessment of accounts receivable, deposits and other
receivables under the expected credit losses model
involved the use of significant management judgements
and estimates.
BM@EFILSEE TR RERBEEEEENET
B W AR 3K 12 & I B FE M R IBDRUE R 8% I8 A
BREREHE RhET

° Assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining
the key data inputs on a sample basis to
assess their accuracy and completeness, and
challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used
to determine the expected credit losses.

s HATEHGEEESEBRENAEZRTAE MK
BEFEBABBUNGEREER R TE
WHANETHEBEEBENE L RATEIEE
HERERIREL G-

We found that the management judgment and
estimates used to assess the impairment of accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables to be
supportable by available evidence.
BMBEREEERAUTARBEREN  Ze REMEK
RIEREELNHEBREFEAEEEIRE-

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA




Independent Auditors’ Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. (“Other
Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

%8 3L 1% BB R &

ﬁ /TJ@/ 1%_ /%\

EEFUHMERAR - EMEEEETH
RERANER BETEBEEEMBERERE
B RE - ([HEER]) -
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MY EERE A o
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Independent Auditors’ Report
% 3L 1% B ED

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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Independent Auditors’ Report

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

%8 3L 1% BB R &
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Yau Wai Ip.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yau Wai Ip
Practising Certificate Number: PO7849

Hong Kong, 22 April 2022

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GERmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 e e W e g S N

2021 2020
—B=—F —TFF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTET FHET
Revenue g 7 615,174 464,908
Cost of sales $HE AR (498,290) (394,191)
Gross profit EF 116,884 70,717
Other income and gains B A R s 8 37,879 7,011
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 Wz 35 - 2,535
Selling and marketing costs $HE RSB HEEK A (32,914) (24,462)
Administrative and other expenses TERERHEMER (144,993) (153,037)
Net change in impairment losses FEHREEBHBREXNTZ
under expected credit loss model WEBEZFEED 12 8,589 7,671
Write-off/impairment loss recognised ~ FLE & E R
in respect of intangible assets s, E &R 20 = (33,358)
Finance costs Bh & A AR 10 (46,909) (17,069)
Loss before tax PRELAIES B 12 (61,464) (139,992)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fiisf (AX) #% 11 (9,892) 12,421
Loss for the year FAEE (71,356) (127,571)
Other comprehensive income FRHEMZE KR
for the year, net of tax (HMBRBIE)
Items that may be reclassified HEABEEF 7 HEE
subsequently to profit or oss: BmIEE -
Exchange differences arising on FRBLEGINET
translation of foreign operations EEXCZEHZERE
during the year 28,622 48,647
Reclassification of cumulative FRNHEFINERS
translation reserve upon disposal of 15 25T 0E NS
foreign operations during the year EFOE - (1,110)
Other comprehensive income FAHAM 2 E W E
for the year, net of tax (0B EEIE) 28,622 47 537
Total comprehensive loss FRAZHEEBBARE
for the year (42,734) (80,034)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GRERmkEtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2021 2020
B —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
oz FHET FHET
Loss for the year RTFTATEMRER
attributable to: Eia:
Owners of the Company ZA/NEIE/ Z =N (62,667) (110,344)
Non-controlling interests EE AR E R (8,689) (17,227)
(71,356) (127,571)
Total comprehensive loss DATMALTEAEZE
attributable to: B4R
Owners of the Company KRBHEEA (34,906) (65,070)
Non-controlling interests IR S (7,828) (14,964)
(42,734) (80,034)
HK Cents HK Cents
A AL
Basic and diluted loss per share BEREXREHEER 13 (0.66) (1.16)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e a M ANILR

As at 31 December 2021

R=FE——FF+—FH=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —EE2F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
gz FExT FHET
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e =SS 17 3,030,457 2,618,404
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 18 773,920 307,574
Goodwill GES 19 116,047 116,047
Intangible assets B EE 20 81,803 101,231
Prepayment for property, plant and W BEREEZ
equipment AT B 24 14,510 2,647
Deferred tax assets RERIEE E 30 6,645 5,920
4,023,382 3,151,823
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 22 2,276 2,417
Accounts receivable JiE Uk BR 3k 23 142,660 90,808
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRE e R
receivables H b E W FR B 24 244,722 161,049
Cash and cash equivalents HWeENRIREEFEEY 25 20,198 31,143
409,856 285,417
Assets held for sale BIEHEEE 37 5,994 =
415,850 285,417
Current Liabilities REBEE
Accounts payable FEfT AR K 26 147,271 52,811
Other payables and accruals H (b < 7108 K FEET RUIE 27 383,818 124,034
Contract liabilities AEHAaE 27 59,673 31,149
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 43,135 205,569
Borrowings B 29 1,841,800 1,601,122
Tax liabilities HIBEAE 51,616 36,089
2,527,313 2,050,774
Net Current Liabilities REBEEEEHE (2,111,463) (1,765,357)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities #EEBRBERE 1,911,919 1,386,466
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MBI R

As at 31 December 2021 R-E-——#+=-H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
P FE FET FAT
Non-current Liabilities kRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEBE 30 20,451 25,308
Lease liabilities ME&E 28 824,402 260,136
Other payables H b fE < 5K8 27 8,778 =
853,631 285,444
Net Assets EEFE 1,058,288 1,101,022
Capital and Reserves EXREE
Share capital % 7R 31 952,218 952,218
Reserves i 51,337 86,243
Equity attributable to owners of RARHEE AEGER
the Company 1,003,555 1,038,461
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR M = 54,733 62,561
Total Equity ERAE 1,058,288 1,101,022

The consolidated financial statements were approved and 4 AMEREN - -_—_FNM5 -+ _-_HE
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 April 2022 EFe# EREBEZNE TR TIEERRX

and signed on its behalf by: FE:
CHEUNG Sing Tai TAO Wei
RER &3
Director Director
EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

REEmBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREARE
Share Non-
Share Share options Translation Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
BE RBER BRERR BEERE EERE RitER it FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
L TEL TR TiEn TEx T TR TEL THL
(Note 32) (Notg)
(Bt32) (B3t)
At 1 January 2020 R=5-%5-5-B 952,218 1,759,494 17,157 (47,614) 1,893 (1,561,717) 1,121,431 65,715 1,187,146
Loss for the year FNER - - - - - (110,344) (110,344) (17,227) (127,571)
Other comprehensive income/(oss) E2EbE/ (BB
Exchange diference arising on translation - REMRE BN ERELZERER

of operations during the year - - - 46,384 - - 46,384 2,263 48,647
Redlassfication of cumulative tranlation ~ ML &SN EHERHELFlE

reserve upon disposal of foreign ENAE

operations during the year - - - (1,110) - - (1,110 - (1,110)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FAZABELE = - - 45274 - (110,344) (65,070) (14,964) (80,034)
Acquisttion of non-controling interests ~ WEEFE RIS (Hf3E34)

(Note 34) - - - - - (17,900) (17,900) (3,365) (21,265)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HERBAR (H535) - - - - - - - 15,175 15,175
Share options lapsed BRELH - - (1,204) - - 1204 - - -
At 31 December 2020 and RZZ-FE+-A=1+-HR

1 January 2021 952,218 1,759,494 15,863 (2,340) 1,893 (1,688,667) 1,038,461 62,561 1,101,022
Loss for the year - - - - - 62,667) 62,667) 8689 (71,356)
Other comprehensive income A2 ENE
Exchange diference arising on translation - REMAE BN ERELZERER

of operations during the year - - - 27,761 - - 21,761 861 28,622
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRREEELE - - - 27,761 = (62,667) (34,906) (7,828) (42,734
Share options lapsed BRELH - - (15,869) - - 15,863 - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZF--§+-A=1-H 952,218 1,759,494 > 25421 1,893 (1,735,471) 1,008,585 54,733 1,068,288
Note: Bt 5 -

According to the relevant rules and regulations in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”), subsidiaries of the Company established in the
PRC are required to transfer 10% of their net profit, as determined in
accordance with the PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches 50% of
their respective registered capital. The transfer to this reserve must be
made before distribution of dividends to owners of these subsidiaries.
Statutory surplus reserve can be used to set off previous years’ losses,
if any, and may be converted into capital in proportion to existing
equity owners’ equity percentage, provided that the balance after such
issuance is not less than 25% of their registered capital.

RBEPEARKME ([HEDBBEED FOER
ARARPERTIZMBRABAERALANZ
10% (RREEP G EAERAET)2A
ERBER EERRFERZERERES S Z2M
BARZ250% - BREZFHELARAZEHERF
2B AD KA S ATEH X E RBFEE T BIER
HBEFE2ER(WMA) YrAIRRARGEES
AZEZ BN LLERBERA EHREITR &R
AEEREZEMER225% °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Operating activities R ER
Loss before tax BT A RS 18 (61,464) (139,992)
Adjustments for: FEIER -
Finance costs A& A A 46,909 17,069
Interest income B WA (1,024) (966)
Depreciation of property, WM -WMERZEBTE
plant and equipment 66,157 44,697
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAREERE 30,932 19,719
Amortisation of intangible assets I E EH 19,428 23,030
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W - (2,535)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWX HEREEZ
plant and equipment & (1,855) (1,426)
Write-off/impairment loss recognised in MEEEERR
respect of intangible assets isH,REEE - 33,358
Net change in impairment losses FEHEEEBEEEXTZ
under expected credit loss model BESEZ FEE (8,589) (7,671)
Gain from sale and leaseback ErAERIEE W=
transaction (33,330) S
Operating cash flows before HMEESBBAIZ
movements in working capital KREHSRE 57,164 (14,717)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable  JEUWRBRZR (3&40) R (46,448) 33,404
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TERTSRIE -« e R E b IR
other receivables SKIFLE AN (72,382) (57,811)
Decrease in inventories FERD 204 2,340
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEfBRFRIE M, CR2) 91,570 (17,051)
Increase in other payables and H M JE < SR8 I FE 5T RUIR
accruals o 238,338 74,705
Increase in contract liabilities ABHEEE N 27,240 27,858
Cash generated from operations REXBREERS 295,686 48,728
Income tax paid BERIFTEH (987) (13,172)
Income tax refund Frig iR B - 1,286
Net cash generated from operating RETBFEERSFHE
activities 294,699 36,842
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Consolidated Stotement of Cash Flows
.-vT [ | EE%U".E%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #tE=—F—=——4&+=F=+—HIFFEF

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Investing activities RETEH
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WS FE PR AR R 2 = (21,269)
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of HEWB A E (KLMBRET
cash and cash equivalent disposed) HERERRESEEY) - 2,136
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BELEE
equipment (903,804) (368,303)
Cash paid for prepayment for E - BEMEEZ
property, plant and equipment ENFEEI(FZ2RS (14,284) (2,020)

ERAEXZEED
HE TS 5RIR 766,528 =
HEWME - BEMEHEED

Sales proceeds arising from the disposal
of property, plant and equipment HE TS FRIR 5,220 =

Sales proceeds arising from sale and
leaseback transaction

Settlement of note receivable HEHEEWERE - 71,883
Interest received 2 U F & 1,024 966
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHMAESFE (145,316) (316,603)
Financing activities RMEEE
Borrowings raised BEE7ER 799,469 862,272
Repayment of borrowings EEER (605,655) (439,801)
Lease rentals paid ERAERES (23,283) (23,023)
Finance lease repaid BERMEMEE (192,018) (26,307)
Interest paid BERFE (136,070) (75,531)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMEETE (FTA) EEZ

financing activities HE&FE (157,557) 297,610
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBREEEY RD)

cash equivalents EhnFEEE (8,174) 17,849
Cash and cash equivalents FHNEERESEEY

at the beginning of the year 31,143 17,926
Effect of changes in foreign exchanges rate  /ME [E R & 8) 22 & (2,771) (4,632)
Cash and cash equivalents FRASREASEEY

at end of the year 20,198 31,143
Analysis of balances of cash and FRESRESEEY

cash equivalents at the end of the year & &2 D47
Bank balances and cash ﬁETTmﬁ?&@%ﬁ 20,198 31,143

20,198 31,143
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Neo Telemedia Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The address of the registered office of the Company
is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and
its principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
Room 901B, 9th Floor, Empire Centre, 68 Mody Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
whose functional currency are Renminbi (“RMB”), the
functional currency of the Company and its remaining
subsidiaries are HK$. The reason for selecting HK$ as
its presentation currency is that the Company is a public
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, where
most of the investors are located in Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

TEHEEEREARAR([A2F])
DHERESESEMRIZERRLBR D
A EBRORNEBEBMERSAAERAA
(B3 Af]) GEM £ e

N &) 89 5 i SRR A UE iz 5 Cricket
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E e

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs’)

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE
CURRENT YEAR

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial position and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2. ERBEBHBGHRELEE ([F

EMBRERER ) 2EF]
ZN

REAFERBIERNEBYH
s EAMERT A

RAFEE AEBEECEREATIAE
BEMAE ([EREHMAE])HE
e BEEMBRELRN BTN ZF
EFTARRBEEEHMBHRERMEN_-F
——F—-A-HHZEKRBNFEIE
5 1l AE 2

BAEVERELER COVID-19
F165R 2 BT A EBEELER

BT HRELELFG - FEREERE
RS LR FE39% —FoMER
BABEREERETR
BRI RS ERIE45
KBS BTSSR
F16H 2 BT A

RAFEERAEEMHEREEL ZEFT
AHEREEARFEBEFENMBER
BEARRE RZEES M BRRAH
MNBETESEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

2.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?®
Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 20217

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before
Intended Use?

Neo Telemedia Limited FEEEEBE R A

R (@)
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EEMEERER I EE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of

HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-202(?

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction?

Amendments to
HKAS 12

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

2021.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

2.

e B R
R B RO = =] A
ERBREBMBHmEEN ([F
BMBREELN]) &5
NED
CEMEERERZHTE S

R EEAREEBMBERE
B 2 & 7T A (80)

FEe £ BEAHN-ETT

i

FEITHR 2B A A KR pR A2
EEMIERE BB ISR %E
R ZIEFT AR A= N\F
ET-FTF
4 8 hE2
EBSERFEIR SHBEFE
MEEMERE
LR EBHRE
FEOSE ZBET AR
BB G ENFESH eiHETNEERS
ZABET AR
BB ST ELNF12H HE - HEE
ZABET A MEERAE
A B8 /0 I JE 7 780
d RZE-_—FWNA—HZ2ERBAZ
FEHREES -

& RZE-_—F—A—HZ2&FAKZ
FEHMAK-

g R-F_=F—-A—-HKZ2EKRAKZ
FREHREER -

< )Eé%iElEﬁﬁZ?éFfﬁﬁéZiEﬁﬁF‘aﬁi
BRTMFTEAMBRELNRE Y
BHREE ZIBTAINI RAREEE
MR A M BB HiRE £
REBVBHHREERZIBTEARAER
AREFEHEREMBRREKXNERY
@,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2.

BE—_FT-—Ff-FA=1—HIFFEF

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so
that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant assets and
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised)
and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early
application permitted. As at 31 December 2021, the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
which are subject to the amendments amounted to
HK$733,537,000 and HK$867,537,000 respectively. The
Group is still in the process of assessing the full impact of
the application of the amendments. The cumulative effect
of initially applying the amendments will be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
(or other component of equity, as appropriate) at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEEEEBE R A

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which
collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
HKASs and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk
of material adjustments in the next year are discussed in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.

BAGHEE

WEREVBRERDIBRIEMEERAES
BRELER(BEAEESTMAE
Mz FTA#E A ERIE B R 2%
Al - BB EERE BBLARE
TR B R BB D RMEHIZE Sk P KB X P
GEM#ES EmHRA ([GEM EWHREA])
ZEARBRGERE -

RATABBMBRELENZHEAME
BRE EEERFLAZERRER
REE RABE WARRAXZEZHREER
ZHE - AE RBRR A REERER
DIRERELBREESERAREEREB
ATEBARZHEMREMIEL RS
RERETZHEMENRRELZE
ERBEREEEDHGZER R
BRABEZEMEAAMTR B R
REFJEZ WA - B EEHEFZEFT
REEEIEr R IEBER&E
ZHEER AEEREIREENH
AR ERGE NERETRIELER
H RRFE] e (£ 12 BRFE HERR

FREEEERBEEMBERE LN
FIEL R A M B RRAERZENH
B U RABEREBRN T —FEEH
BERRAENGEHONEA M REM T

SEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$71,356,000 (2020: HK$127,571,000) for the year
ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$2,111,463,000 (2020:
HK$1,765,357,000). Notwithstanding the above, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of the going concern
basis is dependent upon the success of the Group’s future
operations, its ability to generate adequate cash flows in
order to meet its obligations as and when fall due and
its ability to refinance or restructure its borrowings such
that the Group can meet its future working capital and
financing requirements.

3.

on & BT R R M A

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

BANZETHBER (#)

mRE X (@)

o P HHEMS A FEFAESD
RE—F B _RHE = L FRH
ZEDIREBEAFEFENRAZIRA
BEREEMBAABRBYAFEAENE
BEEM FdhwT:

s FE-RBABREBDERNFEA
HALRENHAREEXKBER
ABRTIZHRE (REHE)

s B_RBABEBDNE-HAER
BN REENABERKMEE
ABRNEABE: &

s FERBABREBENEEXRRMED

NA] B 8 A B
REBEE_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILF
& AN B E £ 18 F 5 4971,356,000
BT (ZEZFF:127,571,000/8

o RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—8"
AEB v RDEEBRRAERDEE
#)2,111,463,0008 L (Z T L F:
1,765,357,000/8 7T ) © & & LA £ Byt -
AN HRRDIRBELERLERE
FECEEEZ HRIEBURN A EE R
REBZRRE - EEERMESREN
BITHEHI M BETZEN URHEEB
MENEAEEE RN UREAE
EHAREELESNMECTE -

4l

Annual Report 2021 —E_— £ £}

111



112

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the Group is able to
maintain itself as a going concern in the next twelve
months from the end of reporting period by taking into
consideration that:

(il

)

the cash flow projections can be achieved that
the Group would have sufficient working capital
to finance its operation and to meet its financial
obligations when they fall due within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period;

the net assets of the Group of approximately
HK$1,058,288,000 (2020: HK$1,101,022,000) as
at 31 December 2021, the Group should be able to
secure additional loan facilities, if necessary;

bank loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,116,462,000 (2020: HK$1,223,277,000)
as at 31 December 2021 that are repayable more
than one year after the end of the reporting period
pursuant to the repayment schedule included in
the loan agreements, with a repayment on demand
clause, have been classified as current liability as
at 31 December 2021 in accordance with Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause (“HK-Int 5”). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position and the security provided to the
banks, the Directors believe that the banks will not
exercise its discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that the bank loans
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g7 —&F ——

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

other loans with carrying amount of approximately
HK$407,887,000 (2020: HK$220,119,000) as at
31 December 2021 that are repayable more than
one year after the end of the reporting period
pursuant to the repayment schedule included in
the loan agreements, with a repayment on demand
clause, have been classified as current liability as
at 31 December 2021 in accordance with HK-
Int 5. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position and the security provided to the lenders, the
Directors believe that the lenders will not exercise its
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.
The Directors believe that the other loans will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements;

as at 31 December 2021, there were
unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$1,244,246,000 (2020: HK$674,501,000) which
are expiring between 2026 and 2032;

Dr. Lie, the substantial shareholder of the Company,
has committed to provide continuous financial
support to the Group to enable the Group to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the next twelve months from the date of approval
of the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021; and

On 10 March 2022, the Group entered into sale
and purchase agreement with independent third
parties to sell its entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Zituo at a total consideration of approximately
RMB475,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$589,600,000) (the “Disposal”). The Directors
are of the view that the Disposal provides the
Group with an opportunity to realise a capital gain
of considerable size to provide immediate cash for
the Group’s business development. The Disposal
is expected to be completed on or before 31 July
2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December each year. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expense of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interest according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between
(i the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, when applicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS

Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the
gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets.
The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If
the concentration test is met, the set of activities and
assets is determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Asset Acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
investment properties which are subsequently measured
under fair value model and financial assets/financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining
balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of
their relative fair value at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis and would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS OR ASSET
ACQUISITIONS (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets
or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of
the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOODWILL (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount
of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate and a joint venture is described below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified
as held for sale, in which case it is or the portion so
classified is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture that has not been classified as held
for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity
method. Under the equity method, an investment in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate or joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate
or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =

3.

- —Ff A=t —HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint venture
may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less cost
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

When the Group cease to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate and joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis
as would be required if that associates or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant
associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate become an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture become an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to
fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

When the Group reduce its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassified to profit or
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or a joint venture
are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is a company in which the Company directly
or indirectly controls more than half of the voting power,
or controls the composition of the board of directors.
Investments in subsidiaries are carried in the Company’s
financial statements at cost less impairment loss.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from trading of telecommunication products is
recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered
to customers generally on the time the related risks and
rewards of ownership has transferred.

Revenue from provision of data centre services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from commission income from the operations of
Internet finance platform is recognised at the point in time
when the borrower and lender was successfully matched.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss is equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefit to be derived
from the use of leased asset. Lease incentive granted
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method at the following rate
per annum:
Buildings Over the unexpired
lease terms of land on which
the building is erected

Over the term of the lease
20%-33.3%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
5%-33.3%

Leasehold improvements
Office equipment

Data centre and equipment

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is
carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and borrowing costs capitalised
for qualifying assets in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN LEASEHOLD
LAND AND BUILDING

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and the
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
s “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

3.

on & BT R R M A

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

BEANEEBER (@)

E - BB RRE (@

WME BEEREHRERLERLED
iit@ﬁﬁﬁE%éTFTE’%tXﬂiX?&%RﬂA
RRILER LEXBEDE -BE M
REBEEEZEMNRSEHEERHE
PIEREREERAERZZRETE
I 7 18 5 P HERR o

REETHREFHRAAERE
@

ThKEIS‘ZﬁZ%%FﬁE%% m B

ErkBTMERS  MAEKERE
&\ii’miﬁi@%ﬁ\%ﬂﬁ‘*ﬁﬁ R RS R
AR G2 B = M E BB 2 o fis 48 B8 5 3%

2”@8 EMA SERTE fﬁiaiiﬂzﬂ’ﬂié“

REAMBMART 2R EREE
El - MAEBEEINEEEE L mAIE
HEBFHORADEERZEAED
i -AMEREESBEAME BB AR
fhe

Annual Report 2021 —E_— £ £}

131



132

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics
are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of lease term as depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related accumulated deprecation and
impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA

3. ERGFTHR #)

R SEE D)
AEBEAKRBAN (@)
EHELE (18)

AR E A IR RS T B E R S ER 1S AR
MEEEENMAR AEREEER
e B HIE = A 2 B S HIfE m R4
E-DA EREEERAEMBAERS
FHRERNBREENERETE -

EASERNEHEMGESHEBEESR
ENAERE RTEBEEEZER
MHEAE R EEERA L M AE/E R
ENBEEBRSBREEDE BFE MR
fhae

AEEB I HEREVERFEEEN
EREEEINREE MBI RNBL
HE -

AR B BT
ENHAROEERSRETEMER
HEEABORARLIEATFEETIS
AR VIIRRER R B A FEMEN AR
WRREINEEN KA AEREEE
K7 o

KBRS A8 REBERZ A HARX
NEENKNREERNTEHER
E-HEEHEMNRNRER HEE
PR ENNENZEE AIAEES
RAGEHERMBHNEEEENEX-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payment include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase options, if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review, in
which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
less any lease incentives receivables based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021;
and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted
for as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

LEASING (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

(i)  Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an
operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to
assess whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes
a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale,
the Group as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use
asset arising from the leaseback at the proportion of the
previous carrying amount of the asset and recognises any
gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the
buyer-lessor only.

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a
sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise
the assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds as
borrowings within the scope of HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, except for exchange differences on monetary item
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in
associates/joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributable to non-controlling interests
as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation or a partial disposal
of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial assets), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation that does not result
in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences
are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit
or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The employees in the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in the PRC are members of retirement benefits scheme
(the “PRC RB Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefit obligation of all existing and
future retired employees of the PRC subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the PRC subsidiaries with respect to the PRC
RB Scheme is to meet the required contributions under the
PRC RB Schemes. The contributions are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based payments reserve). At the end
of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint venture, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relates to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated for intangible assets with finite useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful life
to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-
USE ASSETS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
OTHER THAN GOODWILL (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying
amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

INVENTORIES

Inventories, representing finished goods for resale, are
stated at the lower of costs and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA

BANZETHBER (8)

rE

FEEAHBEZ R M HERAR
Al IRREZ FNBEEIIR - FEKX
RAFANFR BT AEE A BB FEE
TFE T EERPTA G T 7T AR AR K ub
BHERAHE - ETHENLEMA
BREZBBRHENEERANRAE
B REITIHEMARENIEERA-

B%E

WAKEEBESHMAAERER
T MASERAIEABITZRAL
BEEr Mt BT o BE  BIARE
R

BRABRENEBEIEEEBREMMS
ME R R A EERER  RERRE S
ARBTREEEMFEREBZRKEMR
Ao MBENIZBETRART ZMAR
EREME EEEENZREHRRAESR
EZHE(HEBZRRAEBEZEEX)
AHEe

fidd LA B Bt 2 BB 1D Sk 2 BB AR B M a2
BEHERE =T KRE - EEE FERE
WEERE WS EREr 25t 26 Rl

U RIB S HERREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ACQUIRED IN
A BUSINESS COMBINATION

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination
are initially measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. At the end of the subsequent report periods,
such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher
of the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with HKAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest/dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA

BANZETHBER (8)

€RIE @&

ERMERANFESHREELTRAR
) B 5 S A K o B 4 B E R ) 6 B MK
ARFMBRAXZ 7% - BREMETIRA
PHARZTREELSRAETEY
FHISE A B B AR V) BR IR (A 5
REB WA RN (BREEKERF
EAARRBONAECHAERER
REB RS R B A B KB ER)
EREFERNE

BEARE—BEBROFE, LS
W\ 23 3 o

EMEE
EREENSERERTE

WR AT e B A 0 B B
AEHE

e NKBAHNBREREREMNZE
ERATHEZEREE: &

s ANKRREERHELZRS
MEMER/INARE RAREER
TZHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAXE@:tHE (&)

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) £@MIE @®\)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Classification and subsequent measurement of TREEN S ERAEETE (B)

financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: WfEa TIHEE BIemEENDER

FIEEE:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of D EDNEEUREHALEREN
selling in the near term; or i i A 3K

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of o RUSHERE EAREEHRE
identified financial instruments that the Group BrAa#eRmTAEEAGN—F
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of S WEABEHEMNNTHERE
short-term profit-taking; or V1)

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective e HEUWFETREAYEHMIAAE
as a hedging instrument. BEPTET Ho

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a e SN - 8 a0 1 BT SE BR skoK BB R D & AT 8

financial asset that are required to be measured at the fid - AR E AT e N AT BUSH S )E — 18

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing BB ARIE AT EF AR M EE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting WastEr emEENEAFEF AR

mismatch. AR

156 Neo Telemedia Limited FEHEEEBEF R A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(0

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments/
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For
financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group perform impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
accounts receivables, deposit and other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

For the other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above

asses

sment, the Group presumes that the credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition

when
days

contractual payments are more than 30
past due, unless the Group has reasonable

and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =

- —Ff A=t —HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

V)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of accounts receivable, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the basis
below:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables are each assessed
as a separate group. Loans to related parties
are assessed for expected credit losses on an
individual basis);

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g% — & —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts payable, other
payables and accruals and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

RELATED PARTIES

A related party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(8 A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(i

(viil)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i B TR R M A
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(o)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources, or
obligations between the Group and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if
their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its
present condition. Management must be committed to the
sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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4.

FroAS+—ALEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT

Determination on lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group applies judgment to determine the lease term
for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include
renewal option, specifically, the leases relating to data
centre and equipment. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable. Leases
are considered no longer enforceable when the Group as
the lessee and the relevant lessors both have the right to
terminate the lease without permission from the other party
with no more than an insignificant contractual penalty.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease term,
which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-assessment is
performed upon the occurrence of either a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances that is within the
control of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances including economic
incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the
options. Factors considered include:

° the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken by
Group;

° costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs);
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risk specific to the asset,
which required significant judgment relating to level of
revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount
that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable
amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue
and operating costs. At 31 December 2021, the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets were approximately HK$3,030,457,000 (2020:
HK$2,618,404,000) and approximately HK$773,920,000
(2020: HK$307,574,000), respectively. Details are
disclosed in Notes 17 and 18.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021 g7 —&F ——

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets
carried at amortised cost

The Group uses to calculate ECL for the financial assets
carried at amortised cost. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The is based on the
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, financial assets
carried at amortised cost with significant balances and
credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s financial
assets carried at amortised cost are disclosed in Note 6.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value-in-use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2021, the carrying amount of goodwill amounted to
approximately HK$116,047,000 (2020: HK$116,047,000)
(net of accumulated impairment loss amounted to
approximately HK$266,544,000 (2020: HK$266,544,000))
and carrying amount of intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$81,803,000 (2020: HK$101,231,000)
(net of accumulated amortisation and impairment loss
amounted to approximately HK$272,123,000 (2020:
HK$251,804,000)). Details are disclosed in Notes 19, 20
and 21.
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d.

- —Ff A=t —HIFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes borrowings disclosed in Note 29, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of
capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of the existing debt.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

6. #EtTH

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL SR T EER
INSTRUMENTS
2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHETT
Financial assets CRMEE
At amortised cost bivg: £ |
Accounts receivable JRE g BR 53R 142,660 90,808
Deposits and other receivables e M E M ERGRIE 181,727 103,393
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEY 20,198 31,143
344,583 225,344
Financial liabilities cHAas
At amortised cost birg £ 1D
Accounts payable AR X 147,271 52,811
Other payables and accruals H b & < 5RIB K FE RT5RIE 383,818 124,034
Lease liabilities HEAE 867,537 465,705
Borrowings CEN 1,841,800 1,601,122
3,240,426 2,243,672
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES

The Group’s financial instruments include accounts
receivable, deposits and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, accounts payable, other payables and
accruals, lease liabilities and borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currently risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial
risks of changes in foreign currency, interest rates and
price risk.

Market risk exposures are further measured by sensitivity
analysis. There has been no significant change to the
Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which
it manages and measures the risk. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the
Group’s transactions denominated and settled in the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. Most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are also denominated in the Group’s
functional currencies. Therefore, the Group has no
significant currency risk exposure as they are denominated
in a currency same as the functional currencies of the
group entities to which these transactions relate.
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BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. @t TH )
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT cHEREEEERBX (®)
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 35 B bR (40)
Interest rate risk Tl 7 b
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in rEEEGABEERRHAEARENAT
relation to borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group is BERERERE AEETEESBRZER
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to TEIMNRSTENERR - AEBE W
variable rate bank borrowings. The Group has no other EHMEAGFTEEENBE AEEHE
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities. Details of R BERGE B Wm K W20
the Group’s borrowings have been disclosed in Note 29 to o
the consolidated financial statements.
The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to IR B0 4 BT 37 AR B R 4 H DA S R A
hedge its exposure to interest risks. E# 2 = @ g o
The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly AEBZRERENERBEZEFR
concentrated on the fluctuation of the PRC Loan Prime AEBZANRBEEMEEZPRER
Rate arising from the Group’s RMB borrowings. The Group BEENKRE - AEE G HERT BMER
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group B REERIBEFR S KF KB SFE
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the ERFEEEGERNBEFE FEUE
potential impact arising from any interest rate movements I H A R g o
based on interest rate level and outlook.
Interest rate profile FIEBEH
The following table details the interest rate profile of the THRFAVWRRERRFEEBREEE
Group'’s borrowings and lease liabilities at the end of the BEZMEER
reporting period:
2021 2020
—B=-f “Z-%F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rates HK$’000 rates HK$'000
BERAIE FHT BEBRA% THT
% %
Variable rate: BEA =
Borrowings EES 4.60-7.05 1,366,797 7.75 1,601,122
Fixed rate: EERE:
Borrowings &3 6.00-8.00 475,003 N/AiE A =
Lease liabilities HEAR 3.24-9.06 867,537 3.24-8.22 465,705
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6.

CE - —F A=A —HIEFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate profile (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.

As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates
would increase/decrease the Group’s loss after tax and
accumulated losses by approximately HK$10,256,000
(2020: approximately HK$2,034,000). Bank balances are
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk
arising from variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

Price risk

The Group did not have investments in equity securities for
treasury purpose and therefore is not exposed to equity
price risk. The management has a policy to monitor the
Group’s exposure to price risk by maintaining a portfolio
of investments with different risk and return profiles and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalents, accounts receivable and deposit and
other receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is considered
to be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. The
existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past.
Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is
assessed to be close to zero and no provision was made
as of 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group applies the general approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
uses 12-month expected credit loss provision for all
financial assets carried at amortised cost. To measure
the expected credit losses, financial assets carried at
amortised cost have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit loss. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, financial assets
carried at amortised cost that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment. The Group
makes periodic assessments on the recoverability of the
receivables based on the background and reputation of
the customers, historical settlement records and past
experience.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses
an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed annually. Other monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

Majority of the Group’s revenue and accounts receivables
arise received from individual customers in relation to
sales of telecommunication products and services and
are transacted in cash or credit. As at the end of the year,
the top five debtors and the largest debtor accounted
for approximately 71% and 35% (2020: 63% and 45%),
of the Group’s accounts receivable balance. In view of
the history of business dealings with the debtors and the
sound collection history of the receivables due from them,
management believes that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding receivable balance
due from these debtors saved for the debtor related
to the impaired accounts receivable disclosed in the
below. Management makes periodic assessment on the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors and whether there are
any disputes with the debtors.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Accounts receivables are due within
90 to 210 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

6. @t T H ®)

< wh = B

EERR (&)

BE—T——

EER

FEFZHA=F—HIEFE

Z R BR (#|)

AEBEAIEERBRFRFEREAT

comprises the following categories: ¥Rl
Accounts Other financial
Internal credit rating Description receivable assets/other items
HitemEE
AEEEFR g FE W R HiE B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL-not

default and does not have any
past-due amounts

1K 2 B HFHELREEB W EF (e
KIE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due
dates but usually settle in full

BRZE BEHEARTERIPERERER

ErHAR

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

&8 BREBEXRPEELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

o sH BERBRPEBABREEKRIE

AAREEEERKEF S

not credit-impaired

>HEHREEEE
- RHEBREERE
Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
THEBEEER
—AEREERIE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
THEBEEER
—HREERIE

Amount is written off

TRCMEHE

credit impaired

2HEHBEEERE
—REREERE
Lifetime ECL-not
credit impaired
2HEBEEEE
—AEREERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
THEBEEER
—HREERE

Amount is written off

TREC A
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @RI TH @)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT SREREEBZERBE @)
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERER (#)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREALANEEAETEREERBF
the Group’s financial assets, accounts receivable and HreRMEE FBREFRUREZRERH
deposits and other receivables, which are subject to ECL ftb FE W RRIBfE B R AR :
assessment:
Internal credit
rating
A
RETR 2021 2020
ZB--F S 323
Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
FEAE FEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET THER
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHEBATEZERER
Accounts receivable Low risk 102,490 -
JEUY R 3% iR
Watch risk 48,669 100,454
BEAER
Loss 14,271 165,430 14,643 115,097
B8
Deposits and other receivables Low risk 175 -
Be REMEYE =B
Watch risk 178,301 106,622
BRAER
Loss 21,794 200,270 21,214 127,836
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @@ LTHE @

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT tREAKBEEEERBE (&)

OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERRE (&)

TRINTHEKER ZE M E MR
RARERREER 2 HEHREES

The following tables shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for accounts receivable,

deposits and other receivables and note receivable: 52 ) :
Accounts receivable JE W5 BR 5K

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHES 2 HIES
FEE#E FEE#R
(TREERME) (E8RE) st
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TAET FTHT FTHET
As at 1 January 2020 RZE-EF—A—H 18,442 26,611 45,053
- Transfer to credit-impaired ~-EAEERE (137) 137 =
- Impairment losses recognised ~ — 2 BRI EE 1B 2,108 1,831 3,939
— Reversal of impairment losses ~ — 2 B2 A{E 5 18 B @
recognised (11,804) - (11,804)
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HEMRBAR - (14,694) (14,694)
- Exchange adjustments —ERAR 446 1,349 1,795
As at 31 December 2020 and ~ A-ZT-ZTF+ A
1 January 2021 Z+—BRZZT=—F
—H—H 9,055 15,234 24,289
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — 2 B R(EE 1B 263 - 263
— Reversal of impairment losses ~ — 2 B A (E 5 1B B @
recognised (1,652) (761) (2,413)
- Exchange adjustments —EHRE 226 405 631
As at 31 December 2021 R-E-—%+—-R
=+—H 7,892 14,878 22,770
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

6. T H ®m

tREREEAEREE (®)

EERR (&)

me MH YRR

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHES 2HES
FEE#E FEEE
(UEEERME) (FERE) st
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
TAET FHET FTET
As at 1 January 2020 RZE-ZEF—A—H 12,681 4,671 17,352
- Transfer to credit-impaired -BAEENE (1,487) 1,487 =
— Impairment losses recognised ~ — 2 B (EE 1B 1,077 17,664 18,741
— Reversal of impairment losses ~ — 2 B E 1B & @
recognised (8,031) (219 (8,250)
- Disposal of subsidiaries —HEMRBAA (1,208) (3,605) @,811)
- Exchange adjustments —ERAR 195 1,216 1,411
As at 31 December 2020 and ~ A=ZF-FTF+ A
1 January 2021 =t-BRZZE-_—F
—H—H 3,229 21,214 24,443
- Impairment losses recognised ~ — 2 MR E 518 1,195 S 1,195
- Reversal of impairment losses ~ — O BE 2 (E 5 18 % @1
recognised (1,439) (6,195) (7,634)
- Exchange adjustments —EHRE 57 482 539
As at 31 December 2021 RZTZ—%
+=-R=+-H 3,042 15,501 18,543
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Note receivable

6.

ST HE @)

tREREEAEREE ®)

EERRE (&)
AEE

Lifetime

ECL

(not credit-
impaired)
2HITEH
FEER

(X EEERE)
HKD’000

FHET

As at 1 January 2020
— Reversal of impairment loss recognised

R-ZE-_EF—H—H
— BRI EEEED

10,297
(10,297)

As at 31 December 2020

RZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management of the Group monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenant.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Neo Telemedia Limited FEEEEBE R A
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. @@ LTHE @

=1 Gii =
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT SREREEBZRBE @)
OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEE SRR (®)
Weighted Within More than More than Total
average 1 year 1 year but 2 years but More contractual Total
effective oron less than less than than  undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
mE¥ 1FR 155 L 2F B L AHAME
BBRAE FEER EPESS B5FLT 5E0LE  REREBARE REAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FiET FER FEL FiET TER FEL
As at 31 December 2021 R-B--f£+ZA=t+-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 ¢ BE &
Accounts payable E R - 147,271 - - - 147,271 147,271
Other payables and accruals ) BERENT B - 383,818 - - - 383,818 383,818
Lease liabilities HESR 7.39 103,797 100,108 299,395 841,741 1,345,041 867,537
Borrowings (Note) R (M) 558 412,007 357,615 1,038,007 360,798 2,168,427 1,841,800
1,046,893 457,723 1,337,402 1,202,539 4,044,557 3,240,426
As at 31 December 2020 i

Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRAR
Accounts payable FEfER R - 52,811 - - - 52,811 52,811
Other payables and accruals AR FOR RIER TR - 124,034 - - - 124,034 124,034
Lease abilties HESE 6.44 250,032 28,448 74,245 281,199 635,924 465,705
Borrowings (Note) &30 (FEE) 5.05 231,940 260,339 835,308 599,363 1,926,950 1,601,122
660,817 288,787 900,553 80562 2739719 2243672
Note: Borrowings are classified as short-term liabilities in the MeE: BERREEMBRIRTIEARARE
consolidated statement of financial position as they will Hﬂ% & RAAEGREEEERD
be repaid upon demand, according to the demand clause BIEERKERKIREREE . Lt
of the relevant loan agreements. The above information é BRETREBERABZELNE
reflects the repayment schedules in accordance with the KR -
relevant agreements.
FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL TMIAZAFE
INSTRUMENTS
In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market- REFT AT ER  RNEBEEAAESH
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level MG BRI -EEEEBSE —AH
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third ABEBER AEEZEFE=FHERKME
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The BRETHE- FAEEEEERS &K
management of the Group works closely with the qualified SNEBEEMBEEGE AEEREEY
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation & R E R R A BUE -

techniques and inputs to the model.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group does not have financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis at the end of each reporting period. As to the
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on recurring basis, the management
of the Group considers that their carrying amount
approximate to the fair values.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

There were no transfer between Level 1, 2 and 3 in both
year.

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

AEERBZREPRLBULEEREE
BAFEFENEREERERAE-
HRAIFAE R ERER A FEFTEN
TREENEMAG AKEEEER
AEREEEQFERS-

AT
RREFE SR B_RRE=K
2 I3 48 ] 8 3

W&

BEPFANRSEEXERARBRE D
LIINE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THER FHET

Provision of data centre services REEE R ORE 604,732 324,685
Trading of telecommunication products BEEEHEM 511 115,762
605,243 440,447

Others (Note) H A, (PR EE) 9,931 24,461
615,174 464,908

Note: Others mainly represent income arising from provision of
system integration services and leasing of properties (2020:
others mainly represent income arising from provision of
system integration services, the provision of bus services
and leasing of properties).

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

on & BT R R M A

REVENUE (Gontinued) 7. Was )
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Disaggregation by timing of revenue B EREREE S
recognition:
At a point in time B 5 25 511 119,525
Over time & B ] 609,353 336,146
Revenue from other source E th 2R I 2 5,310 9,237
615,174 464,908

The Group has applied the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15.121 to which the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Revenue from trading of telecommunication products is
recognised at the point in time when goods are delivered
to customers generally on the time the related risks and
rewards of ownership has transferred.

Revenue from provision of data centre services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

AREBEREZTSFERE LS
5 12URERERERES  KREEDR
BERERERBHNZHE-

BEEEMEMIBaENERXNEERP
B OCRFNERMAERARRRKE R
B ) BERR o

K EREZED ORS 2 KSR TEE B
B BEAREHER REA /TP REKE
WREA AR BIRH A5 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

8.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains for the

years as follows:

H At WA e M 8

AEBFAEMBARKEIHMT

2021 2020
:g: - ﬂE — 7 — E'E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T AT
Bank interest income RITF B A 86 119
Government subsidy (Note) BT 2 RL (FIFE) 1,154 1,263
Other interest income H i F B WA 938 847
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE BEIEZHEZ
plant and equipment & 1,855 1,426
Gain from sale and leaseback transaction & & MR FES 2 Wik 33,330 =
Exchange gain B H 5 138 2,256
Sundry income HMIEBUA 378 1,100
37,879 7,011
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, iz Mz -_—F+-_A=+—
recognised government grants of HK$nil (2020: BIEFE: $%$ETJ€§/%EUH
HK$540,000) under the Employment Support Scheme BB IR B E AT B FE R BUT 8 B
launched by the Hong Kong government. There are no TET (:%:gi 540 00075
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to the JT) o B4 B % ﬁ B #8 E’]EHT
subsidy. REMIGH K AEIE-

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the board of Directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon which

the Group is organised and managed.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating

segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

- Provision of data centre services

- Trading of telecommunication products

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

on & BT R R M A

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEER @
The Group reportable segments are strategic business REBAI 2| BIEETRES 2
units that operate different activities. They are managed RIS EEBEN A %%%ﬁ%%& B1TME
separately because each business has different markets MG EXTRCMBHERE &9
and requires different marketing strategies. ERHETIERERE -
In addition to the above reportable segments, other Br Eii AT 23R D EHN K& & DI E
operating segments is mainly represent income arising ZHRIAERERZSAENRBEBRALREE
from provision of system integration services and leasing MERAN(ZZE_ZF - AMEZIER
of properties (2020: others mainly represent income arising BRHERGEKRBRA -BHAKZE
from provision of system integration services, the provision WA RBEEDERA) -
of bus services and leasing of properties).
SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS PR BEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and RO Z2mEEENEE D 2 AEE 2 |
results by reportable and operating segments: mREEITWOT
Provision of Trading of
data centre services telecommunication products Others Consolidated
REEE O RE ERENER Hit xS
2021 202 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“®=-f C-2-%% -8c-% C-%-%§ ZB--§ C-T-%F C-Bc--§ C-2C%%
HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSOOO  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKS000
TR TFi#n TR TFiEn THT T T T
Revenue e 604,732 324,685 511 115,762 9,931 24,461 615,174 464908
Segment restlts AEEHE (60,129) (85.554) P (33,099 (9,149) (19.925) 69255 (138578)
Interest income FIBRA 1,024 966
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HEMBA A2 M - 2,535
Other income and gains HitA R 36,855 6,045
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ RARAFRE (30,088) (10,960)
Loss before tax BEAEE (61,464) (139,992)
Income tax (expenses)/credit R (%) /84 (9,892) 12,421
Loss for the year FRER (71,356) (127,571)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

9.

BE—_FT-—Ff-FA=1—HIFFEF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

SEGMENT REVENUES AND RESULTS
(Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There was no
inter-segment sales in both year. The accounting policies
of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results
represent the profit or loss from each segment without
allocation of interest income, central administration
costs, Directors’ emoluments, finance costs, gain on
disposal of subsidiaries, other income and gains, and
other unallocated costs. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

\

N

K
77 28

N =

N/
S
el

(8

mE

THERENES (&)

EXEH 2z BRBEERBINFELZ
W -MEFERES>EEEE KL
DI G BREM 3R 2 A
S BEAR - DBREERKEZNR
Z g N 2 B 1R - 3 D B R B - R
RITBER EFME BMEXEL HE
B E 2 e A R e K A
ARDEAA IR ERD MO8
REAFEMATELERRELITER
ZITE e

THEERAR

AEBRAZBREEDRENDZEE
REBBDHIT:

Provision of Trading of
data centre services telecommunication products Others Consolidated
REGEPLRE EEERER it fxs)

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“¥--f  “B-%F  ZRc-F “ECFE RS- CTORF . ZRS-F 0 CBCRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TFin TR Ti#n TEn TEL TEn TEL
Segment asset PEAE 4,270,500 3,296,982 2 34 156,078 126,853 4,426,580 3,423,869
Unallocated corporate assets KRARDAEE 12,652 13,371
Consolidated assets FRAE 4,439,232 3,437,240
Segment liabilties HERE 3,273,547 2,276,344 - - 78,221 46,616 3,351,768 2,322,960
Unallocated corporate liabilties FARDAGE 29,176 13,258
Consolidated liabiities GAAE 3,380,944 2,336,218

For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and REEIENRARIESEHZE
allocating resources between segments: IR -

BRI ERAEE(ZZRRES
TIEMNRIE S K EH AL R YRR
ARME - -BEREE)IN B

BEOOIRELENTE R

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other °
than unallocated corporate assets (mainly comprising
certain of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables and property, plant and equipment); and

BRASEARNABE(ZTZRER
i FE A SR IR ) EET ARIR) SN PR A

BEASRERES R

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments °
other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly
comprising other payables and accruals).
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION

Provision of Trading of
data centre services telecommunication products
REABDORE EREAER
2021 2020 2021 2020

Z$=-f  CT-TE . R0-F 0 CRCEf
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000

9. DEEF &

Others Unallocated Consolidated
L0 B &a
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

=t =l Sk £ “§--§  -3CTF ZBD-F C3CT%
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$ 000

TER FiER FRn FER FEn FER TR TER FEn FER

Amount included in the measure of

segment result
Adation to non-current assets” 892,056 747,425 = = 301 5% 9 = 892,366 748,020
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 63,731 37515 - - 1,022 4,594 1,204 2,588 66,157 44,697
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,121 17,060 - - 1,566 1,249 1,245 1,410 30932 19719
Amortisation of intangible assets 19,428 19,428 - 3512 - 0 - - 19,428 23,030
Write offimpairment loss recognised in

respect of intangible assets - - - 33,358 - - - S - 33,358
Net change in impairment losses under

expected credt loss model (8,703) (2.997) - (4,089) 122 8,443 (¢] (9,048) (8,589) (7671)

*

Additions to non-current assets included property, plant
and equipment.

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the measure of segment results
or segment assets:

Provision of Trading of
data centre services telecommunication products
RUBRTOER ERERER
2021 2020 2021 2020

—®--%  -T-TF 8- CT-%F
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000

- REFRDEEBEDE BE IR
o

EHRHTIELERREETIEEN
DREXEIDFEENENSHE:

Others Unallocated Consolidated
L0 38 &&
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

C e S = L SR S
HK$'000 HK§ 000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000

FER TEL F#n FEn F#n FEn F#n FEn F#n FEn
Interest income FEKA 1,020 106 - - 3 13 1 847 1,024 966
Finance costs RARE 46,802 11567 - 4991 37 416 0 106 46,909 17,069
Income tax expenses/(credt) fighiRx/ (E%) 9911 (14,115) - - - - (19 1604 9,892 (12.421)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Gontinued)

Information about major customers FEXRPZEHM
Revenue from major customers of the corresponding year RBBEFEGEASEEEWEBIR10% 8
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group KEFEEFPZWENAT
are as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Customer A3 BEPAS - 115,587
Customer B?? BEFEBe - 57,374
Customer C2 4 BFEC 149,654 =
149,654 172,961
1 Trading of telecommunication products. L BEEEMEMD-

e Provision of data centre services.

. No information on revenue is disclosed for this customer
since it contributed less than 10% to the Group’s revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

s No information on revenue for prior years is disclosed for
this customer since it contributed less than 10% to the
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical
location of the customer, and non-current assets
information is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. PEEF

Geographical information (Continued) EE R ()

The Group’s revenue from external customers and ZiEE D o AEERBIINBE S 2K
information about its non-current assets by geographical ERBBEIERDEE CERFM N
location are detailed below: ™~

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*
REMPEFHRA FREBEE"
31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2021 2020
“E--F e S =22
“B=-% _T-ZTF tZA=t+-B tZA=1—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TEx TR TAT
Name of the region HfE %
Hong Kong e - - 1,837 708
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong)  # Bl (F81EEE) 615,174 464,908 4,014,900 3,145,195
615,174 464,908 4,016,737 3,145,903

*

Information about the Group’s non-current assets, other * FRASEZIERBEE CELERHIR

than deferred tax assets, is presented based on the BEBRMNZERDEEEZHES
geographical location of the assets. DEF| -
FINANCE COSTS 10. B & A AR
2021 2020
—E=—-F —EEHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Bank loan interest expenses RITEFRFEFRAX 64,315 67,463
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENE 45,066 24,508
Other loan interest expenses EMEZRFERAX 26,689 13,930
136,070 105,901
Less: Capitalised in construction in R YE - BB R
progress under property, plant REHERNMELRRE
and equipment (Note 17) (PfF5E17) (89,161) (88,832)
46,909 17,069
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

11. INCOME TAX 1. T
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Hong Kong Profits tax BEBEFIEH

- Current tax —BIHAR I8 = =
— Over provision for prior year —BAFEHEERE (20) -
(20) -

PRC Enterprise Income tax PR ERERN
— Current tax —BNHAR 1 15,321 1,169
— Over provision for prior year —BAFEBERE - (1,233)
15,321 (64)
Deferred tax (Note 30) EFER IR (HIFES0) (5,409) (12,357)
Total income tax expense/(credit) FTeBiFx, (%) B8 9,892 (12,421)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2,000,000 of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above
HK$2,000,000.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as
the Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from,
Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain subsidiaries of the Company, being qualified as
a new and high technology enterprise, are eligible for a
preferential Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15%.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as follows:

11. FT15 8 (@)

FRAEHRAS (BR)HBiKAaBE
N EL At 2 T S 2 2k PR BR 5 AT ES 48 T BR 40
T

2021 2020
=EB=—F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Loss before tax brEiAIEE (61,464) (139,992)
Tax at domestic income tax REBAVEERES R
rates applicable to profits in 38 F R 2N Hb BT 1S B B R
the respective jurisdiction (note) STEMBIE (M) (25,979) (29,422)
Tax effect of expense not deductible R ATTI=RA NI ] %3
for tax purpose A oM TE 4,095 19,790
Tax effect of income not taxable for BT S BERD
tax purpose WAZ RS2 (3,959) (17,544)
Over provision for prior year BEFEBREEE (20) (1,233)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRBEEZHRGETE 44,299 6,578
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses EABTRERTIBEEE
previously not recognised Hpee (7,507) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAUNMBREREE
differences not recognised Brea (1,087) 9,410
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year ~ EREFEFHS (HR) 9,892 (12,421)

Note: As the Group operates in several different jurisdictions,
the tax rate applied in the tax reconciliation represents the
weighted average domestic tax rates of the individual tax
jurisdiction.

Details of deferred tax are set out in Note 30.

M- AR ARERZE TR ADEERL S
B HHESRER W IR E @R
T AR 2 INAE I AR B R 55

EIEBLIA 2 FE 18 B M RE30 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

12. LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BRI E 18
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBOBRRATEEIRINE, (GTA)
(crediting): THTE B BRER:
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx FHT
Staff costs, including Directors’ BINAK BIEEEHE

remuneration (Note 14) (M5E14)

— Salaries, wages and other benefits — e ILEREMET 50,793 42,584

— Contributions to retirement —iRREFIFT 85K

benefits schemes 4,260 1,690
Total staff costs BB TR 55,053 44,274
Depreciation of property, ME - BMERZETE

plant and equipment (Note 17) (FF#E17) 66,157 44,697
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE (H:318)

(Note 18) 30,932 19,719
Amortisation of intangible assets* (Note 20) #& 2 & = # &5~ (Ffi7%20) 19,428 23,030
Total depreciation and amortisation ITE R B 116,517 87,446
Net change in impairment losses EHEEBEEEA T2

under expected credit loss model VEREY = Wb cp =) (8,589) (7,671)
Write off/impairment loss recognised in MEPEERR M

respect of intangible assets (Note 20) WEEE (M5E20) - 33,358
Auditors’ remuneration ZERT B

- audit service — B %R 830 830

— non-audit service —FEEZIRT 168 198
Expenses relating to short term leases B EIHE RIKEE

and low value leases HEMRBE A 607 2,119
Cost of inventories recognised as expense B R AR 217 &K A 477 116,045
x The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included * FANEFEEMHET AGEERRE

in “Administrative and other expenses” in the consolidated HEmkaRe [TTBRREMER] -
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. IR E1E
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share ARAREEABLFASRERREE
attributable to owners of the Company for the year is BB IDIEA T 8BTS

based on the following data:

2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHET
Loss for the year attributable to PN/NSIE PN RS
owners of the Company and loss EBEERARGEESR
for the purpose of basic and diluted AERREEBE BB
loss per share (62,667) (110,344)
2021 2020
—B-—F —E-FF
’000 000
F TR
Weighted average number of ordinary BRFAEERERK
shares for the purpose of basic and BEEE 2 LmAR A
diluted loss per share 1588 9,522,184 9,522,184
The computation of diluted loss per share for the years HE-_T-—FR_ZF=-FTF+=-HA
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 does not assume the = +t—HILEFEZESRESEEFEL
exercise of share options since the exercise prices were ERIERERETE REATEES
higher than the average share price. REHRRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 g7 — & ——

FroAS+—ALEE

) = o ol
14. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS EEH
2021 2020
= k-t 4:3
Salaries, Contributions Salaries, Contributions
wages  Share-based to retirement wages  Share-based to retirement
and other payment benefits and other payment benefits
Fees benefits expenses schemes Total Fees benefits €xpenses schemes Total
¥& 18k YRBAER RIER ¥4 TER HRHAEY RN
Names of directors j £4:2 He HBER  HHREX SEHR a3t e EibEH BRREX HEER 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FiEn FiEn FiEn FiEn TiEn FEL TEL TEx THL
Executive directors: HrES:
Dr. LIE Haiguan (Note &) SRR (Mita) 360 2,640 - 3 3,036 270 1,980 - a 2217
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai RERAE 240 1,190 = 36 1,466 240 1,190 - 36 1,466
Mr. XU Gang (Note b) REEE (Wib) © o - - - 63 62 S 4 129
Mr. TAO Wei ks 120 362 - - 482 120 274 - - 394
M, WU Di (Note ¢) fEEE (Hic) 120 - - - 120 57 - - - 57
Non-executive director: F917Es:
Dr. LIE Haiquan (Note a) PR T (Mita) - - - - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors:
Ms. Xl Lina 144 - - - 144 144 - - - 144
Mr. HUANG Zhixiong 132 - - - 132 132 S S S 132
Mr. ZHANG Zihua RTE* (ZHANG Zihua)
pit:3 180 - - - 180 180 S - - 180
1,296 4192 = 72 5,560 1,206 3,506 - 67 47179
Notes: B 5
a)  Redesignated from non-executive director to executive a) R-ZE_ZFENMA-HAFWRTES
director on 1 April 2020. HERNTES-
b)  Resigned on 10 July 2020. by RZZE-ZTF+A+HEHE-
c)  Appointed on 10 July 2020. ) RIZZEZTFLAT+HEZRfE-

Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai was also the chief executive officer
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for service rendered by him as the chief

Neo Telemedia Limited FE#E

executive officer for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the Directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

FEREHRRAA

REELENARDATRAEE  £X
FrRE AHM RN RE T —
i&-%:§¢+—ﬂ:+—a¢¢§

rvu

BE_ZT-_—F+-_A=t+—HL#F
B BESFHRARE
ZR(ZE_TF &) -

Hz_Z-_—Fr-_FT-_ZTF+_A
=+ HBLEFE AEEVTERNERY
MEMAMME  EAMAREMAREE
W2 SRENVSIE RBER A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

15. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 15. k= F B ERIA L
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEBRAESFHENALA WE
Group, two (2020: two) were Directors whose emoluments (Z2ZZF MB)RESF KEZ2H
are included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of MEREXHEZR -FRN -EBp=% (=%
the remaining three (2020: three) highest paid individuals ZEF=R)ERRFMNER AL ZFH
during the year were as follows: BT -
2021 2020
—E-—-F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Salaries, wages and other benefits He ITENMEMETR 2,320 2,275
Contributions to retirement RREFFT B R
benefits schemes 113 108
2,433 2,383
The emoluments of the remaining three (2020: three) EHR=F2 (22 _FF - =ZB)Z= %M
highest paid individuals fell within the following bands: FERALTZHFMA T ATEHE N
2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FF
Emolument bands s E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018 0%
1,500,000/ T 1 1
During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest FRAEBEBER AL RS H BE?
paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining AT ZAHEMBE EAMARKEMA
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2020: AEBF 2 RESEABBEE (T
Nil). ZTF ) e
At 31 December 2021, none of Directors held share RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—H EFWL
options under the Company’s share option schemes. ERBEARNGERETESEEERE-
Details of the share options are disclosed under the EABERECFBEIRESSRE (B
paragraph “Share option schemes” in the report of the ARAEETE ] —ER R M EG2h 4% 5R o

directors and Note 32.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

16. DIVIDENDS 16. i B
BERHZ2 S -_—FR_ZT_FF
T A=+ —HUEFERMNSEZTM
&8 BmEREIEEZKMNER
f% 8 o

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  17. W% - = &35 &

202

Leasehold Office Furniture Motor Data centre Construction
Buildings  improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles  and equipment in progress Total
HEPLR
BF HENERE BAERE BRAREE RE RE ERIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TAL TEL TAL FEL TAL TR
Cost

As at 1 January 2020 R=Z=%5-f-8 94,691 20,314 21,144 4832 15,303 410,139 1,204,099 1,770,622
Exchange realignment EXRE 6,306 2,066 1,824 265 954 28,086 129,032 168,032
Additions wE S 1,516 776 193 - 46 745,489 748,020
Disposal HE - - (866) 6] (236) - - (1,108)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) i & KB 2 A (i z£35) - 2 (1,758) - (15,255) - - (17,040)

Transfer from construction in BERRIRE

progress - - - - - 15,164 (15,164) -
Capitalisation of borrowing cost AREEHAA (FzE0)

(Note 10) S S S = S = 86,832 88,832
As at 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 100,996 23,869 20,620 5,287 766 453435 2,152,288 2,757,261
Exchange realignment 3,525 617 701 132 8 14,997 69,807 89,787
Additions - 165 775 91 486 - 904,964 906,481
Disposal 2,922) = (441) (28) = (614,660) = (618,051)
Reclasstfied as held for sale ENPRARKELE (5,901) - - - - - - (5,901)
Transfer from construction in BERERIRE

progress 56,997 - - - - 778,414 (835.411) -
Capitalisation of borrowing cost ERCERAA (K310)

(Note 10) S = S = S = 89,161 89,161
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-Z-F+-A=+-H 152,695 24,651 21,655 5482 1,260 632,186 2,380,809 3,218,738
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE

impairment
As at 1 January 2020 R-F-Z4-A-B 13,742 8,866 14,655 3410 10,115 48,244 = 99,032
Exchange realignment EiBE 1,173 1,669 935 190 763 4979 - 9,609
Charge for the year FAXH 4,338 5,722 2,119 477 2,425 20616 - 44,607
Disposal tE - - (823) §] (115) - - (o)
Disposal of subsidlaries (Note 35) &M BAF ( Hi335) - (27) (1,086) - (12,427) - - (13,540)
As at 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 19,253 16,130 15,800 4,074 761 82,839 - 138,857
Exchange realignment 600 449 444 102 1 2,813 - 4,409
Charge for the year 4,649 4,240 1,794 28 14 55,178 - 66,157
Disposal = = (421) 28) = 20,699) = 21,142
As at 31 December 2021 R-Z--%+-A=+-H 24,502 20,819 17,617 4,430 776 120,137 - 188,281
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2021 WZBZ-%+ZF=+-8 128,193 3,832 4,038 1,052 484 512,049 2,380,809 3,030,457
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ-TF+-A=1-A 81,743 7,739 4,820 1,213 5 370,596 2,152,288 2,618,404
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Continued)

On 26 July 2021, the Group and an independent third
party (the “Purchaser”) entered into sale and lease
agreements pursuant to which (i) the Group agreed to
sell and the Purchaser agreed to acquire a data center
and the equipment installed therein at a consideration
of approximately RMB635,912,000 (exclusive of VAT)
(equivalent to approximately HK$766,528,000)(the
“Disposal’); and (i) the Purchaser agreed to lease the
data center and equipment to the Group for a term of 15
years starting from the completion date of the Disposal
(the “Completion”) with an early termination option after
12 years from the Completion. The sale and leaseback
transaction was completed on 15 December 2021 and the
data center and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$593,967,000 has been derecognised
from the property, plant and equipment. The lease liabilities
arising from the lease agreements of approximately
HK$556,422,000 are recognised with the related right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$431,160,000 at the

Completion.

As a result, the Group has recognised a gain on the
sale and leaseback transaction of approximately
HK$33,330,000 that is included in other income and gains

for the year ended 31 December 2021.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

17. V% BE ARG &)

R —F+tA-+ A KA&EFH
BYE=F (BRI ZEEHZ
Bl )\ AEBRELEREFRER
BEEPLLMEMTEZEHE RED
AR #635,912,0007T (B FEEETH)
(HEEMN#H766,528,000/ T) ([HE
EE|) EMEARZHEED O LR
BEHATAEE AHESHEEK AN
(IR AH15F WABBTK
BEH12F B ZIRAIKRIEREE-E%4 8
BXSN _E-_—F+-_A+HBZT
BX -+ T B % (B #9593,967,000578 7T Y 8
BRLEREEEWE BEREZHR
IR CRTREEREEREES
2 T E 8 F#9556,422,0007% 7T & 1H 4
{5 FA #E & 2 #9431,160,000/8 7T

At "EEERREREARRZH 2K
# 4933,330,000/8 7T - A B FFABZE
T F+A=+—HIFEZHAM
L ONSE 6

18. (EMEEE

Building leased

for ownuse  Land use rights Total
HEBRAZ

HEET T fERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THL THT

As at 1 January 2020 AZZZTF—-H—H 45,499 38,484 83,983
Additions NE 225,486 - 225,486
Depreciation charged HERX (18,899) (820) (19,719)
Exchange realignment PEH AR 15,311 2,513 17,824

As at 31 December 2020 and RZEZTE+Z

1 January 2021 kB —F— 267,397 40,177 307,574
Additions NE 481,757 - 481,757
Depreciation charged WERY (30,053) (879) (30,932)
Exchange realignment IE 5 5% 14,436 1,085 15,521
As at 31 December 2021 RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H 733,537 40,383 773,920
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

1. For both years, the Group leases building for its operations.
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms of
5 months to 20 years (2020: 3 months to 20 years), but
may have extension and termination options as described
below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of
the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

2. The Group has extension and/or termination option in
a lease for building used for own use. This is used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The extension and
termination option held is exercisable only by the Group and
not by the lessor. The Group reassessed whether it was
reasonably certain to exercise an extension or termination
option upon the occurrence of either a significant event
or a significant change in circumstances that is within the
control of the lessee. No addition lease liability of the Group
regarding to the extension and/or termination option was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020.

8 In addition, the Group is the registered owner of a piece
of leasehold land where one of the data centre projects is
primarily located. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire this property interest.

4. At 31 December 2021, the Group is committed to
HK$74,000 (2020: HK$2,165,000) for short-term and
low-value leases.

58 The total cash outflow for leases amount to HK$23,283,000
(2020: HK$23,023,000) for the year ended 31 December
2021.

6. The Company has expenses related to short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets of HK$607,000 (2020:
HK$2,119,000) during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

19. GOODWILL 19. B2
HK$’000
FAT
Cost 2%
As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, R=—Z_ZFF—H—H -
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —E-BFt+=-H=t+—8"
—E-—F—F—HK
—E-—®#+=-H=+—H 382,591
Accumulated impairment it EE
As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020, HR_-_ZT_-_ZTHF—/F—H-
1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 —EEF+=-A=+—8-
—F—4F—HA—HK
—E-—%+-A=+—H 266,544
Carrying values IREE
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZB-_—%+=-A=+—H 116,047
As at 31 December 2020 RZTEZTHE+-_HA=+—H 116,047
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BV B E
Contracted
and Lottery
Wireless  uncontracted software Internet
network customers  development Computer finance
platform relationships system software License platform Total
EHEDS
KT #2 YERH ERA
ERARTA EFBA& BRAL G AR SRTAR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEL FEr TR TEx TR TR
Cost RA
As at 1 January 2020 RZEZZF-F-H 20,709 350,176 894 8,940 17,450 23,939 422,108
Disposal of subsidiary (Note 35)  HEMBRF (Fi:E35) - - - - - (885) (885)
Written off (Note) HsE () - (70,227) - - - = (70,227)
Exchange alignment ERAZ 1,379 - 59 595 - 6 2,039
Asat 31 December2020and R=B=Bf
1 January 2021 +ZA=t-8K
—2--%-f-H 22,088 279,949 953 9,535 17,450 23,060 353,035
Exchange alignment 5% 604 - 26 261 - - 891
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=-§
+=A=t-H 22,692 279,949 979 9,79 17,450 23,060 353,926
Accumulated amortisation R BHRAE
and impairment
As at 1 January 2020 W=B-Z5-5-H 20,709 201,807 894 8,940 8,290 23,652 264,292
Written off (Note) g8 (i) - (36,869) - - - = (36,869)
Charge for the year FRXH - 21,352 - - 1,588 0 23,030
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) &M@ 2 7 (F3£35) = = = = = (685) (685)
Exchange alignment ERAE 1,379 - 59 595 - 3 2,036
Asat 31 December 2020and R-Z-Bf
1 January 2021 +ZB=t-8K
—E--5-f-8 22,088 186,290 953 9,535 9,878 23,060 251,804
Charge for the year FRZ - 17,840 - - 1,588 = 19,428
Exchange alignment ERRE 604 - 26 261 - - 891
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=Z-f
+ZA=+-R 22,692 204,130 979 9,79% 11,466 23,060 272,123
Carrying values REE
As at 31 December 2021 RZB=-%
+ZA=t-R S 75,819 - - 5,984 - 81,803
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZ%F
+-R=t-H - 93,659 - - 7,572 - 101,231
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

21.

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:

Wireless network platform 5 years

Contracted and uncontracted customer 4-10 years
relationship

Lottery software development system 3 years

Computer software 3-5 years

License 5-10 years

Internet finance platform 5-10 years

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2020, the customer
relationships contract with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$33,358,000 were fully written off as the
contract was ceased.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and
intangible assets with definite useful life set out in Note
19 and Note 20, respectively, have been allocated to the
following groups of cash-generating units:

o Provision of data centre services and other
information technology related services — Bluesea
Mobile Group

° Provision of data centre services — Guangzhou
Nowtop

20.

21.

‘| EE (#)

NEEBVEEZARFHER ZFE
FEEBETIABAVER AT FHI#H -

mEBBETA 54
BEHRKTHS 4-10%
= 5 HE

YERHEERR 3%
B E 3-54
graTE 5-10%
EMBeMTA 5-10%

Wi REZE-T-FF+-A=+—F
L & - B %8 933,368,000 TE
MEFHAANERANKLNS
B3

BENMELEEZRER

G2

sURERIA M S - M 19K 5202 5l

FEAARAEAFHNBERETLE
ECoRENTREEELEMAER:

e REBEBPLERHEMEMEES
MEBRORSE-FHEeEBRE

o REBEBHLRE-BEMER
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of goodwill (net of accumulated
impairment losses) allocated to these units are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

 BEREREEZRE

ENC)

BEZEmE (R RFRESE) D
FEETHIEL

2021 2020

—E-— “E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TEx FET

Bluesea Mobile Group ENEREAES 36,246 36,246
Guangzhou Nowtop BMEH 79,801 79,801
116,047 116,047

In addition to goodwill and intangible assets above,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(including allocation of corporate assets) that generate
cash flows together with related goodwill and intangible
assets are also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP

The recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile Group has
been determined based on its value in use calculation. The
material unobservable inputs of the valuation included 1)
cash flow projection based on a financial budget covering
a five year period approved by management; 2) pre-tax
discount rate of 14.39% (2020: 16.0%) per annum for
the cash flow which reflects the time value of money and
the credit risk specific to the cash generating units; 3)
steady 2% (2020: 2%) growth rate for cash flow beyond
5 year which reflects the growth rate of relevant industry.
The management believes that any reasonable possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group to
exceed aggregate recoverable amount of Bluesea Mobile
Group.

Based on the valuation report issued by an independent
professional valuer, the recoverable amount exceeds
the carrying amount of Bluesea Mobile Group and no
impairment charge was necessary.
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22.
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BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 21, B2 M EFE E 2 R E 8
AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) = (&)
GUANGZHOU NOWTOP BEMNEHR
The recoverable amount of Guangzhou Nowtop has been BMEHR ZTH&@%%EEETF HERAE
determined based on its value in use calculation. The B EmMET HEMNERTAIERE
material unobservable inputs of the valuation included 1) A& TF’P]?‘@ YVERKEREHE 2R
cash flow projection based on a financial budget covering EnFHUKER E’Jiﬁj’:?ﬁ%?ﬁ Al 2)
a five year period approved by management; 2) pre-tax BF15.78% (Z T _FF :15.46% ) &Y
discount rate of 15.78% (2020: 15.46%) per annum for ﬁ*%ﬁﬁ REMENMRE (HRMEKR
the cash flow which reflects the time value of money and MEBEUAMESELSEMNNEEEER
the credit risk specific to the cash generating units; 3) B2) 35 F A LS MEZ2% (ZF =
steady 2% (2020: 2%) growth rate for cash flow beyond TFE 2% )MBEERE (HRMEAR
5 year which reflects the growth rate of relevant industry. TEMERER) - BERERE FUZE
The management believes that any reasonable possible BET2EANEEAEED TS EE
change in any of these assumptions would not cause BINER 2 BEEHEBRAENER 2]
the aggregate carrying amount of Guangzhou Nowtop L QEIFCE:
to exceed aggregate recoverable amount of Guangzhou
Nowtop.
Based on the valuation report issued by an independent BRIEBEHMHEMDANBERS
professional valuer, the recoverable amount exceeds the F)\léf%ﬁ’]THﬁZ@ﬁ%ﬁti@ﬁE@@ g
carrying amount of Guangzhou Nowtop and no impairment EEELRESE-
charge was necessary.
INVENTORIES 22. 7 &
2021 2020
—B=--F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Finished goods SR o 2,276 2,417

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
conducted a review of the Group’s inventories and no
impairment loss was recognised (2020: HK$Nil).

REE-—ZE-_—F+-A=+—HL1LF
E EFHASENFEETRN B
WERRTMABREBR (ZE_FF:
TEIT) -
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23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 23. YR X
2021 2020
—E--F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FET
Accounts receivable JFEE Uit B 3R 165,430 115,097
Less: Allowance for ECL B EREEERRE (22,770) (24,289)
142,660 90,808
The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days AEBHETHESREPFHOR (ZF
(2020: 90 days) to its trade customers. The following is an ZEF0R)MEER - RImEHARKR
ageing analysis of accounts receivable, net of accumulated BEAMES 2 ERERR (KR AR
allowance for ECL, presented based on the invoice date at EEBBRGEE) 2RO
the end of the reporting period:
2021 2020
—E--F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FET
Within 30 days 30H A 31,351 35,246
31 to 60 days 31£60H 14,338 14,210
61 to 90 days 61290H 12,361 8,867
91 to 180 days 912180H 40,479 19,915
Over 180 days BiB180H 44,131 12,570
142,660 90,808
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 24. TERTEIE - & R E A E I
OTHER RECEIVABLES B
2021 2020
B —E_THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Prepayment A FE 57,505 40,303
Deposits e 142,727 72,227
Deposit paid for land use right MEHERESN RS 20,000 20,000
Other receivables H e W SRIE 57,543 55,609
277,775 188,139
Less: allowance for ECL B IBHEEEERE (18,543) (24,443)
259,232 163,696
Less: non-current portion B IEREE
Prepayment for property, M- BE MREZ
plant and equipment TR FUE (14,510) (2,647)
Current Portion mEEL D 244,722 161,049
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk ERASBEEERE RES R EMER
arising from deposits and other receivables are set out in HEEAZEERRE CE—FFBEEHRN
Note 6. MI7E6 ©
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. e hBHEFEY
2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Cash in hand and at bank FERETRS
HKD BT 762 1,806
RVB ARE 19,433 29,334
USD E 3 3
20,198 31,143

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

on & BT R R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

Annual Report 2021 —E_— £ £}

211



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand and
balance with banks.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranged from
0.001% to 0.35% (2020: 0.001% to 0.35%) per annum at
31 December 2021.

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies;
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Company is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through authorised banks to conduct foreign
exchange business.

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The following is an ageing analysis of accounts payable
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

25.

20.

HelMeHEEBY @)

RekReSEYRETFRRE RIRT
KR

RN-ZE-_—FE+=-_A=+—8 8176
B ¥™ %5 & F N F0.001% £0.35%
ZZE-FH:0.001% F0.35% )5t B o

ARBTGERLRBHEMES R
AR A% o B P 3t B O T 3R AR D) B A B
EEMNEEERTE ARAAEEEB
BAEITIMEXEBMRITHEARE L1k
REMER-

P B X

RBEARRERHRA2 5|0 RR
HBRER DT AN :

2021 2020

—E--F —ECTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FTHET

Within 30 days 30HA 38,002 28,535
31 to 60 days 31%60A 26,946 4,235
61 to 90 days 61%90A 16,126 2,455
Over 90 days #B3890AH 66,197 17,586
147,271 52,811

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
90 days (2020: 90 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables
are settled within the credit timeframe.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/

CONTRACT LIABILITIES BHEE
() OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS () HiEMARERETRIE
2021 2020
—E--F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Other payables Hh & FUE 374,491 111,655
Accruals JEST A 18,105 12,379
392,596 124,034
Less: non-current portion W IERB L
Other payables H {th &1 5K I8 (8,778) =
Current portion ViEk: ke 383,818 124,034
() CONTRACT LIABILITIES nm eHaE
2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Amounts received in advance in MRNEAER K
relation to delivery of RiETEW 2 &58 (HisE)
telecommunication products and
services (Note) 59,673 31,149

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

27. E AT B IB K B AT IR

Note: When the customer initially purchases the goods and Bt 5

services and paid in advance, the transaction price
received at that point by the Group is recognised as
contract liability until the goods and services have
been delivered or rendered to the customer.

Annual Report 2021 —E_— £ £}

AR

BERPFBER MRS
ST FE AT BRI - AN A R
BEENZSBERERREHEA
BEECAE PR E M RIE

213



214

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/ 27. By B 3R I8 N BT 718

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) BRRE @

() CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) nm X866 @
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRINRARERHERRZ LA
recognised in the current reporting period relates HAESNBEZHEREE &
to carried-forward contract liabilities. There was no RAREHREREMNREIFE
revenue recognised in the current reporting period ERBHETABOUA -

that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in a prior year.

The Group’s revenue recognised that was included RAEERBINEBRBZTAAGLN
in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of BEABRZIBA:
the period:
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
As at 1 January ®n—A—H 31,149 1,529
Consideration arising from deposits %2 < B E @ &
of delivery of telecommunication RiGReEE 2 RE
products and services 27,751 32,921
Revenue recognised that was FHFAGHBEEHD
included in the contract liability B RS
balance at the beginning of
the year (511) (1,539)
Exchange realignment ME W S 1,284 (1,762)
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 59,673 31,149
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HE B &

The following table shows the remaining contractual and
of maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the current
reporting periods:

= 7~ |=

TRINTIHRARERHE AEEHER
BB TANERS:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
“EB--f+-A=1+-H “E-FF+-A=1+—-H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum lease minimum lease  minimum lease  minimum lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE RERE REHEE REHEE
HERE RELH FIREE HEBE
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER FET THL
Within 1 year —FR 43,135 103,797 205,569 252,032
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERERN 42,432 100,108 15,092 28,448
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRER 145,439 299,395 38,261 74,245
After 5 years hF#k 636,531 841,741 206,783 281,199
824,402 1,241,244 260,136 383,892
867,537 1,345,041 465,705 635,924
Less: total future interest expenses i : R K FI| B I 1A% (477,504) (170,219)
Present value of lease obligations ~ T E & FHE (Hiz)
(note) 867,537 465,705

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
to lease liabilities range from 3.24% to 9.06% (2020:
3.24% t0 8.22%).

Notes:

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had lease liability of
approximately HK$189,867,000, which was the leased
machinery included in property, plant and equipment under
finance lease arrangement with net book value of approximately
HK$200,408,000. The lease arrangement was early repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

The lease term is 4 years. Interest rate underlying the lease
liabilities is 8.0%. No arrangement has been entered into for
contingent rental payments.

FE AN E & ERINE T IR ERF
KA F3.24% £9.06% (T - T F:
3.24% E8.22% ) °

B3

B

RZEBE-EBEF+_A=+—H Xx£BH%HE
FHE A E#189,867,0008 L ARMEHMEY
HETYE BEMLEMESHHSER -
B % (B 49200,408,00058 7T - A E L HE D
BE T -_—F+_-_A=+—HIEFEERAM
g o

HERAF - HEREHEREMER8.0% - I
BTSRRI S AR SN R B -
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 28. HE B E )

Analysed for reporting purpose as: MBEMST 29!
2021 2020
—E=-—F —ET_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current liabilities mEBE 43,135 205,569
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 824,402 260,136
867,537 465,705
29. BORROWINGS 29. i@ ;k
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E_¥HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B =¥ FTET FHET
Bank loans IRITEXR
Short-term bank borrowing, MHEIRITE
unsecured and guaranteed IR R A ER 1 - 3,576
Portion of bank loans, RITEREL D
secured and guaranteed B RIER 2
— repayable within one year —BR—FNER 98,205 79,922
— repayable after one year which — AR —FREE
contain a repayment ( EEHE ;Eﬁ
on demand clause B AR AR) 915,079 1,035,672
Portion of bank loans, RITERELD
unsecured and guaranteed EEA R IER 3
— repayable within one year — AR —FAEE 5,388 7,807
— repayable after one year which —AR—F1& %%
contain a repayment (Eﬁii EK
on demand clause & 1K) = 5,244
Portion of bank loans, RITERE D
secured and unguaranteed B EER 4
— repayable within one year —HER—FNERER 48,782 =
— repayable after one year which — AR —FRBEE
contain a repayment igﬁi%gi
on demand clause B R 30) 201,383 182,361
Total bank loans RITERAER 1,268,837 1,314,582
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on & BT R R M A

—E - A=1—HIFE

29. B (@)

2021 2020
—B-—F —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTExT FHET
Other loans Hi &K
Portion of other loans, HEmEHES
secured and guaranteed BHEARER 5,8
— repayable within one year — AR —FNER 70,083 27,486
— repayable after one year which — AR —FREE
contain a repayment (BEREX
on demand clause B2 1R300 285,437 119,055
Portion of other loans, HEmEHE D
unsecured and unguaranteed B R AER
— repayable within one year —HBR—FNERE 94,993 38,935
— repayable after one year which — AR —FREE
contain a repayment (BEREX
on demand clause B 5K 122,450 101,064
Total other loans Hith & Z 4258 572,963 286,540
Total borrowings B 1,841,800 1,601,122
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BE—_FT-—Ff-FA=1—HIFFEF

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

1)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s short term bank
loan was guaranteed by (i) Dr. Lie and (i) Mr. WANG Kun
(“Mr. Wang”), who is the legal representative, a director
and a substantial shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary
and legal representative and a director of the Group’s
subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans are
guaranteed by Dr. Lie and secured by the pledge of certain
properties, plant and equipment of the Group with net
book value of approximately HK$980,027,000 (2020:
HK$1,077,107,000) and certain properties of companies
substantially owned by Dr. Lie.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank
loans are guaranteed by Dr. Lie and Mr. Wang.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans are
secured by the equity interest of one of the subsidiary of
the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s other loans
is guaranteed by Dr. Lie and secured by the Group’s
properties, plant and equipment with net book value of
approximately HK$463,873,000 (2020: HK$127,973,000),
accounts receivable with carrying value of approximately
HK$37,459,000 (2020: HK$30,423,000) and equity interest
of one of the subsidiary of the Group.

All of the borrowings are denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2021, all of the borrowings bear
interest from 4.60% to 8.0% (2020: 4.45% to 6.3%) per
annum.

To better manage the Group’s working capital and
financing needs, the Group has entered into sale and
leaseback arrangements in relation to its equipment. These
legal transfers do not satisfy the requirements of a sale
under HKFRS 15. As at 31 December 2021, the Group
has other loans of approximately HK$355,520,000 (2020:
HK$146,541,000) in respect of such sale and leaseback
arrangements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

29. BORROWINGS (Continued) 29. fE K (@)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's banking RZEBEZ—F+ZA=+—8B K&

facilities were approximately HK$2,513,083,000 B iR 17 82 & #92,518,083,000/% 7T ( —

(2020: HK$1,989,083,000), of which approximately T — T4 :1,089,083,0005 7T )  H

HK$1,268,837,000 (2020: HK$1,314,582,000) had been #71,268,837,0008 7T (Z T — T F :

utilised as at the end of the reporting period. 1,314,582,0008 ) ERX M E AR
)EH °

REREMR - REERBAMHTEE
EFREHEASEERNEBENEER
(2R EMBREREEGIOTE)

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and the maturities of the
Group’s borrowings at the end of the respective reporting

period (i.e. ignoring the effect of any repayment on WA
demand clause) are shown below:
2021 2020
—E-—& TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Amounts of bank loans that AR THEREEN
are repayable: RITERER:
— within 1 year —1FR 152,375 91,305
- between 1 and 2 years —1E2F 167,131 134,274
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 623,516 543,733
— beyond 5 years —5F LA £ 325,815 545,270
Total bank loans IRITE 1,268,837 1,314,582
Amounts of other loans that AR THIEREER
are repayable: HEtERESRE:
— within 1 year —1FR 165,076 66,421
— between 1 and 2 years —152%F 113,110 60,555
— between 2 and 5 years —2&5F 209,268 159,564
— beyond 5 years —5F Ak 85,509 =
Total other loans HmBERR%E 572,963 286,540
Total borrowings &R 1,841,800 1,601,122
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. IREFI IR
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated HREEMBRARAZIIME AT
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax BEEFHIEEERBEDEAEHE - UT
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the ABRUMBEREMNCELERIBE S D
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting 7 :
purposes:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET
Deferred tax assets R IE & E 6,645 5,920
Deferred tax liabilities REHIABE (20,451) (25,308)
(13,806) (19,388)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and LTARENRBATFEANEHERZE
assets recognised and movements thereon during the EREREEGEREERAE

current and prior years:

Right-of-use Fair value
assets Adjustments
and lease ECL  on business
liabilities provision  combination Total
EREEER BHEE ERAHM
HESE FERE LTERE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THIL THT TET
As at 1 January 2020 R-B-ZF—f—8 822 6,446 (39,382) (32,114)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated BONACIEN 5
statement of profit or loss and other EakAMEA
comprehensive income (Note 11) Wk (K1) 768 (2,485) 14,074 12,357
Exchange realignment T 100 269 - 369
As at 31 December 2020 and R-B-Z%
1 January 2021 +ZA=+-Bk
“E--§-8-H 1,690 4,230 (25,308) (19,388)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated A (B REBE
statement of profit or loss and other R E M2 EUWER
comprehensive income (Note 11) (B&E11) 1,680 (1,128) 4,857 5,409
Exchange realignment ERTIE-E 73 100 = 173
As at 31 December 2021 R-ZB=-F
+-ZA=+-H 3,443 3,202 (20,451) (13,806)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses arising in PRC of approximately
HK$304,402,000 (2020: HK$171,227,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits (one to ten years for new and high technology
enterprise). In contrast, tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$59,330,000 (2020: HK$46,769,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely. At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group did not have any deductible temporary differences.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to
such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statement in respect of
temporary difference attributable to the profits earned by
the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of reversal at the temporary difference and it is
probable that will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

0. IEREFRIA (&)

RBERR AEERFREEN KRS
FE i IB B5 18 A #9304,402,000/8 7T ( =&
—ZTH:171,227,0008 ) HR— &
AFRNEIE AR RERB R F (—
ERFHNARESMFMEE) - Bkt
A E A /T I8 B 18 A £959,330,000
BT (ZZT ZF % 46,769,000/ 7T ) 7]
ERPHEE N _ T —FR-_FT-F
F+_A=+—HB AEEHETMEA
MBEREZE - AN TR NRE
BrEa Al IR sE FE R BRI - s 3k
ZEUNRESEZBRERAELCHBE
éo

REBETEIERMEVE FEHMERQR
78 Bh H R ER 608 7 P 2K B9 IR B S R TR
W - R ARE TR TR EHE
MEmEE TR EERRARE ISR
A ROoRRBE - i AR S BT SRR
A B b BRI A R BRER A A S
R BRI R T TR
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. IR
Par value Number of
per share shares Amount
BREE BRHEE 5
HK$ HK$'000
BT FET
Authorised: SETE
As at 1 January 2020, R-ZBE-ZEF—-A—H"
31 December 2020, —EEE
1 January 2021 and +=-A=+-8"
31 December 2021 “E2--f-A-HK
—EB-—-F
+=A=+-H 0.1 20,000,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAE:
As at 1 January 2020, R-ZE-ZEF—-A—H"
31 December 2020, —E-ZF+ZA
1 January 2021 and =t—-H-ZB=—-%
31 December 2021 —A-BR=Z=—-%§
+=BA=+-H 0.1 9,522,184,345 952,218
32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 32. EEAR ST E|

Pursuant to a resolution passed at a annual general
meeting of the Company held on 19 December 2012,
a new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company.

The previous share option scheme of the Company (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 21 July
2012, no further options can be granted under the Old
Share Option Scheme thereafter. All outstanding share
options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme
remained outstanding until they lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Old Share Option Scheme.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The Company operates the New Share Option Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the New Share Option
Scheme include the Directors (including independent
non-executive directors), other employees of the Group,
and suppliers of goods or services to the Group.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the New Share
Option Scheme within any 12 month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the Directors, and commences after
a certain vesting period and ends on a date which is
not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the New Share Option
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the Directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of the offer of the share options; (i) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s share for
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
offer; and (jii) the nominal value of the shares.

32. AT 2l ()

ARBITH BRI EEH AR E
RERMELERMZEER2BERT
RBEOR - FEREFE ZAERS
HEMRES (BRELIFNTES)
AEEZHMEE URAEEFRRK
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B AR B R B RT & A TR 2 R1T
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ARRREMERECHEITRE10% B
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HIM TR B BT 2 &R e B
HE T SHEEAARRREMREDZHTR
1% - E—TREEMEBERZ LR Z
AR 1 RBBRIRAERR KRS LHE-

BB RS £ EH A HERt28h
MR AR AR RN A
EHIETEREREBE -CROIBREZ
TEPRESFET TEETHBHR
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholder’s meeting. The
following table discloses details of the Company’s share
option in issue under the Scheme during the year:

tatements

32. AT 8 ()

RN T T HEE ARBURE R
BRERAEG FTREZEN -FA KA F
BEZTE BT BRESBEREENT
x:

Number of share options
As at
31 December
Exercise Lapsed 2020 and Lapsed At
Name of category of Exercise period As at during 1 January during 31 December
participant Date of grant  period per share 1 January 2020 the year 20%1 the year 2021
kb 22
t=A
1 =+-BR #
ket 22 —B--% —B--%
SREEHER REAH TEH BROEE -A-H REREN -A-H RERXHM  +ZA=t-H
Directors
Ez
Dr. LIE Haiquan 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 (9,000,000) -
SEERLT —Z-0\5 “Z2-\fmANBE
HmANH —E_-E@ANE
Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 18,000,000 - 18,000,000 (18,000,000) -
REREE —Z-N§ ZZ-)\fMmAKBZ
EANH —E_-E@ANE
Mr. XU Gang 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 6,000,000 (6,000,000) - - -
fRELE —T-N\5 “Z2-\fmANBE
EANH —E_-E@ANE
Mr. TAO Wei 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 6,000,000 = 6,000,000 (6,000,000) -
BREE —Z-N§ ZZ-\fMAKBZE
EANH —E_-E@ANR
Mr. ZHANG Zihua 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 (1,000,000) -
[ —T-0\E “2-\fmANBE
*(ZHANG Zihua) %% MANR —Z--¥mANA
Ms. XI Lina 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 (1,000,000) -
BBzt —T-0\5 “2-\fmANBE
EANH —E_-E@ANR
Mr. HUANG 9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25
Zhixiong 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 (1,000,000) -
EEBEE “E-N\f I \EMANBE
MANR —F-5MANR
42,000,000 (6,000,000) 36,000,000 (36,000,000) =
Employees 31.1.2018 31.1.2018 t0 30.1.2021 0.25 65,200,000 (10,900,000) 54,300,000 (54,300,000) =
(3] —E-0\E “2-\$-A=1+-RZ
-A=+-8 ZZ--%-A=+H
65,200,000 (10,900,000) 54,300,000 (54,300,000) -
Others 8.4.2011 8.4.2011 t0 7.4.2021 0.469 6,840,000 - 6,840,000 (6,840,000) -
At “2——-§ C"E--¥@ANRE
mANR —E--5MAtA
31.1.2018 31.1.2018 t0 30.1.2021 0.25 126,000,000 - 126,000,000 (126,000,000) -
“E-\& - )\E-R=+-EE
-A=t-B ZE=-f-A=tAH
9.4.2018 9.4.2018 t0 8.4.2021 0.25 92,000,000 (6,000,000) 86,000,000 (86,000,000) -
ZE-\§ ZE-\fOANBZE
MANE —Z--4mANR
224,840,000 (6,000,000) 218,840,000 (218,840,000) -
g’gﬂrl 332,040,000 (22,900,000) 309,140,000 (309,140,000) =
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

The fair values of first and second options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme measured at the
date of grant during the year ended 31 December 2018
was approximately HK$9,485,000 and HK$7,717,000
respectively. The following significant assumptions were
used to derived the fair value using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model:

9 April 31 January
2018 2018

Total number of share option 154,000,000 195,000,000

Option value HK$0.0501  HK$0.0486
Option life 3 years 3 years
Expected Tenor 3 years 3 years
Exercise price HK$0.250 HK$0.250
Stock price at the date

of grant HK$0.176 HK$0.190
Expected volatility 82.79% 83.04%
Risk-free rate 1.596% 1.489%

Expected volatility was reference to Bloomberg calculated
from the weighted average historical volatility of weekly
return of share price of comparable companies and the
Company. Risk-free rate represents the yields to maturity
of Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note with respective
terms to maturity as at the share options granted date.
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral
considers.

No share options were exercised during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. All the share options were
lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2021 .

on & BT R R M A

FEFZHA=F—HIEFE

32. AT 2l ()

REBEZE_ZE—N\F+-A=+—HLEF
ERENBERETESRE2E—HES
“HEREARE BB EZATE
5 Bl & 499,485,000/ 7T K&7,717,0007%
TLo AT T = Et%ﬁ*ﬁﬁtﬁm

NEEHEAZEBRRK
-\ ZE-N\F
MANE —A=1+-H
EREAH 154,000,000 195,000,000
EREEE 0.0501787T  0.0486/8 7T
SR E T 3 3F
BEEH 3F 3%
11EE 02507  0.2507C
REEBZRE 017687 01908
TEH 18 82.79% 83.04%
ERRFIX 1.596% 1.489%
ﬁﬁ;ﬁmaﬁﬁﬁ’i*ﬁéuﬂﬁ SR & LR

RERAR AR E B R H T E
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mAB Pz e
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

33.

B

RERBELEZBEY

T%%Ei%izli‘i ERMERBAELZRE

....... P AERSRERSE

cBEIA

@JFﬁFiZ%ﬁEﬁﬁ‘fw%iHﬁXfﬁ

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future ERERNTEELGFEES DR
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated KERMEETHRERE 281G
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
EEA HERE st
(Note 29) (Note 28)
(HfzE29) (FzE28)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAER THT
As at 1 January 2020 RZZZZF—-A—H 1,081,449 49,354 1,130,803
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE
Borrowings raised EX7EX 862,272 - 862,272
Repayment of borrowings BEER (439,801) = (439,801)
Leases rental paid BEfEE - (23,023) (23,023)
Finance lease repaid EEHENS (26,307) (26,307)
Interest paid ERFIE (75,531) - (75,531)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERSREEYLT 346,940 (49,330) 297,610
Finance costs (Note 10) BERA (MF10) 81,393 24,508 105,901
Other movement Hitg (5,862) 414,613 408,751
Exchange realignment ERE@” 97,202 26,560 123,762
As at 31 December 2020 and A\ZFZZ i‘l‘ A=+-H
1 January 2021 k=Z=-%-A-H 1,601,122 465,705 2,060,827
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREE
Borrowings raised EL7fEN 799,469 = 799,469
Repayment of borrowings BEER (605,655) - (605,655)
Leases rental paid BEfHEE - (23,283) (23,283)
Finance lease repaid ERHENE (192,018) (192,018)
Interest paid BTHE (91,004) (45,066) (136,070)
Total changes from financing cash flows BERERERYEE 102,810 (260,367) (157,557)
Finance costs (Note 10) BERA (MF10) 91,004 45,066 136,070
New leases HHE = 598,378 598,378
Exchange realignment [ERaCE 46,864 18,755 65,619
As at 31 December 2021 RZB_—$t-A=+—-H 1,841,800 867,537 2,709,337
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A) CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN GZ YIZI

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group acquired 30% equity interests of
Guangzhou Yizi Internet Technology Co., Ltd.* (&
MHAEEBERARRQR) ("GZ Yizi") from
the non-controlling shareholder of GZ Yizi at a
consideration of RMB18,700,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$21,265,640), which resulted in the
Group’s effective equity interests of 54% in GZ Yizi.
The effect of the acquisition on the equity attributable
to the owners of the Company is as follows:

34. WEEHT B 2 A

A) REMNREZFTEREER
=)
REE-_ZT-_ZTF+_-_fF=+—
BEFE AEEEERMNMREL
AR AERAR ([EMNRE])
ZIHEERBERKEBEMNREZ
30% f& #E - X8 A K #18,700,000
7T (FEE R 421,265,640 7T ) -
A AEEBREINRENE I
W AR54% WEHARFEAR A
Rz ZENT

HK$'000
FAT
Carrying amount of non-controlling P 8 FEE i i 2 2 BRI (B
interests acquired 3,440
Consideration paid for BRI ER S 2 RE
non-controlling interests (21,265)
(17,825)

(B) CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS
IN INSIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group obtained equity interests of various
insignificant subsidiaries from the non-controlling
shareholders. The effect of the acquisition on the

(B) RTERMBARZFME
EESEE
REE-ZZ-_FTF+-_A=+—
AIEFE  A&EE B JEERRRER
BEFTAERMEBLRRZAEHE - U
BHAQBHEBEABGREZZ

equity attributable to the owners of the Company is 2mT:
as follows:
HK$’000
FAT
Carrying amount of non-controlling Pl IR i 2 2
interests acquired BREE (75)
Less: effect of translation reserve WBREREB TR =
(75)
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35. HEMHE A A
A) HEHEBEFESS/MER

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(A) DISPOSAL OF NEO FINANCIAL

HOLDINGS LIMITED (“NEO
FINANCIAL”) AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
(“NEO FINANCIAL GROUP”)

On 5 September 2020, a directly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sales
and purchase agreement to dispose of its 100%
interest in Neo Financial Group. Pursuant to the
agreement, the purchaser has agreed to purchase
the sale shares at a consideration of approximately
HK$1,126,000. The principal activity of Neo
Financial Group is operation of internet finance
platform business. The disposal was completed on

BRAB ([FEHFESE
) REKEBAR ([FE
MEFTRMER])

R_ZE_FEFNARB KR
MEEZENBRARRA — T%E'I:f
ERBALHEERPREFEES
BEB s 2HES REHE B
77 2 A E LA (E 491,126,000/ 7T
BEHERD TEHFEETHE
EHNITZXEBRKLEHRETR
FEEK - LEFHER _T_TF
NAERTK -

7 September 2020.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of Neo LEFEFECeREEZFE
Financial Group is as follows: BEEWT -
HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y- B R 610
Intangible assets B EE 200
Accounts receivable JE W BR X -
Prepayment, deposits and TEfTRE - e R H B IE
other receivables 4,839
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 938
Accounts payable FERTER R -
Other payables and accruals H b fE A 5RIB K BT RE (17,034)
Tax liabilities MIBAE (6,311)
Net liabilities disposed of P& BEFHE (16,758)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR W :
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE 1,126
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal  H & 85 R R TE H (& 1,198
Non-controlling interests FE P2 I e (12,857)
Net liabilities disposed of Frh&E s BEFRE 16,758
6,225
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEFSHEELCRESRAFE:
Cash consideration ReRE 1,126
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIREzRHeRESEED (938)
188
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(B) DISPOSAL OF INSIGNIFICANT
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group disposed equity interests of various
insignificant subsidiaries to independent third parties.
The effect of the disposal on the equity attributable
to the owners of the Company are as follows:

on & BT R R M A

FEFZHA=F—HIEFE

35. HLEKHB AR (®)
(B) HEFEKRKE LT

BE_FT-_THFT_-_A=+—H
LFE K’Ell‘?ﬁ*’*_ﬁﬂj&
ZRIFFERK B AR RBE - B &
ERHARRER ARIEGBREZ
FENT:

HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M WBEREE 2,890
Inventories BE 285
Accounts receivable JFE Uk BR 3R 1,711
Prepayment, deposits and TERIE - 2e R H M EREIE
other receivables 3,088
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBEeEEY 942
Accounts payable JE 1 BR 3K (1,659)
Other payables and accruals H 8 < /I8 I FE 5T RUIR (3,089)
Net assets disposed of FrtECEEFRH 4174
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMB AR ZEE:
Cash consideration received BUYIRERE 2,890
Release of exchange reserve upon R AR RR OE N R 1R
disposal (88)
Non-controlling interests JEE RS (2,318)
Net assets disposed of FrEEvEEFRE (4,174)
(3,690)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HESHEELECRESRAFRE:
Cash consideration RERE 2,890
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FIHEsRERREEEY (942)
1,948
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =

- —Ff A=t —HIFE

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. B NEHE
2021 2020
—E--F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Commitments contracted for but not BN TSEEERINRE
provided in the consolidated RRERE BT
financial statements in respect of BER RE

— Property, plant and equipment o/ E N 259,800 828,762

37.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
entered into agreements for the disposal of certain
properties located in Bluesea Intelligence Valley Mega Data
Centre at an aggregate consideration of approximately
RMB4,895,000 (equivalent to HK$5,994,000) which were
fully received from the purchasers. The Group obtained the
purchase commitments during the year and expects the
transfer of such properties will be completed within one
year.

For financial reporting purposes, such properties were
reclassified to “Assets held for sale” in accordance
with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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FE -AEBFILHBE AHEMRE
HEABREBERLNETYWE &
REBAH AREAL895,000T (HE R
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39.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets, lease liabilities and other payables of
HK$50,597,000 (2020: HK$225,486,000), HK$42,669,000
(2020: HK$225,486,000) and HK$7,928,000 (2020:
HK$nil), respectively, in respect of operating lease
arrangement for building leased for own use.

In addition, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$431,160,000 and corresponding
lease liabilities of approximately HK$556,422,000 in
respect of a sales and leaseback arrangement during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2021 are as follows:

38.

39.

on & BT R R M A

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF
FEIFRERH

FRN AEERAEEEAZEFE
EHERHEBTRAEEE HES
BERHEMENSRBEZIERESAED
B £50,597,0008 L (ZE - F:
225,486,000/ 7T ) * 42,669,000/ 7T
(ZZE T F:225,486,0008 7T) &
7,928,000 T (ZE_FF T L) o

v REBEE—_E-_—F+-_A=1+—
BIEEE AEBCRERHRTHERE
R {55 FA 7 B E 49431,160,000/% 7T M 48
R8T & & (5 49556,422,0007 7T °

ERp=PNC]

FEMBRAAIR-_ZE-_—F+=H
=+t HZFAEHET:

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of Nominal value of Percentage of
registration and authorised paid up issued  equity attributable
Name of subsidiary business share capital share capital to the Company Principal activities
ERAL/ERE BARH AARER
HEATER EEBY EERTEE ERTRAEE BREAM IBER
Directly  Indirectly
E# B
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development PRC, limited liabilty company RMBG687,000,000 RMBG685,000,000 = 100%  Operation of commercial WIFI
Company Limited (Note 1) platform, provision of value-added
telecommunication services and provision
of data centre services
BREBBIZRARLT (M) W BRALLT ARH6670000000  ARM685,000,0007 - 100% EEFEWFATA RELEEARBUR
REtEER RS
Guangdoug Bluesea Data Development PRC, limited liabifty company RMB595,000,000 RMB595,000,000 - 100%  Provision fo data centre services
Compamy Limited
ERESHERRARLR HE ERERLT ARM595000000m  ARH595,000,0007 - 100% selt&ERLRE
Guangzhou Yizi Internet Technology Co., Ltd PRC, limited liabilty company RMBG60,000,000 RMB29,700,000 = 54%  Provision fo data centre services
BNmZEERANRERAA HE ERERLT ABR60,000,0007 AB29,700,0007C - 5% REGENLRE
Guangzhou Nowtop Technology Company Limited PRC, limited liabity company RMB100,000,000 RMB2,500,000 = 60% Provision of data centre services
BMHERREERAA S ERERLA ARE100,0000007 AR#2,500,0007C - 60% REZENLEE
Shanghal Yunting Information Technology PRC, limited liability company RMBG60,000,000 RMB37,060,000 = 60% Provision fo data centre services
Company Limited
LERTEEHRARAR B BRALLT AR60,000,000 37,060,000 - 0% REKBEDLEE

ERWAZHEREEEARAA Note 1)

ERWARYERATEARAA (M)

PRC, limited liability company

HE EREEAT

RMB100,000,000

AR 100,000,000

RMB10,000,000

AR10,000,00010

S 0%

- 0%
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

39. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the period or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

1. Subsidiaries controlled through certain structured
arrangements (“Structured Arrangements”), for details of
the Structured Arrangements, please refer to Note 40.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that
have material non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

Statements

39. MY B~ Al ()

EREIARB BT EFERBR
ZEMBRREAREARE 2 REE
ETEFEYARAKREEEFEZE
EHN -EERR WHINEMHBR
AZHBRTRIEBENTR

GEE
1. EBETAWLRY (REERE)

rHHWB AR BEREEBEZEY
G B2MNEE40 -

B AR 0 R R E S 2 A
BRI

TRENFEAERFEREENANEE
FEEWMBARMFEE:

interests:
Place of Proportion ownership
Incorporation interests and Loss for the year Total comprehensive
and principal voting rights held by allocated to income/(loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business  non-controlling interest  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
WELRER ERALBH FEREEREZ AREFERER IREFERERY
REIFEXHY  FEERERREEEDL ERER 2ERE/ (BB B8 FiFERER
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“B--F -ZC%F CZB--F -TC-TE ZRC-f CRCOTF ZEC-F CIC0RE
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TR TiEn T TR TiEn TR T
BRANEHEREERARAR PRC 30% 30% (319) (158) 494 1,120 17,184 16,690
BRUAEHEREERARAR Gl
Guangzhou Nowtop Technology PRC 40% 40% (4,367) (1,637) (5,574) (2,855) 14,053 19,627
Company Limited
BT ERMRARAR hE
Individually immaterial subsidiaries 23,496 26,244
with non-controling interests
EEFERER BRFEAHBAR
54,733 62,561
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

39. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

ERAAZEMEREEESRLT

LEYEERNETRE )

BREERFERESNARESHEBR
AN AR EEINMT - AT
BERMZREEARARYHEAINS
#o

ERAAZEMEREEERSRLT

2021 2020

—E-—-F —T-FTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets RBEE 85,801 81,125

Non-current assets ERBEE 38 45

Current liabilities mBAaE (28,558) (25,538)

Non-current liabilities EnEaE - -
Equity attributable to owners of RNNEEE AELER

the Company 40,097 38,942

Non-controlling interests FETE N 2 17,184 16,690
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

39. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. 1B~ A ()
ERMNEZEMEREEEFR AT (Continued) EBERAALZEMEREEEERAT (&)
2021 2020
—E--F kel S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Revenue WS - =
Expenses Fx (1,062) (527)
Loss for the year FREE (1,062) (527)
Loss attributable to owners of ARTHEE ANELERE
the Company (743) (369)
Loss attributable to R R BB R
the non-controlling interests (319) (158)
Loss for the year FREE (1,062) (527)
Other comprehensive income attributable to N2 &1 A A JE(G E
owners of the Company ENELE 1,898 2,982
Other comprehensive income attributable to  3E1%2 A% 1 25 FE 15 £ )
non-controlling interests 2E W 813 1,278
Other comprehensive income for the year — F R E fth 2 E W25 2,711 4,260

Total comprehensive income attributable to AN 2 &% A A JE(L

owners of the Company FHMELE 1,155 2,613
Total comprehensive income attributable to ~ 3F#Z A% 42 %5 FE 15

non-controlling interests FHME L 494 1,120
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKERE 1,649 3,733

Net cash outflow from operating activites ~ REKELEH 2 RE R H
R (205) (2,035)

Net cash outflow e FE (205) (2,035)
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39. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

39. MY B~ Al ()

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

Guangzhou Nowtop Technology Company Limited EMNTEANKEERAT
2021 2020
—EZ-F kel S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Current assets MEEE 178,407 125,228
Non-current assets EREEE 655,064 414,730
Current liabilities mEBBE (778,510) (466,397)
Non-current liabilities FERBARE (19,828) (24,494)
Equity attributable to owners of RAGEE AELER
the Company 21,080 29,440
Non-controlling interests JEIE R i 14,053 19,627
2021 2020
—E--F —E-THF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FEx FHET
Revenue Wz 448,090 277,794
Expenses 53 (459,018) (281,890)
Loss for the year FREE (10,928) (4,096)
Loss attributable to owners of RNRAGIHEEAELER
the Company (6,561) (2,459)
Loss attributable to FEE ARt = PR (G B 1R
non-controlling interests (4,367) (1,637)
Loss for the year FREE (10,928) (4,096)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

39. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. MY B~ Al ()

Guangzhou Nowtop Technology Company Limited EMNTEARNKEERAR (&)
(Continued)

2021 2020
—E--F e S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Other comprehensive loss attributable to RAREE ABIGEA
owners of the Company FHERE (1,799) (1,824)
Other comprehensive loss attributable to FEIE AR M o FE (G EL A
non-controlling interests ZHEEE (1,207) (1,218)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEHEERE (3,006) (3,042)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to ZN/NGIE 2 DN A )
owners of the Company THEEEE (8,369) (4,283)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to FERE R A e
non-controlling interests FHEBEHE (5,574) (2,855)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRE2EERRE (13,934) (7,138)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating REREER 2
activities Be (Rd) /MAFHE (114,007 14,731
Net cash outflow from investing activities REHBEEE 2
Rent #48 (256,193) (19,609)
Net cash inflow from financing activities REBMEETE 2
WERAFEE 363,726 10,637
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be ORd) / RAFHE (6,474) 5,759
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

40. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP

Particulars and main business of the
operating entities

ERE /A% B REAFR A A (Guangdong Bluesea Mobile
Development Limited*) (“Bluesea Mobile”) is a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC
and is owned by Ms. Ye Weiping (E{& ) (99%) and
Mr. Xu Gang (f#) (Mr. HE Zhicong (fa] 588 with effect
from 27 February 2020 upon the transfer of the 1% equity
interest therein from Mr. Xu) (1%) (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Bluesea Mobile Shareholders”). Bluesea
Mobile is controlled by R E®B R YI) #4& B
BBR A E] by way of certain structured contracts (the
“Bluesea Mobile Structured Contracts”). Bluesea
Mobile is principally engaged in provision of value-added
telecommunication services. Bluesea Mobile has obtained
an Internet content provider license which enables it to be
an Internet content provider in the PRC.

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile
Structured Contracts

a)  Equity and Voting agreement

The Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall irrevocably
grant to the FFTER OFXY) BHEBEBRAF or
the person as designated by the F#FTZEEE CFEYI)
PR AR AT an exclusive option to purchase,
subject to and as permitted by PRC laws, their entire
equity interest in Bluesea Mobile by way of one or
more times of exercise of the option at any time,
at an option price which is nil or nominal, or the
minimum price permitted by PRC laws. In addition,
the Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall in attending to
the management of and exercising his shareholder’s
right in Bluesea Mobile, seek and follow the
instructions of the F T &M (ORI PR EHZER A
Al

0. BT Bk

HeBBsE
REBRZHBRIERT

EXRESVHERERAA ([BHER
Bl)A—HMIRBEPEEEKLZBR
EAERR WHEREFLIT(99%) &%
MEE (RBREEEZREREFRERD
1% KkEE BT F_A=-++t
Bt BAEILLE) (1%) (LA T 5 [ B
BREBRR])EE HERHHPHE
BORYBEREERABINE T4
BEAEYN(BEBBEREEGHNH
FAEG - FER B E BN EIRMEIEE
BEERE -FEVHEMBLHANR
RS Bt A E A R B A BB
AR

%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ%*ﬁ'fﬂié%’ﬂti%ﬂ%

TA

a) RERKEWE

B 8 B ) B BROE T B 2] 3 | AP
#MERCRIDRBERRBRAA
SFHER(RIDBERRER
RAEEZATREBRBERE
NEE(EFBDERZAR TR
HFAT)ERESBEH 228K
B AR AREEUBRE(AER
RBUEERIFBEEARFAI IR
RER) —RLZRITEBRE-
AN FBBBBRRENSHE R
HEBSRTEERFEBES Z
BRENFSRKRETHHER
CRYI) WAERHRB R AR IR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

40. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued)
Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile

Structured Contracts (Continued)

b)  Exclusive service agreement

Bluesea Mobile shall engage the ¥ & (X
I B R BB A A as its exclusive service
provider. The R ER ORY) BB R BR QA
shall provide to Bluesea Mobile technology support,
business support and relevant consultancy services
that relate to the business of Bluesea Mobile
including but not limited to (i) license to Bluesea
Mobile the right to use the intellectual property rights
(including but not limited to patent, trade mark and
copyright) owned by the ¥ & ORI B4 7
R A A7 according to the business needs of
Bluesea Mobile; (i) develop, maintain and update
the relevant software required by the business of
Bluesea Mobile; (iii) purchase and rent or obtain the
right to use on behalf of Bluesea Mobile machinery
equipment, storage space, related software and
other software facilities required by the business
of Bluesea Mobile; (iv) provide to Bluesea Mobile

BE—_FT-—Ff-FA=1—HIFFEF

professional technical personnel and provide training
to them on behalf of Bluesea Mobile; (v) assist
Bluesea Mobile to collect and research technology
that is relevant to the business of Bluesea Mobile; (vi)
advise on matters relating to the business operations
of Bluesea Mobile raised by Bluesea Mobile, and
provide to Bluesea Mobile business promotion and
market sales services; and (vii) according to the
request of Bluesea Mobile and with the consent of
the FEFTER OFY) BB EHELAFR A A, provide to
Bluesea Mobile other recommendations and services
relating to the business of Bluesea Mobile.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA

40. FEBIE L B ()

HEBHER (@)

BY

BEIEEESNZEER

;@)

b)

BRI 7%

HEBBHRERZERHER CRI)
BRMBERARDBEBRRE
REF-FHER ORI BHR
RERARERANSBHREHE
BB B RS 2 M7 %5
X7 RBBEEARE  BEETR
ROBREBEFEBHZEBFTER
HERBRTHHER ORI B
MM BRARAES < HHE
#(BRETRREN BF KR
)z ERE: ()F% #ERE
HEBBH I XBEMTZEBR
iR EFEBBHBEREE
KERF BB XTI
BRa i W F =M BB R E
i 81 BR b 2 AR A ¢ (iv) R BB
BPHRHEXZRMABLRRE
BBBRNFREMEI: (V) B
FEBRSHKRERMREMAFER

BRAG Z iT: (vi) SUR B B P
REAFENSBHEBREE LS
HRHER YRR SBHIRMHE
T HE R T 45 2 AR S R (viD) 1R
BREBH BRI EHHER
(FYIDWEMEERRARE
ARESEBHREEBERNSBHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z—-FE—-——#+1=H=4+—HIFEZ

40. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS 40. BEEMLH (8

(Continued)

BLUESEA MOBILE GROUP (Continued) HEREBEE (@)

Major terms of the Bluesea Mobile HEBBBEEERNZEIER

Structured Contracts (Continued) = ()

c)  Equity pledge agreement c) REEFRZ
Bluesea Mobile Shareholders shall pledge all their HEBEHREERAFRIER OF
equity interest in Bluesea Mobile to F#T & CGRII) I BERE B R R FE R EREY
W R AR AR to guarantee, the performance BB 2 2 ERRAE - LAER T B FT
of all the obligations of (i) Bluesea Mobile under the BETERT: (\BHEBHRBR
Exclusive Service Agreement, (i) Bluesea Mobile R HZE T 2FBEMT ()EHE%
Shareholders and Bluesea Mobile under the Equity & FRRNRFERHRRERER
Voting Agreement. EE N ZFTBEE

REVENUE AND ASSETS SUBJECT TO THE EBRRHEZHRREE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The revenue and total assets subject to the Contractual B LTHBET 2 WS R BEEEY W

Arrangements, in aggregate, are set out below: I

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1T—HLFE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —T-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

Revenue Wz 614,912 464,379
Net loss FIBE 50,091 126,148

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Total assets BEE 4,392,548 3,390,150
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40. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Under the prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC,
companies with foreign ownership are restricted
from engaging in the provision of value-added
telecommunication services and manufacturing of
telecommunication system equipment for satellites
business in the PRC. As such, the Company relies on
BUN, CERNET Wifi and Bluesea Mobile (“OPCOs”
and each an “OPCO”) to conduct certain parts of the
Group’s businesses in the PRC. The Company manages
to maintain an effective control over the financial and
operational policies of the OPCOs through the Contractual
Arrangements which effectively transfer the economic
benefits and pass the risks associated therewith of the
OPCO to the Company, and as a result, the OPCOs
have been consolidated as subsidiaries of the Group.
The Board wishes to emphasise that the Group relies
on the Contractual Arrangements to control and obtain
the economic benefits from the OPCOs, which may not
be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership. The Company may have to rely on the PRC
legal system to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
which remedies may be less effective than those in
other developed jurisdictions. Any conflicts of interest or
deterioration of the relationship between the registered
holders of the equity interest in the OPCOs and our Group
may materially and adversely affect the overall business
operations of the Group. The pricing arrangement under
the Contractual Arrangements may be challenged by the
PRC tax authority. If the Group chooses to exercise the
option to acquire all or part of the equity interests in any of
the OPCOs under the respective option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, substantial amount of costs
and time may be involved in transferring the ownership of
the relevant OPCO held by its registered holder(s) to the
subsidiaries equity-owned by the Company. There can
be no assurance that the interpretation of the Contractual
Arrangements by the PRC legal advisers to the Company
is in line with the interpretation of the PRC governmental
authorities and that the Contractual Arrangements will not
be considered by such PRC governmental authorities and
courts to be in violation of the PRC laws.

Neo Telemedia Limited P EFZEEEEEFR LA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

0. BB EL ()

RAGHREZRARERR
B

REBHBERITERER IERARART
Bt ERHEEEEEREAREFES
EERRBEHBIIRS - Fit - AR
AR RER BERERLFEBH
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OPCO R &) 2 W 15 I & i@ R B Ay %
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40. STRUCTURED ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)

REASONS FOR USING AND RISKS
ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)

In addition, the PRC governmental authorities may in the
future interpret or issue laws, regulations or policies that
result in the Contractual Arrangements being deemed to
be in violation of the then prevailing PRC laws. Despite
the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers to the
Company, the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance
with and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws
currently in force, are enforceable under, the current PRC
laws. The Company will monitor the relevant PRC laws and
regulations relevant to the Contractual Arrangements and
will take all necessary actions to protect the Company’s
interest in the OPCOs.

MATERIAL CHANGES

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report,
there has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they
were adopted.

0. EBMEL

RAEHNZHE2ERARERR
B (@)

O BB AT ERPI AT BE A S AR R R
BMERR OERIBR ERAOLH
KEARERERBEATBEEZ-BER
EXAR - BARRFEIARBERE A
BHRHEBRERDBIARAL A ERT
T BUA R E A B AR IE AR
HIT - ARAREREREGOL T 2H
BHEBERERL AHRR - B E
H IR A QBN % FOPCORA 2 #

Ny
S o
g

EXEH

B EXAT BB S RARE B
WA NBHR, TIREAORHOER
WEMEAED -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #E -E—-——#+ = H=4+—HIFEE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41, i # kR &
2021 2020
—E--F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE &E&E 12 37
Investment in subsidiaries REB AR Z’E - S
Deferred tax assets EIETTEE E 15 17
27 54
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENFRE -ZE R
other receivables H b B U 3R I8 874 959
Amounts due from subsidiaries NN E L] 67,582 103,780
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEY 560 1,622
69,016 106,361
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals H b B A 31718 K AT A 7,070 3,595
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN 2,792 25,022
9,862 28,617
Net current assets RBEEFE 59,154 77,744
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAES 59,181 77,798
Net assets EEFE 59,181 77,798
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital % < 952,218 952,218
Reserves (Note) i (PEE) (893,037) (874,420)
Total equity RSB 59,181 77,798
The financial statements were approved and authorised PSRN T _—_FHNA-—F+_HE

for issue by the board of directors on 22 April 2022 and

signed on behalf by:

CHEUNG Sing Tai

RER
DIRECTOR
EF
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TAO Wei
apd
DIRECTOR
EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

on & BT R R M A

BE-—F-—Ff - HA=1—HIFFEF

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41, Bk i3k (@)
(Continued)
Note: BfEE
The movements of the reserves are as follows: mBEESBERET
Share options Accumulated
Share premium reserve losses Total
B E BRERE 2iER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
As at 1 January 2020 W-E-%%5-5-R 1,750,494 17,157 (2,644,440) (867,789)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2EFREE - - (6,631) (6,631)
Share options lapsed BIRELH - (1,294) 1,294 =
As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021  R=ZE-ZF
TZA=+-8R
“E--%#-8-H 1,759,494 15,863 (2,649,777) (874,420)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERZEBELE - - (18,617) (18,617)
Share options lapsed BRERR - (15,869) 15,863 S
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-%
+=B=+-A 1,759,494 - (2,652,531) (893,037)

42.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
transaction with connected and related parties during the

year.

(A)

(B)

COMPENSATION OF KEY
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The remuneration of Directors and key executives
was stated in Notes 14 and 15, which is determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individual and market trends.

CONSULTANCY SERVICE

The Group had entered into a consultancy service
agreement with a company owned by the spouse
of Mr. CHEUNG Sing Tai, an executive Director of
the Company, for which consultancy service fee of
approximately HK$858,000 was paid during the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$858,000).

42. BEXZ LB RS

BEEMBBROEMBOAKRESE

5N+ 7 SR B A AN 4F [ BRI A £ R B
FELATEAR S«
A TEEEBASZHH

(B)

EELFTBETRABZHFHIRN
ME14Rk15 FRAFMEHFINE
BEeRERBEARART S B

BREE-

% o PR 7%

AEBEHEARRRITESRRE

FhAEZEBERZ —HARE

VEAREmE ERAREE S

E-—F+-RA=+—BLFE
B A 7% 38 IR 7% & 49858,000/%8 7T
— T T4 :858,00087T) °
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43.

44,

45.

o & MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE—_FT-—Ff-FA=1—HIFFEF

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 10 March 2022, (i) Shenzhen Pengyu Data Technology
Co., Lta* CRINBEH BUERHEBR A F]) (the “Purchaser”);
(i) GDS (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd.* (Z&1 ( £/&)
HEBR AR (“GDS (Shanghai)”);(ii) EDSUZ (HK)
Limited (“EDSUZ”); (iv) Guangzhou Nowtop Technology
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Nowtop”), an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (v)
Guangdong Bluesea Mobile Development Company
Limited (“Bluesea Mobile”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company; (vi Mr. Wang Kun (the legal
representative, a director and a substantial shareholder
of Guangzhou Nowtop); and (vi) Shenzhen Zituo Yungi
Technology Company Limited ORI TTEHRHEER&
BB F]) (“Shenzhen Zituo”), an indirect non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase Agreement pursuant to which Guangzhou
Nowtop conditionally agreed to sell and the Purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase the entire equity interest
of Shenzhen Zituo at a total consideration of approximately
RMB475.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$589.6
million) (subject to completion adjustment). Bluesea
Mobile and Mr. Wang agreed to provide warranties and
undertakings in relation to Shenzhen Zituo under the Sale
and Purchase Agreement and EDSUZ and GDS (Shanghai)
agreed to guarantee the payment obligations of the
Purchaser under the sale and purchase Agreement.

For the details of the above transactions, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 10 March 2022.

COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to current year’s presentation.

APPROVAL FOR CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 22 April
2022.
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43.

44,

45.

e MR =R

RZEBEZZF=RA+8" i) FIEHE
BREBRAR([EA]) (B8 (L
IR EBRAB ([BELE]) ;5 (i)
EDSUZ (HK) Limited ([EDSUZJ) : (iv)
AARZEEHEEZENBRAREMNTE
AR ERAF([EMER]) A
RNElZ HEFEZENBRAREREEE
BEEERAR ([HEBEH]): Vit
HEE(BEMNBERZEZAREK EER
FERR)  RVI)AAR ZEEIEEE
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MERERGRELEBEE B KRER
BEWERINER 2 ZHRE BRES
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